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Chairman’s Statement
TEREE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Director(s)”) of Hailan Holdings Limited (the “Company” or
“Hailan Holdings"”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively
known as the “Group”), | am pleased to present the audited
financial results for the year ended 31 December 2018 (the
“Reporting Period").

In retrospect of the Reporting Period, under the strategic regulation
of the real estate market by the Chinese government, the real
estate investment, saleable area and sales in Hainan Province
recorded a year-on-year drop of 16.5%, 37.5% and 23.2%,
respectively. Facing the headwinds stemming from the operating
environment, the performance of Hailan Holdings was also
inevitably affected.

For the Reporting Period, contracted sales of the Group amounted
to RMB1,179.0 million, representing a reduction of 45.5% as
compared to 2017. Contracted saleable gross floor area (“GFA")
was approximately 42,017.1 square meters, representing a
decrease of approximately 47.9% as compared to last year. The
average selling price (“ASP") was about RMB28,060.0 per square
meter, representing an increase of approximately 4.6% as
compared to last year.

Although we remain positive on the long-term development of
China's real estate business, the Group has been actively looking
for other business opportunities to diversify its business risks. We
are pleased to announce that at the end of October 2018, the
Company entered into a shareholders’ agreement to establish a
joint venture company, which principally engaged in real estate
investment and development in Silicon Valley, the United States,
representing an important milestone for Hailan Holdings to expand
its business overseas. Given the current economic prosperity in the
United States, the more stable real estate industry as compared to
China, and the relatively high demand from real estate developers,
the establishment of a joint venture company will enable the Group
to enter into the US real estate industry more smoothly and thus
create a new source of long-term income. As one of the important
motivators for the US economy, Silicon Valley has assembled a
large number of high-tech industry talents, making it one of the
areas with the highest housing prices in the United States under a
huge real estate market.
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Chairman’s Statement
TEREE

Looking ahead, we believe that the global economy will remain
unstable under the Sino-US trade disputes and the Chinese
government implements real estate regulations, which may
constrain the development of the Group. However, we believe that
the excellent track record of our valued assets, property
management and property construction execution in Hainan
Province, China and the stable sales revenue from housing
contracts will support the sustainable growth of our business. The
Group will promote the growth in contract sales by paying close
attention to the changes in the macro-economic environment and
policies, so as to grasp customer’'s demand, optimize product mix
and undergo destocking as well as to accelerate the turnover of
projects.

To further facilitate the development of the Group, we have been
exploring different investment opportunities. In addition to our
expansion of coverage in the overseas market, we will make our
best endeavours to diversify our business and explore different
emerging industries, including industries closely related to cutting-
edge technology, city, population and real estate, such as artificial
intelligence and high-tech manufacturing, health and biomedicine,
emerging Internet and communication technology, in order to
create synergies with the Group's core real estate business.

The management has formulated the future development plan. By
basing in Hong Kong, delving into the Mainland, expanding the
market in North America and spreading global footprints, it will
further promote the development of the Group’s business and
create the best return for shareholders.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude on behalf of the Board
to all our staff for their hard work, and my heartfelt thanks to

investors, customers and business partners for their strong and
continuous support to the Group.

Zhou Li
Chairperson

18 September 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIREE L AT

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overall Performance

For the Reporting Period, the revenue and gross profit of the Group
were approximately RMB1,410.5 million and RMB663.2 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 29.7% and 25.5% as
compared with 2017, respectively. Profit attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company was approximately RMB179.5
million, while we recorded profit attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company of approximately RMB251.2 million
during last year. Basic earning per share was RMB60 cents (2017:
RMB84 cents).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B IR L AT

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2018 2017 Changes
Performance Highlights REBE 2018 & 20174 &
Contracted sales (RMB million)? SHHEE(ANRERET)S 1,179.0 2,164.4 -45.5%
Contracted saleable gross floor area AHHERETE
("GFA") (sq.m.)?® (TBEmBE ) (FK)?2s3 42,0171 80,688.8 -47 9%
Contracted average selling price BHFEHEB([FHEE]D
(“ASP") (RMB/sq.m.)2? (ARE FHK)28 28,060.0 26,824.0 4.6%
Revenue' (RMB million) WHT(AREEET) 1,410.5 2,005.3 -29.7%
Among which: sales of properties Heh o Y ¥EE
— Revenue from properties delivered — B A2z
(RMB million)! (ARBB&ET) 1,382.7 1,964.0 -29.6%
— GFA of properties delivered (sq.m.) — ERX[N¥HEZEEBE(FHAK) 49,2889 93,925.0 -47.5%
— ASP of properties delivered — ERNMETFHEE
(RMB/sg.m.) (AR#E /T K) 28,052.9 20,910.0 34.2%
Rental income (RMB million)’ HEWAANREBET)' 21.6 5.0 332.0%
Gain on revaluation upon transfer of B YEERRE 7 EShkE
investment properties (RMB million) (AR¥EET) 6.0 36.4 -83.5%
Loss on changes in fair value of HEYWHENTFEZEEE
investment properties (RMB million) (AREBET) (21.4) - 100.0%
Gross profit (RMB million) EM(AREBET) 663.2 890.4 -25.5%
Profit for the year FEm A
— Attributable to owners (RMB million) — #B AEE (AREBEHE L) 179.5 251.2 -28.5%
— Attributable to non-controlling — JEIE M RE RS RS
interests (RMB million) (ANE¥RET 15 8.3 -81.9%
Total assets (RMB million) wEEANRBEETL) 5,043.2 5,194.6 -2.9%
Cash and bank balances (including cash 4 RiR1T4&64 (BIERES R
and cash equivalents and REEEY  UERZRHIES)
restricted cash) (RMB million) (ARBARET) 766.6 938.1 -18.3%
Total equity (RMB million) A EERS AREEET) 2,149.4 1,935.5 11.1%
Key financial ratios FTEHBLL R
Gross profit margin* FH= 47.0% 44.4% 2.6p.p.
(BERE:
Net debt to equity ratio® EEIERER RS N/AFRERA NATEA NATEA
Gearing ratio® BEBERS - - N/ANER
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE T wmE oA

Notes:

Representing the amount of income after deduction of business tax and other
sales related taxes.

Excluding the GFA of car parking spaces.

Pursuant to the agreement between the shareholders of Danzhou Shuang Lian
Properties Development Company Limited (“Danzhou Shuang Lian"), one of
the shareholders of Danzhou Shuang Lian shall continue to manage, develop
and undertakes fully the risk and reward of phase | of the development project
located at Danzhou (“Danzhou Phase 1"). The acquisition of Danzhou Shuang
Lian has been accounted for as a business combination with Danzhou Shuang
Lian fully combined into our Group’s combined financial statements from the
date of acquisition. As the Group does not share any risks and rewards relating
to Danzhou Phase | pursuant to the abovementioned agreement, the net profit
or loss, net assets or liabilities arising from Danzhou Phase | are wholly
attributable to the non-controlling interests in the Group’s combined statements
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and the combined
statements of changes in equity. Contracted sales of Danzhou Phase | is
excluded in this analysis for discussion purpose.

Gross profit margin: Gross profit + revenue x 100%

Net debt to equity ratio: (Total bank and other borrowings - cash and bank
balances) + total equity x 100%

Gearing ratio: Total bank and other borrowings + Total equity x 100%

et -
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WG K B RS AR SR A o

REEMEBEBEREERAR ([EMEB )X
RzEMGE  EMEREP —RRREEEE
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AN SR 0 5 04 S — AR RA RO (R AT Rl e 9
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B IR L AT

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT
Contracted sales

For the Reporting Period, the Group recorded contracted sales of
approximately RMB1,179.0 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 45.5% as compared with 2017. The contracted
saleable GFA was 42,017.1 sg.m. in 2018, representing a decrease
of approximately 47.9% year-on-year. The ASP of contracted sales
was RMB28,060.0 per sq.m., representing an increase of
approximately 4.6% year-on-year.

The decrease in contracted sales and contracted saleable GFA
were mainly due to the slow progress of approval in relation to the
planning construction and the strict limitations on purchasing
commodity housing and making mortgage loan in the Hainan
Province. In April 2018, the “Notice of the Hainan Provincial
Communist Party Committee and the General Office of the
People’'s Government of Hainan Province on Further Stabilizing the
Real Estate Market” ({8 EZMAEGHEE ARBITHAE
AR E— TR EFHE TS /B A)) clearly stated that Hainan
Province has implemented a purchase restriction in the whole-
province on the basis of the issued purchase restriction policy. The
Housing and Development Department of the province made
further clarification on the restrictions on purchasing and
transferring commodity housing, and making mortgage loans,
which has prevented the speculation on housing and land more
effectively.

E S
BRHE

RMEHH TEESESEHHEENARE
1,179.0 B & T * B2017FE R 49455% °
2018 F & WIBEREMERL2,017.1F K
WERPLI479% - EHEEFHEBAZF
FAAREE28,060.07T * FIELIEINAI4.6% ©

BRHERANAEREEERD EEHARN
BEE B R AR R A E LR MBS R IR
BB - N20185F4 8 (P HRBHEZNA
BEEE ARBARARERE-—FSRES T
EmZHEM) AR SHEAESHaRER
ROER L BRzaRE aE2EYER
MR - RE - ROIEEAMEREZRIELE—
FEE - BRI BN E Y ERET R
B o

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12B31BLEEE

2018 2017
2018 2017
Contracted Contracted Contracted Contracted
GFA sales GFA sales
BHEEER BHHE BRRERE BRIHE
sq.m. RMB’million sq.m. RMB'million
Project A FAR ARBEER FHAK AREBET
Sanya Phoenix Aqua City =GREKSLE
Left Shore 20,893.2 727.3 53,981.6 1,984.8
Sanya Phoenix Aqua City = EEKSEE
South Shore Phase | & II —HR_H 7,723.9 293.1 454.9 19.4
Haikou Phoenix Aqua City Phase | ;& 0 [BlE /K35 —HA 4,345.3 98.8 - -
Danzhou Phase | N —EHf 9,054.7 59.8 26,252.3 160.2
42,0171 1,179.0 80,688.8 2,164.4
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIREE L AT

REVENUE FROM SALES OF PROPERTIES

For the Reporting Period, the GFA of delivered properties
decreased due to the promulgation of whole-province limitation on
purchase of commodity housing in the Hainan Province and fierce
competition among the peers. As the ASP of delivered properties
for the sale of multi-storey apartments for the Reporting Period
was higher as compared with 2017, the revenue from the sales of
property offset the effects of the promulgation of whole-province
limitation in the Hainan Province and the keen market competition.
The revenue from sales of properties was approximately
RMB1,382.7 million, representing a decrease of approximately
29.6% as compared with 2017 and accounting for 98.0% of total
revenue, which continues to be the main source of revenue and
growth momentum for the Group.

Completed projects held for sale

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not registered any
newly completed properties.

Projects held for future development and projects under
development

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a total of three projects or
project phases held for future development with a total planned
GFA of approximately 1.4 million sgq.m. (At 31 December 2017: 1.4
million sg.m.).

Land bank

No new project was acquired by the Group during the Reporting
Period.

As at 31 December 2018, the total GFA of the land bank of the
Group amounted to approximately 1.4 million sg.m., among which
43% is located in Sanya City, 53.4% is located in Danzhou City and
3.6% is located in Haikou City of the Hainan Province.

MR EEWE

RpEHRE - BmE2ERESERE LA
EBFHR BREXNNYERLEEER
Do HRNMEREZEATHEEMI TN
MFEHEER2017Fm - At - WEHEEK
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BEIL W2017FHM AP #29.6% ' (Hilz= 8
M 98.0% - BER AANEEE B RIR
MRS -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B IR L AT

PROPERTY INVESTMENTS
Rental income

The rental income of the Group for the Reporting Period amounted
to approximately RMB21.6 million, deriving from the leasing of the
serviced apartments and car parking spaces located at Sanya
Phoenix Aqua City Left Shore and the shops located at Danzhou
Phase I.

Investment properties

As at 31 December 2018, the investment properties of the Group
represent the car parking spaces held by the Group for rental
purpose. As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of
investment properties was approximately RMB130.1 million,
representing an increase of approximately 166.6% as compared
with 2017, mainly due to certain properties under development and
completed properties held for sale have been transferred into
investment properties with a total fair value of approximately
RMB102.7 million (2017: approximately RMB42.2 million).

Financial Review
() Revenue

Revenue of the Group is mainly derived from property
development and property investment. During the Reporting
Period, revenue of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB1,410.5 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 29.7% as compared with 2017, primarily due
to the slow progress of approval in relation to the planning
construction of the development projects in Hainan Province
and the restrictions under the new policy on purchasing
property in Hainan Province.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE T wmE oA

(m

(1)

(Iv)

Cost of sales and gross profit margin

The cost of sales and gross profit of the Group was
approximately RMB747.3 million and RMB663.2 million
respectively, representing a decrease of approximately 32.9%
and 25.5% as compared with 2017, mainly due to the
decrease in total GFA delivered.

Increase of gross profit margin from 44.4% to 47.0% was
mainly due to the fact that the delivered properties of Haikou
Phoenix Aqua City Phase | in the Reporting Period was a
project with higher gross profit margin.

Selling and distribution expenses and administrative
expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses for the
Reporting Period amounted to approximately RMB55.8
million (2017: approximately RMB53.1 million), mainly due to
the increase in commission expenses as the Company has
signed an exclusive and undertaking agency agreement with
a property agency with higher commission rate in order to
boost up the sales.

Administrative expenses increased by 41.5% to RMB68.6
million, mainly due to the increase of auditors’ remuneration
and legal and professional expenses on legal proceedings.

Finance income (costs), net

The net finance income of the Group for the Reporting Period
amounted to approximately RMB4.8 million, while a net
finance costs of approximately RMB8.3 million was recorded
in 2017. In 2018, the finance income was mainly due to
decrease in interest income resulted from the decrease in
bank deposits, while no financing cost incurred by the Group
in 2018 was due to full repayment of external loans and
borrowings in 2017.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Income tax expenses

The income tax expenses of the Group decreased by 30.4%
to approximately RMB362.9 million. Among which, the
current corporate income tax expenses decreased by 28.7%
to approximately RMB165.3 million in the Reporting Period,
while the land appreciation tax decreased by 24.3% to
approximately RMB265.0 million. The decrease in the current
corporate income tax expenses was primarily attributable to
the decrease of profit before taxation (net of land appreciation
tax expense), while the decrease in the land appreciation tax
was the result of decrease in sales of properties.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company

The profit attributable to owners of the Company for the
Reporting Period amounted to approximately RMB179.5
million, representing a decrease of approximately 28.5% as
compared to 2017, which was mainly because sales of
properties were less than in 2018.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2018, total assets of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB5,043.2 million (2017: approximately
RMB5,194.6 million), of which current assets amounted to
approximately RMB4,647.7 million (2017: approximately
RMB4,944.7 million). Total liabilities amounted to
approximately RMB2,893.8 million (2017: approximately
RMB3,259.1 million), of which non-current liabilities
amounted to approximately RMB522.9 million (2017:
approximately RMB527.2 million). Total equity amounted to
approximately RMB2,149.4 million (2017: approximately
RMB1,935.5 million). Total equity attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to RMB1,811.3 million (2017:
approximately RMB1,606.6 million).

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had cash and bank
balances (including restricted cash) of approximately
RMB766.6 million (2017: approximately RMB938.1 million).
The Group has no borrowing as at 31 December 2018 and 31
December 2017.
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(VIIl) Commitments

(IX)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had capital commitments
outstanding but not provided for in consolidated financial
statements amounting to approximately RMB828.9 million
(2017: approximately RMB51.5 million).

Contingent liabilities
Guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities

As at 31 December 2018, the Group provided guarantees (the
“Guarantees”) of approximately RMB189.8 million (2017:
approximately RMB252.1 million) to banks in respect of the
mortgage loans granted to purchasers of the properties of the
Group. Pursuant to the terms of the Guarantees, if there is
any default of the mortgage payments by these purchasers,
the Group is responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage
loans together with the accrued interest and penalty owned
by the defaulted purchasers to the banks. The Group's
guarantee period commences from the dates of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the earlier of the
bank receiving the required evidence of mortgage over the
relevant property in favour of the bank and the full settlement
of mortgage loans by the buyer.

The Directors consider that it is not probable that the Group
will sustain a loss under the Guarantees as during the
relevant periods, the Group can take over the ownerships of
the related properties and sell the properties to recover the
amounts paid by the Group to the banks. The Directors also
consider that the fair market value of the underlying
properties is able to cover the outstanding mortgage loans
guaranteed by the Group in the event that the purchasers
default payments to the banks.

The Group has not recognised the deferred income in respect
of the Guarantees as its fair value is considered to be minimal
by the Directors.
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Legal Proceedings
Haikou Phoenix Aqua City Phase Il

On 17 January 2018, Nanhai Xiang Long, a subsidiary of the
Group, received a decision from Haikou People’s Government
in relation to its confiscation of the state-owned construction
land use right of a parcel of land owned by Nanhai Xiang Long
located to the north of Bin Hai Xi Lu CB/&PEE ), Haikou, with
a total site area of approximately 88,209.07 square meters
(the land certificate number being Hai Kou Shi Guo Yong
(2008) No. 001431 (/& A 1 F3 (2008) 22 001431 5%)) (Haikou
Phoenix Aqua City Phase Il (the “Phase Il")) without
compensation (the “Haikou Decision”) for the reason that
the land parcel has not been developed and constructed on
schedule.

Reference is made to the Section headed “Business —
Description of our property development projects — Haikou”
in the prospectus of the Company dated 30 June 2016 (the
“Prospectus”), for the Phase Il, according to the notice
issued by the Haikou Planning Bureau on 2 July 2013, the
planned site area of the Phase Il was decreased from
88,209.07 square meters to 61,761.00 square meters, and
the plot ratio was increased from 0.5 to 0.78, for which
compensation was to be made to the Group for the land
being expropriated, and the nature of land use right was
changed to “tourism”. As at the date of this report, the
government still has not determined the valuation and
compensation proposal for the Phase Il and the Group has
not obtained the updated land use right certificate for the
Phase Il hence making the Group unable to further proceed
with the developments under the Phase Il
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However, the Haikou Decision deemed that pursuant to the
provisions under the Regulations over Management of idle
Land (Al & * b I & #% JX) and the Regulations over the
Identification and Management of idle Land in Hainan District
(BHAEBE LR TEEERT), since such land parcel has
failed to be developed in accordance with the original time
schedule and has been delayed for more than two years, it
has become idle land and its land use right shall be
confiscated. Nanhai Xiang Long shall be entitled to apply for
administrative appeal to the Hainan People's Government
within 60 days upon the receipt of the Haikou Decision, or
commence administrative proceedings to the Haikou
Intermediate People’s Court within six months.

The Group considered that the basis for which the Haikou
Decision was made by the Haikou People’'s Government to
confiscate the land use right is not fully consistent with the
actual circumstances of the Phase Il. The Group was of the
view that the changes in governmental planning and coastline
protection policies as well as the delay in updating the change
of land use right certificate have objectively resulted in the
impediment on the development of the Phase Il, the
consequence being that the land parcel was unable to be
developed and constructed on schedule. In addition, it was
objectively inconsistent with actual circumstances of the
Phase Il for the government to determine land vacancy by
considering the Phase Il and Haikou Phoenix Aqua City Phase
| land parcel, which has been completed, inspected and put
into record, to be two separate land parcels.
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The Group has also continued its discussions with the Haikou
Planning Bureau indicating its willingness to develop the
Phase Il subject to the Bureau's approval of its design plans.
As at the date of this report, the Directors consider that the
Group has reasonable grounds to challenge the Haikou
Decision and that therefore, taking account of all available
evidence, it is unlikely that a present obligation to surrender
the land without compensation exists at the end of the Year.
On 15 June 2018, the Group has formally instituted an
application of administrative proceeding on the Haikou
Decision (the “"Administrative Proceeding”) to the
Intermediate People’s Court of Haikou City* GEO M HEAR
JEPT) (the “Haikou Court”). On 28 December 2018, the Haikou
Court issued its administrative judgment on the Administrative
Proceeding in relation to Phase II. Haikou Court ruled that the
Group succeeded in its Administrative Proceeding against
Haikou People’'s Government and dismissed the Haikou
Decision in relation to the recovery of the land use right of
Haikou project without compensation by the Haikou People’s
Government for the reasons (among others) that the Haikou
Decision was made without sufficient evidence and was not
applied with the applicable laws.

On 13 February 2019, Nanhai Xiang Long has received a
notice of appeal from the Haikou Court, notifying Nanhai
Xiang Long that the Haikou People’s Government has
submitted an application for appeal against the administrative
judgment made by the Haikou Court regarding the
administrative proceedings of the Phase Il on 28 December
2018.

No impairment provision has therefore been made in respect
of the Haikou Decision. Should the Haikou Decision be
successfully enforced by the Haikou People’s Government,
the Group may suffer a loss from confiscation amounting to
approximately RMB132.4 million being the carrying value of
the Phase Il recognised within the properties under
development for the current year. For details of the Haikou
Decision, please refer to the announcements of the Company
date 25 January 2018, 31 January 2018, 26 June 2018, 9
January 2019 and 26 February 2019, respectively.
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Danzhou Phoenix Aqua City

A subsidiary of the Group, Danzhou Shuang Lian Properties
Development Company Limited (“Danzhou Shuang Lian"),
collected the state-owned construction land use right
decisions issued by the Danzhou People’s Government in
May 2018 (the “Danzhou Decisions”), which state that on
30 December 2017, 13 February 2018 and 2 March 2018,
Danzhou Phoenix Aqua City, the five land parcels developed
by Danzhou Shuang Lian located on the section of Binhai
Avenue, Southern Area, Baimajing Town (the land certificate
number being Dan Guo Yong (2010) Nos. 710, 711, 712, 713
and 714* (f& Bl (2010028710~ 711~ 712 ~ 713 R 7145%)),
with a total site area of approximately 385,395.83 square
meters (the “Lands”) was recovered without compensation
for the reason that the Lands was unable to be developed
and constructed on schedule.

Reference is made to the section headed “Business —
Description of our property development projects —
Danzhou” in the Prospectus, Danzhou Phoenix Aqua City
occupies an aggregate site area of approximately 399,657.2
square meters and has an expected aggregate GFA (including
saleable and non-saleable GFA) of approximately 704,312.8
square meters. As at the date of this report, the relevant
government authorities have not yet granted the relevant
planning and construction permits, hence making the Group
unable to proceed with the development of Danzhou Phoenix
Aqua City.

However, the Danzhou Decisions deemed that pursuant to
the provisions under the Management of Idle Land* (R &+
i B2 B #15%) and the Regulations over the Identification and
Management of Idle Land in Hainan District* (/8r & B & 1 i
RELRERIT), since the Lands have failed to be developed
in accordance with the original time schedule and relevant
construction work has been delayed for more than two years,
they have become idle lands and their land use rights shall be
recovered without compensation. Danzhou Shuang Lian shall
be entitled to apply for administrative review to Hainan
People’'s Government within 60 days upon receipt of the
Danzhou Decisions or initiate administrative proceedings with
the Second Intermediate People’s Court of Hainan Province
(the “Hainan Court"”) within six months.
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The Board considered that the basis on which the Danzhou
Decisions were made by Danzhou People’'s Government to
recover the land use rights without compensation is not fully
consistent with actual circumstances of the Danzhou Phoenix
Aqua City. The Board was of the view that the changes in
governmental planning and the delay in processing relevant
procedures have objectively resulted in the impediment to
the development of the Danzhou Phoenix Aqua City, the
consequence of which was that the Lands are unable to be
developed and constructed on schedule.

On 20 July 2018, the Group has formally instituted an
application of administrative proceeding on the Danzhou
Decisions to the Hainan Court and the case was accepted on
24 July 2018.

On 25 December 2018, the Group submitted an application of
appeal against the administrative judgment made by the
Hainan Court regarding two land parcels of the above five
land parcels with a total site area of approximately 113,349.30
square meters. In addition, the Company has received a
summons from the Higher People’s Court of Hainan Province
on 15 February 2019, stating that the Danzhou People’s
Government has submitted an application of appeal against
the administrative judgment regarding the other three land
parcels with a total site area of approximately 272,046.53
square meters.

On 22 April 2019, the Higher People's Court of Hainan
Province issued its administrative judgments on the Decisions
issued by Danzhou People’s Government in relation to the
recovery of the Lands. The Higher People’'s Court of Hainan
Province ruled that the appeals lodged by the Group against
the administrative judgments made by the Hainan Court were
succeeded and the appeals lodged by Danzhou People’s
Government against the administrative judgments made by
the Hainan Court were not succeeded, and revoke the
Decisions issued by Danzhou People’'s Government in relation
to the recovery of the Lands. The administrative judgments
issued by the Higher People’'s Court of Hainan Province were
final.
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For details of the Danzhou Decisions, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 11 May 2018, 24 July
2018, 21 December 2018, 26 February 2019 and 26 April
2019, respectively.

Board Acknowledgment and actions to be taken

The Board would like to draw the attention of the
shareholders and potential investors of the Company to the
administrative proceedings in relation to the Decisions.

The Proceedings are still in progress. The management of the
Company considers that the Company is unlikely to surrender
the relevant land use rights without compensation exists at
the end of the Reporting Period. However, at this moment
the audit committee of the Company (the "“Audit
Committee"”) is not able to assess the impact of the
Proceedings on the financial results of the company for the
Reporting Period or the subsequent periods. The Board is
highly concerned about the progress of the Proceedings.

The Board will continue to monitor and assess the impacts of
the Proceedings to the Company, and will make further
announcement to inform the investors of the Company when
necessary if there is any development. Depending on the
progress of the legal proceedings, it is expected that the
Audit Committee can recommend the management to set
aside the provision for the land use rights concerned at the
end of the Reporting Period.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS AND
SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

On 9 April 2018, the Company fully redeemed the Wing Lung Ortus
Fund from Wing Lung Asset Management Limited (“WLAM") and
the redemption proceeds were amounted to USD7,964,648.27,
incurring a loss of USD802.79. On 17 April 2018, the Company also
redeemed the Discretionary Segregated Managed Accounts
(Investment Management) from WLAM and the redemption
proceeds were amounted to USD23,981,418.43, generating a profit
of USD85,065.43. The total amount of the above redemption
proceeds amounted to USD31.95 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$250 million) which were transferred to the fund-
raising account of the Company on 17 April 2018. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 18 April
2018.

On 30 October 2018, the Company entered into a shareholders’
agreement with Ms. Han Yurong (“Ms. Han") and Mr. Huang Heng
(“Mr. Huang"), pursuant to which the parties agreed to establish a
joint venture company (the “JV Company”) in the United States of
America (the "USA") to principally engage in real estate
investment and development in the USA. The aggregate capital
contribution ("“Capital Contribution”) to be made by the Company,
Ms. Han and Mr. Huang (the “JV Parties”) was US$10,000,000,
which were contributed as to 58% (equivalent to US$5,800,000) in
cash by the Company, as to 40% (equivalent to US$4,000,000) in
cash by Ms. Han and as to 2% (equivalent to US$200,000) in cash
by Mr. Huang. Accordingly, upon completion of the formation of
the JV Company, the JV Company were owned as to 58% by the
Company, as to 40% by Ms. Han and as to 2% by Mr. Huang. The
JV Company became a subsidiary of the Company, the results of
which were consolidated into the financial statements of the
Group. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 30 October 2018.

Save as disclosed in this report, there are no other material

acquisitions, disposals and significant investments during the
Reporting Period.
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GEARING RATIO

The Group had no borrowings and loans as at 31 December 2018
and 31 December 2017, the gearing ratio as at the dates were not
applicable.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

The Group will continue to invest in property development projects
and acquire suitable land parcels in the PRC, Hong Kong and the
USA, if it thinks fit. It is expected that internal resources and bank
borrowings will be sufficient to meet the necessary funding
requirements. Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not
have any future plans for material investments as at the date of this
report.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2018, taking into account of Danzhou Phase |,
the Group had 25 employees (as at 31 December 2017: 24
employees). For the Reporting Period, the Group incurred
employee costs of approximately RMB8.5 million, and was fully
recognised as expenses. The remuneration of the employees
generally includes salary and performance-based bonuses.
According to the applicable PRC laws and regulations, the Group
participates in various employee benefit plans of the municipal and
provincial governments, including housing provident funds,
pension, medical, maternity, occupational injury and unemployment
benefit plans.

DEBT TO ASSETS RATIO

As at 31 December 2018, the debt to asset ratio (calculated by total
debt divided by total equity) was Nil (2017: Nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had no pledge of assets
except for the restricted cash pledged for properties under
development approximately RMB45.8 million (2017: Nil).
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FOREIGN CURRENCY RISKS

The Group mainly operates in the PRC. The Group's functional
currency and the currency in which the Group denominates and
settles substantially all of its transactions are Renminbi. Any
depreciation of the Renminbi would affect the value of any
dividends that the Group pays to the shareholders of the Company
outside the PRC. The Group currently does not engage in any
hedging activities designed or intended to manage foreign
exchange rate risk.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the Reporting Period (2017: Nil) to the Company's shareholders.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the Listing was approximately HK$249
million. As at the date of this report, the net proceeds from the
Listing were applied as follows:

Use of
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adjusted

according to
actual gross
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The use of proceeds has not yet been applied to the development
of Sanya Phoenix Aqua City South Shore Phase Il, as the project is
at the preliminary stage of applying for the construction planning
permit. The Company expects that the proceeds from the sale of
Company's properties will be able to provide sufficient cash flow
for the development of Sanya Phoenix Aqua City South Shore
Phase Il. The Company has changed the use of proceeds to include
the investment in property development in Hong Kong and USA,
and general working capital of the Group. For further details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 3 June 2019.

The Board will continue to implement the established strategy of
the Group prudently with a focus on high-end property
development in tourist areas. To this end, it will act as an excellent
developer with the view of era’s development, expanding its
presence in the property markets in Hong Kong and USA. The
development of the properties project could be financed by the
proceeds from the sales of aforesaid properties.

The Board is of the view that the expansion in the use of the net
proceeds will facilitate the allocation of financial resources and
diversify the business of the Group, which in turn shall further
enhance the revenue of the Company, increase the income stream
of the Group and pursue better investment return to the Company
and the shareholder as a whole.

As at the date of this report, the net proceeds of approximately
HK$188.7 million have not been used.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Zhou Li (i) (“Ms. Zhou”), aged 37, was appointed as an
executive Director on 12 April 2016, a member of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company on 22 June
2016 and the chief executive officer of the Company on 29 March
2017. Ms. Zhou is also a director of Lian Yun Gang Long Ji
Properties Limited GEZEEREEE X E R 22 7)) (“Lian Yun Gang
Long Ji Properties”) and the general manager of Sanya Hui Xin
Trading Company Limited (=5 = #7& 5 G FR 2 7)) (“Sanya Hui
Xin Trading”), and the deputy general manager of Sanya
Fenghuang Xincheng Industry Company Limited (= gz Bl EFT 5 B
¥ A A 7)) (“Sanya Fenghuang Xincheng"), Sanya Fenghuang
Shuiyun Property Development Company Limited (=25 Bl E/KEE
B 3% A R A 7)) (“Sanya Fenghuang Shuiyun”) and Hainan
Nanhai Xiang Long Properties Development Limited (/& & F &8 H15E
EHERZ AR 2 a]) (“Hainan Nanhai Xiang Long"), all of which
are subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Zhou attended a long-distance Graduate Training Program
course of Masters of Business Administration at the Sino-Dutch
International Business Center of Nanjing University from December
2005 to December 2008, and obtained a Master of Business
Administration degree from Maastricht School of Management,
Netherlands in December 2008. She has been qualified as an
engineer by the Nanjing Municipal Construction Engineering
Intermediate Professional Technical Qualifications Social
Assessment Committee (FARMEHZ LEPRBERMER TS
F#EZ B ) in December 2010 and has been awarded the
practicing qualification for professional construction engineering
category by the Department of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development of Jiangsu Province since 2012.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Zhou was appointed as deputy
manager in Chung Wai (Jiangsu) Decoration Park Project Company
Limited (FF 2 (L&) £ E M TR AR 2 7)) from March 2000 to
September 2004. Ms. Zhou was the chairperson of Zhonghui
Engineering Group (FFE TI2E %) between October 2004 to
July 2007.
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Mr. Chen Xiang (FR#f) (“Mr. Chen”), aged 36, was appointed as
an executive Director on 29 August 2017. Mr. Chen currently
serves as a director of both cost procurement department and
engineering design department in Sanya Fenghuang Xincheng,
which is a subsidiary of the Company. From 2006 to 2012, Mr.
Chen was also a cost estimator (JEJRE B) in Verdure International
Holding Company Limited (R2REBEERZERBRAF]). Mr. Chen
graduated from the China University of Geosciences with a
Bachelor degree of Civil Engineering in July 2008. Mr. Chen has
been registered as a first class constructor (—#%23&AM) in housing
construction (EZEi£2E) and in public utility (TERZAH); and as a
cost controller ((&{E TF2AM).

Ms. Fan Wenyi (383X #%) (“Ms. Fan”), aged 42, was appointed as
an executive Director on 12 April 2016. Ms. Fan has been the chief
operation officer and deputy general manager of the Group since 3
September 2007. Ms. Fan is the chairman of Sanya Fenghuang
Xincheng, Sanya Fenghuang Shuiyun, Sanya Zhong Ze Kai Industry
Company Limited (=22 EZEBR 2 7)) and Danzhou Shuang
Lian Properties Development Company Limited (f&/1 &85 i 2= FF
ZHR/A 7)) and the deputy general manager of Lian Yun Gang Tai
Sheng City Development Limited (EZEREMMERERGRAF)
(“Lian Yun Gang Tai Sheng Development”), Lian Yun Gang Long
Ji Properties, Hainan Nanhai Xiang Long and Sanya Hui Xin Trading,
all of which are subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Fan graduated
from Shaanxi External Services Training Academy (Bt P8 ¥ 9MR 7512
SIIEF%) majoring in foreign oriented secretary (F9M3XH) in the PRC
in 1996. Ms. Fan was accredited as an intermediate accountant by
MOF of the PRC (F BB XEE) in May 2005. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Fan worked as an assistant to general manager of
Hainan Xinjia Tourism Co., Ltd. (M ¥T{EREAR A F]) from
November 2005 to February 2007.
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Ms. Chan Si Yu (B&#I) (“Ms. Chan”), aged 44, was appointed
as an executive Director on 11 November 2018, responsible for the
integration of the Group’'s resources and assisting the Chief
Executive in managing the Group. Ms. Chan obtained a bachelor of
business administration degree majoring in human resources from
the Hong Kong Lingnan University in 1997 and a master of
business administration degree (a distance learning course) from
the University of Wollongong in 2004. Ms. Chan has over 20 years
of experience in corporate and human resources management and
administration on various listed companies and multinational
corporates. She joined the Group in May 2018 as a human
resources manager of the Company. Before joining the Group,
from June 2009 to July 2013, she was the senior human resources
and administration manager of Goldin Properties Holdings Limited
=R EIEI AR A R], a company previously listed on main broad
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (stock code: 283). From August 2014 to April 2017,
Ms. Chan also served as the senior human resources manager of
Rotam Global AgroSciences Limited BEBIRIRE X RILBR AT, a
company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation (stock
code: 4141).

Mr. Chen Zhonghua (BR{F#) (“Mr. Chen”), aged 41, was
appointed as an executive Director on 26 September 2019. Mr.
Chen obtained a Bachelor's degree in Electrical Engineering from
the Southeast University, China in July 1999, a Master's degree in
Engineering from the Harbin Institute of Technology in June 2010,
and a Doctor of Management degree from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in November 2017. Mr. Chen joined the
Group as an executive president on 1 May 2019. Mr. Chen had
over 20 years of experience in property development. Before
joining the Group, he was a department manager and the director
of Shenzhen Zhonghai Property Co., Ltd.* (ZJ|F EHEGRE QT
from July 1999 to March 2010, the deputy general manager of
Zhonghai Investment (Qingdao) Co., Ltd.* (/SR E(EB)ER A A)
from March 2010 to May 2013, the deputy general manager of the
development management department of Zhonghai Property Group
Co., Ltd.* (F)gEEEFRAF) from May 2013 to March 2014
and the general manager of Zhonghai Property (Zhengzhou) Co.,
Ltd.* (FROSHLE (EM) AR A]) from March 2014 to May 2016,
whereas all of these companies are the subsidiaries of China
Overseas Land & Investment Ltd., the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 688). He
was also the chief operating officer of Shenzhen Dahai Zhidi
Property Development and Management Co., Ltd.* (FIIAGE i
EEMIEZSEIEAMR AR from May 2016 to April 2019.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Yao Yu (#5) (“Ms. Yao”), aged 51, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 15 March 2018. Ms. Yao was responsible for
providing opinion to the Board.

Ms. Yao obtained a college diploma in economic management from
the Nanjing University (FJ 5 AE2) in 1991 and then studied a course
in Commercial English at the Nanjing University of Aeronautics and
Astronautics (FI R ZEfAKE). She took a postgraduate course
in Management Science and Engineering at the Nanjing University
(M7 AE2). She has over 20 years of management experience. Ms.
Yao is currently the deputy general manager of Holiday Inn Nanjing
Harbour in Cuiping, Nanjing. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Yao had
been the manager of various hotels and shopping centers in the
PRC.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Yong (ZE) (“Mr. Li”), aged 45, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and a member of each of the
audit committee, the remuneration committee, and nomination
committee of the Company on 29 September 2017. Mr. Li is
currently a general manager of Hainan Wanlong Real Estate
Development & Construction Co., Ltd. (SFEER EMEERXER
A7a]) and an independent director of Hainan HNA Infrastructure
Investment Group Co., Ltd. (BrEMERREEREEBRDERA
7)) (Stock code on Shanghai Stock Exchange: 600515).

Mr. Li was an assistant to the general manager of China Baoan
Group Hainan Industry Co., Ltd.* (FRELZEB/EMEEX AR A))
from March 2003 to January 2010. From January 2010 to January
2015, he acted as the director, deputy general manager and
secretary of the board of directors of Hai Nan Yedao (Group) Co.,
Ltd., (/8 M 4 & (5% B) % 5 B PR 22 A1) (Stock code on Shanghai
Stock Exchange: 600238) and as a general manager of Hainan
Danzhou Baoan Real Estate Investment Co., Ltd.* (8 EME %
EibEFEZE AR A R]) from January 2015 to November 2015.

In July 1995 and August 2014, respectively, Mr. Li completed the
economic management diploma course at Xinxiang Municipal
Committee Party School of Henan Province of the Chinese
Communist Party (R0 A BT EZER) and the advanced
Business Administration program for president at the Hainan
University.
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Mr. Li also obtained the qualification certificate as a secretary to
the board of directors and qualification certificate as an independent
director issued by the Shanghai Stock Exchange in 2010 and 2014
respectively. He was awarded the Intermediate Title of Business
Administration by the National Ministry of Personnel in 2000.

Mr. E Junyu (£ F) (“Mr. E”), aged 49, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
remuneration committee, and a member of the audit committee
and nomination committee on 22 June 2016. Mr. E obtained a
Master's degree of Business Administrative Executive from
Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in the PRC in August
2006. Mr. E was awarded “The Young Leader of Chinese Property
Market” (REIFEHESFEM) in August 2005 and “The
Meritorious People of Chinese Property Market in 2013-2014"
(2013-2014F EFREEHEIIENAY) in January 2014. He was
awarded the title of “Chinese Pension Real Estate Leader” (FEIE
EZMEEE AY) in 2017 and was also awarded the title of
“Innovative Individual in China’s Real Estate Industry” (F BE i E
FEAIFT AW, “Pioneer of China's Real Estate Transformation” (+
B0 i ZE AU S 8% A W) and the “Filial Role Model” (Z2£#58) by the
Beijing Municipal People’'s Government in 2018.

Mr. E worked in Hong Kong Lian Hua Investment Group (& /&%=
&£ E) as the Beijing representative (1L R X) during January
1991 to March 1994. He then worked as assistant to general
manager (42432 BNIE) in Everbright Real Estate Development
Limited (B KEHZEFRZ A R]) during March 1994 to June
2002. From July 2002 to March 2009, he worked for Yeland Group
Co., Ltd (B EBERM BB A F) (a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, Stock Code: SZ000616) and took up
various positions including deputy manager, director and president.
Mr. E has been appointed as a chairman of Beijing Hua Fu Sheng
Shi Property Investment & Management Company Limited (1t 72
[Tttt BRXREEE AR ARF) since June 2009. Mr. E was
appointed as the chairman of Beijing Anxin Pension Industry
Investment Limited (Jt R LB EEZEILERRAF]) in May 2015
and was appointed as the chairman of Beijing Anxin Tiangong
Urban Renewal Construction Development Limited (1t R&LZE XL
WHEHMEZIRABEMR AR in 2019. He also initiated the
establishment of Urban Renewal and Existing Building
Reconstruction Branch of the China Real Estate Chamber of
Commerce (REI T FEMEN MM ENEREREENESE
and served as the standing vice president.
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Dr. Zhao Guogqing (#El &) (“Dr. Zhao"”), aged 39, was appointed
as an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the audit
committee, and a member of the remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company on 31 December 2018. Dr.
Zhao is currently the national technical director and partner of
Zhonghui Corporation* (FE5[®) and he has extensive working
experience in taxation in the People’'s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

Dr. Zhao is a qualified certified public accountant in the PRC. Dr.
Zhao graduated from Yangzhou University with a Bachelor's
Degree majoring in taxation in July 2002, obtained a Master’'s
Degree in Business Administration from Nanjing University in
March 2012 and obtained a Doctorial Degree in Business
Administration from Nanjing University in December 2018.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Jia Bin (E&) (“Mr. Jia”), was appointed as the chief financial
officer of the Company from 12 May 2017 to 4 June 2018 and on
14 September 2018, respectively. Mr. Jia obtained a Bachelor's
Degree in Accounting from Nanjing Economic College (F 747522
Bt) (which is currently known as Nanjing University of Finance and
Economics (B R B4 K2)) in 1997 and received a Doctorial Degree
in Business Administration from the Nanjing University (F 5 AZ)
in 2015. He has been a non-practicing member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2003 and an
associate member of the Association of International Accountants
since 2016.
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Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Jia has 20 years of experience in the
accounting and financial management. He worked in Jiangsu Easthigh
International Group Co., Limited* ((L#k R 1BEIE K E AR A F]) and
served consecutively as an accountant in Jiangsu Province
International Economic and Trading Industrial Head Corporation* (JL&k
EBEBSEEZELNR]) from 1997 to 1999, as a financial manager in
Jiangsu Province International Economic and Trade Property
Management Company Limited* (T#x& B S ZE Y EEIR AR A A)
from 2000 to 2003, as a general manager of the capital finance
department of Jiangsu Easthigh International Service and Trading Joint
Stock Company Limited* (T & R BB R E 5K hH B R A Al)
from 2003 to 2008, and as an assistant to the general manager of the
capital finance department of Jiangsu Easthigh International Group
Co., Limited* (/T % IR 18 Bl F% & B & [R 2 ) from 2006 to 2008.
Subsequently, Mr. Jia worked in the finance department of Golden
Eagle International Group Co., Limited* (£ BB EBE B R A7) as
an deputy chief financial officer from 2008 to 2009, as a chief financial
officer from 2009 to 2011, as an assistant to the president from 20711
to 2015. Subsequently, he also worked in the finance cost center of
Verdure International Holding Company Limited* (2257 BIFR 122 A R 2 7))
as a general manager from April to September 2015 and in the financial
headquarter of Suning Estate Group Co., Ltd.* (BRE X EE AR A F))
as an assistant to the chief executive officer from October 2015 to March
2017.

*  For identification purpose only
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yang Dong John (# %) (“Mr. Yang”), aged 44, served as
the chief financial officer of Tsui Wah Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1314)
from 4 June 2012 to 31 December 2015 and from 22 August 2016
to 31 March 2019 and was responsible for financial planning and
budgeting, overseeing the financial reporting functions and specific
financial projects as well as maintaining investors’ relations. He
also assisted in the listing of the company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Yang was appointed as the chief executive officer
for the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") region of Tsui Wah
Holdings Limited from March 2014 to March 2017, assisting the
company in the management and development of business in the
PRC. He served as the company secretary and an authorised
representative of Tsui Wah Holdings Limited from June 2012 to
February 2015.

Mr. Yang has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since 2003 and a non-practicing
member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since 2011. Mr. Yang has accumulated over 17 years of experience
in auditing, consolidated accounting, financial management, due
diligence investigation, compliance auditing and financial auditing.
Prior to joining Tsui Wah Holdings Ltd, he was the chief financial
officer and company secretary of Wedding Banquet Specialist (/&
FHIE=EPIJE). He spent over ten years at KPMG's Hong Kong and
Beijing offices, having engaged in numerous auditing projects
involving listed companies on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Yang
graduated from the City University of Hong Kong in November
1999 with a Bachelor's Degree in Business Administration
(Accountancy) and obtained his Master’'s Degree in Business
Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
November 2015.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintain high standards of corporate
governance with a view to assure the conduct of management of
the Company and protect the interests of all shareholders. The
Company are fully aware that transparency and accountability in
corporate governance are crucially important to the shareholders
and the Board considers that sound corporate governance can
maximize the shareholders’ interest.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code") as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct of corporate governance.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with the
code provisions as set out in the CG Code except for the deviation
from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code as described below.

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules, the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Under the current organisation structure of the
Group, the function of chief executive officer is performed by Ms.
Zhou Li. The Board is of the opinion that vesting the roles of both
chairman and chief executive officer in Ms. Zhou Li has the benefit
of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group thus enabling
more effective and efficient strategic planning for the Group.

Under this arrangement, the Board also believes that the balance
of power and authority will not be compromised and is adequately
ensured by the existing Board which comprises experienced and
competent individuals with more than one-third of the Board being
independent non-executive directors. Therefore, the Board
considers that the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code is appropriate in such circumstances.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding Directors’ dealings in the securities of the Company.
Having made specific enquiries with all Directors, each of the
Directors has confirmed that he/she has complied with the required
standards in the Model Code during the Reporting Period.

The Company has also established written guidelines on terms no
less exacting than the Model Code for securities transactions by
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the
above written guidelines by the relevant employees was noted by
the Company.

In case when the Company is aware of any restricted period for
dealings in the Company’s securities, the Company will notify its
Directors and relevant employees in advance.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises the
following Directors:

Chairman of the Board and Executive Director
Zhou Li (Chief Executive Officer and Chairman)

Executive Directors

Chan Si Yu

Chen Xiang

Fan Wenyi

Chen Zhonghua (appointed on 26 September 2019)

Non-executive Director
Yao Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors
E Junyu

Li Yong

Zhao Guoging

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 26
to 33 of this annual report.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and code provisions as set out in the CG Code. During
the Reporting Period, to the best knowledge of the Board, the
Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions set
out in the Code, except for certain deviations as specified with
considered reasons for such deviations as explained below.

Under Code Provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the chairman
and chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual.

Since 29 March 2017, the Company has not separated the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer of the Company. Since 29
March 2017, Ms. Zhou has been the chairman and also the chief
executive officer of the Company and is responsible for overseeing
the operations of the Group (For details of the appointment, please
refer to the Company’s announcement on 29 March 2017). In view
of the fact that Ms. Zhou has been operating and managing the
Group since 2016, the Board believes that it is in the best interests
of the Group to have Ms. Zhou taking up both roles for effective
management and business development. The Board also believes
that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer
in the same person has the benefit of ensuring the consistent
leadership within the Group and enables more effective and
efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. Although Ms.
Zhou performs both roles of chairman and chief executive officer,
the division of responsibilities between the two roles is clearly
established. While the chairman provides leadership for the Board
by ensuring the board works efficiently and discharges his
responsibilities in time, and is responsible for supervising the
functions and performance of the Board, the chief executive officer
is responsible for the management of the Group’s business. The
Board considers that the balance of power and authority for the
present arrangement will not be impaired given the appropriate
delegation of the power of the Board to the senior management of
the Company for the day-to-day management of the Group, and the
effective functions of the independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board such that no one
individual has unfettered power of decisions. This structure will
also enable the Company to make and implement decisions
promptly and effectively. The Board will continue to review and
consider splitting the roles of chairman of the Board and chief
executive officer of the Company at a time when it is appropriate
and suitable by taking into account the circumstances of the Group
as a whole.
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With the support of executive Directors and the company
secretary, the chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are
properly briefed on issues arising at the Board meetings and
receive adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

The Board at all times during the Reporting Period met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive Directors representing one-
third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

Each of the three independent non-executive Directors has
confirmed his independence and the Company considers each of
them to be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The chairman
of the Board holds meetings with non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) without executive
Directors present at least once a year.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ RE-
ELECTION

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors shall be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election, whereas code provision A.4.2 states that all directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment and
that every director, including those appointed for a specific term,
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years.

Each of the Directors is appointed for a specific term of three years
and is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. The articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”) requires that at each annual general meeting one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or, if the number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least
once every three years.
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RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND
CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.
The Board take decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company.

All Directors, including non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board
for its efficient and effective functioning.

All Directors shall have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company as well as the services and advice from the
company secretary and senior management. The Directors may,
upon request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances for discharging their duties to the Company at the
Company’s expense. The board and each director shall have a
separate and independent access to the Company's senior
management.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution
required from each Director to perform his/her responsibilities to
the Company.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respective of legal action against its Directors.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of
the Company are delegated to the management. The delegated
functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the
Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by the management.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.

In accordance with A.6.5 of the CG Code with regards to
continuous professional development, Directors should participate
in appropriate continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated
briefings for Directors will be arranged and reading material on
relevant topics will be issued to Directors where appropriate. All
Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.
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During the Reporting Period, each individual Director has attended
training courses or workshops or reading materials relevant to his/
her professional and/or duties as Director. The Company has
maintained a training record in order to assist the Directors to
record the training that they have undertaken. A summary is as
follows:

REHE  SEFEL2MBEEEN S&E
ERERBOEIRIZR TESRBEEER -
ARBBREEIRENE N E SRR RSN
2mensEsl - #amT

Reading Attending in house

materials  training relating
regarding to the ongoing
regulatory compliance
updates and obligations,
corporate governance
governance and other
matters related topics
2 MEREE
MEGREE EREY - BHR
BHREE kiEEEE
Name of Directors EENA ERBENER =R
Executive Directors BITES
Ms. Zhou Li AFI £ v v
Ms. Fan Wenyi B v/ v
Mr. Chen Xiang FRAF ST v/ v
Ms. Chan Si Yu BREFAI Lt
(appointed on 1 November 2018) (R20184 11 A1 HEZ(T) v v/
Non-executive Director FHTES
Ms. Yao Yu hFE+ v/ v
Independent Non-executive Directors & JEHTES
Dr. Chen Shimin FR - BB+
(resigned on 31 December 2018) (20184 12 A 31 B FHHT) v/ v/
Mr. Li Yong FEESE v v/
Mr. E Junyu PlEF I E v v
Dr. Zhao Guoging HEEELT
(appointed on 31 December 2018) (R20184 12 A 31 H#EZA(T) v -
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BOARD MEETING

The Board intends to hold Board meetings regularly at least four
times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of not
less than fourteen days will be given for all regular Board meetings
to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include
matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings.

For other Board meetings, reasonable notice will generally be
given. All Board committee meetings require a notice of at least
seven (7) days to be given, unless such notification is waived by all
members of the respective Board committees. The agenda and
accompanying Board papers are dispatched to the Directors or
Board committee members at least three days before the meetings
to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the papers and
be adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors or Board
committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be
advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to
make their views known to the chairman prior to the meeting.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings
are/will be recorded in sufficient detail to include the matters
considered by the Board and the Board committees and the
decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the Directors.
Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board committee
meeting are/will be sent to the Directors for comments within a
reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The following is the attendance record of the Directors at Board
and committee meetings, and general meetings held during the
Reporting Period:

i AT 8%

EENREHRABTNESFENZEGTHEMN
RBERAGHHFREET

Attendance/Number of Meetings in 2018
2018 F R EERH

Annual

Audit Nomination Remuneration General

Board Committee = Committee = Committee Meeting

Name of Director BEEpS Exg ERZEE® REEEE FHzZEe RREFAS
Zhou Li i 9/9 - 5/5 5/5 il
Chen Xiang R 7/9 - - - 111
Fan Wenyi B 7/9 - - - 17
Chan Si Yu (Note 1) BREs (f7a7 1) 2/9 - - - -
Yao Yu F 5/9 - - - 111
Li Yong £ 99 2/2 5/5 5/5 A
E Junyu HEF 99 2/2 4/5 5/5 il
Chen Shimin (Note 2) Rt G (At 2) 7/9 2/2 - 4/5 11
Zhao Guoging (Note 3/ HEIE (f1:73) 0/9 0/2 0/5 0/5 -
Liu Bing (Note 4) Bk (Kfzt4) 0/9 - - - A

Note 1: Ms. Chan Si Yu was appointed as an executive director on 1 November 2018.

Note 2: Dr. Chen Shimin resigned as an independent non-executive director with
effect from 31 December 2018.

Note 3: Dr. Zhao Guoging was appointed as an independent non-executive director
with effect from 31 December 2018.

Note 4: Mr. Liu Bing was appointed as an executive director on 4 June 2018 and
resigned on 14 September 2018, with effect from 14 September 2018.

None of the meetings set out above was attended by any alternate
Director.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established with
defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the
Board committees are posted on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon
request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out under the
section “Corporate Information” on page 2 of this annual report.

Audit Committee

On 22 June 2016, the Company established the Audit Committee
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of
the Listing Rules and paragraph C.3 and paragraph D.3 of the CG
Code. The Audit Committee currently consists of three members,
comprising Zhao Guoging, Li Yong and E Junyu. All members of
the Audit Committee are independent non-executive Directors. The
chairman of the Audit Committee is Zhao Guoging, who holds the
appropriate professional qualifications as required under Rules
3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The main duties of the Audit
Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial
information and reporting process, internal control procedures and
risk management system, audit plan and relationship with external
auditor, and arrangements to enable employees of the Company to
raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the
Company. The Audit Committee will hold at least two meetings a
year.

The Board has also delegated the corporate governance duties to
the Audit Committee for performing the functions set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings
to review the Group's financial result for the year ended 31
December 2017, review the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group, oversee the audit process and make
recommendation on the re-appointment of the external auditors,
and the interim financial results of the Group for the six months
ended 30 June 2018.
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Nomination Committee

On 22 June 2016, the Company established the Nomination
Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with
paragraph A.5 of the CG Code. The Nomination Committee
currently consists of four members, comprising Zhou Li, Li Yong, E
Junyu and Zhao Guoging. Besides Zhou Li is an executive Director,
all other members are independent non-executive Directors. The
chairman of the Nomination Committee is Zhou Li. The principal
duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board
composition, developing and formulating relevant procedures for
the nomination and appointment of Directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief
executive and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects set out in the Board
Diversity Policy adopted by the Company (as defined below in the
section headed “Board Diversity Policy”), including but not limited
to educational background, professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and industry experience. The Nomination Committee
would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to
the Board for adoption. In identifying and selecting suitable
candidates for directorships, the Nomination Committee would
consider the candidate’s qualifications, experience, independence
and other relevant criteria necessary to complement the corporate
strategy and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before
making recommendations to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will meet at least once a year to review
the structure, size and diversity of the Board and the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and to consider the
qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for election at annual
general meetings.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held 5
meetings to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and the
Company’s Board Diversity Policy and the progress on achieving
the objectives set for implementing the said policy.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 22
June 2016 with written terms of reference in compliance with
paragraph B.1 of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee
currently consists of four members, comprising E Junyu, Zhou Li,
Li Yong and Zhao Guoging. Besides Zhou Li is an executive
Director, all other members are independent non-executive
Directors. The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is E
Junyu. The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee
include reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, the remuneration policy and structure for all
Directors and senior management and establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure
to ensure that no Director or any of his/her close associates will
participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee will meet at least once a year to
review and make recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration policy and structure of the Company, and the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management and other related matters.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held 5
meetings to review and recommendation to the Board regarding
the remuneration of the Directors and senior management.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

On 22 June 2016, the Board adopted the Board Diversity Policy
("Board Diversity Policy”). Under the Board Diversity Policy, the
Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy and give adequate consideration to the
Board Diversity Policy when identifying suitably qualified candidates
to become members of the Board. The Board will regularly review
the Board Diversity Policy and make appropriate revisions to ensure
the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Reporting
Period.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the financial and other information put
before them for approval. The management provides all members
of the board with monthly updates on the Company’s performance,
positions and prospects.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages
117 to 128 of this annual report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid or payable to the external auditors of the
Company in respect of audit and non-audit services for the
Reporting Period as follows:
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Fees paid/payable

et ENEA

HK$'000

Services rendered RHRE FHT
Audit services Z 2R 75 5,650
Non-audit services FERZE RS 952

For the reporting period, the audit services fees paid or payable to
Mazars CPA Limited and Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited were
HK$2,677,000 and HK$2,973,000 respectively. The amount of
HK$952,000 paid by the Group to KPMG in respect of their non-
audit services provided during the reporting period.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledge that it is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant
authorities) of risk management and internal control to the Audit
Committee, who oversees management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems.

Main features of the risk management and internal control
systems

The risk management framework of the Group and main
responsibilities of the members in the framework are described as
follows:
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Member Main Responsibilities
RE TERE
The Board ° Set up goals for risk management strategy, assess and determine the nature and
EE extent of risk acceptable to achieve the strategy goals;
e RUREREEHMARZ FELETEREBESERAIARNERMEREE
° Establish and maintain a proper and effective risk management and internal control
systems;
s RBURMBEHEZASWERERKAEEHGE
o Review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
annually.
o BFEEERMRERRAELEHIHEHNERE
Audit Committee ° Assist the Board in overseeing the risk level and the design and performance of the
EZELEE risk management and internal control systems;

W BhE B g B R AR LA R R E I I A SR I MR E T RBATIER

Discuss the risk management and internal control systems with the management,
ensure the management has fulfilled its responsibility of establishing effective
systems,;

HERENmRARERERARBEHEE  BREEECETRERYBMNHE
Ensure that the internal audit function has sufficient resources for operation and has a
proper position, review and supervise its performance;
BRAMBEABEABERENEREELEZMA - FEREEHK

Keep updated of various major risks confronted by the Group and the risk management
status, make decisions for effective risk control;

EMAKEEBNSES KRR RERERRR - (EL A KRR 0 RS

Report the risk status of the Group and issues to be concerned or |mproved to the
Board on a regular basis;

EHREFEREAAEENRRMI R EFEIHTENEE

Facilitate risk management and assessment, regularly appoint relevant accountable
persons to implement risk assessment;

RERREERTE  THZERBEEE AEITRRTE

Organise and promote the establishment of the risk management system at the group
level;

AEEDHERERNREREIEE RER

Review material risk assessment report and various risk management reports.
BEEEXNEARTERERSHRRERRS

Review major risk management measures, rectify and deal with the decisions made or
actions adopted by relevant organizations or individuals beyond the risk management
system;

BEEHEREMEIREE - A 1F RERIEA 78R AR E R B R 82 R LA SMNREUA) AR
HITH
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Member Main Responsibilities
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° Engage relevant persons to organise and coordinate various departments and projects
to carry out identification and assessment of significant risks at the group level,
summarise and analyse such information, submit risk assessment and various risk
management reports; and

e RIFFUABABMAZSMFARIER  HEEEEMNERRMETHEMNRETHE - WiE
ERAMER  EBXEARTEREERRERRE © &

o Carry out risk management for other major issues.

o HEMBAMBETRRER -

Management of o Ensure that the subsidiaries carry out the risk assessment in compliance with the risk
subsidiaries assessment manual formulated by the Group;
HEBARIERE o TRRMTE R ARG B I TE B R AT (4 T ME 1T R AT
° Review and approve the risk assessment results of the subsidiaries in respect of the
business;

o EHRAEM B AT EBH R TG4

o Ensure that the subsidiaries implement effective risk management;

o  WRMEBARIEMREMNRERER

° Monitor the principal business risks confronted by the subsidiaries and the
effectiveness of relevant risk management measures;

e  ERMBARIERNEZXEHEARKIBMERREREBNBRL

o Allocate resources such as fund and workforce to the subsidiaries for implementation
of the risk assessment projects.

s MAMBAREEZRERFGEEENER WEL  ANE -

Internal audit ° Report directly to the Audit Committee, analyse and conduct independent assessment
department on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
RS systems.

s HERBHLZESWME  HEMREENAIZESHENFTSEARERIEEL ST KR
Bt -
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The process used to identify, assess and management of AREE - T REEEARBRNER

principal risks

The risk management process of the Group is described as follows:  AN&EBE R ER EIBIEFT MM T

Risk Identification

JeR\ ez =i )

Risk Analysis

[\ DA

Risk Response

[\ e

Control Measures

ki

Risk Control

e 2

Risk Management Report

identify the current risks confronted.

a5l B A R Y LR -

conduct analysis on the risk including the impact extent and possibility of
occurrence.

HEERERBELOREIMETRARI T

choose a proper risk response method and develop a risk mitigation strategy.

ERIEE AR 7 T3 R ST PR R B O SRS

propose up-to-date internal control measures and policy and process.

FC $I3R 55 /O Y BRI B8 1 R BUR B R AR

continuously monitor the risks identified and implement relevant internal control
measures to ensure the effective operation of the risk response strategy.

S4B BRI 2 8 ol L P B e 4 B ) 1 T2 1) 4 e R R [ e B 4 SRR B B RIGE T

summarise results of risk assessment and analysis and internal audit, formulate

and report an action plan.
JoR\ e T PR SR KRS

The process used to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and to resolve
material internal control defects:

The Group establishes a risk management information and
communication channel that is functional within the whole basic
risk control procedure, connects different levels in the reporting
system and different departments and operation units, so as to
ensure timely, accurate and complete communication of
information, laying a solid foundation for the monitoring and
improvement of risk management.

Different departments and business units of the Group regularly
inspect and examine their own risk management process in order
to locate the shortcomings and remedy the situation if possible.
Their inspection and examination reports are delivered to the
Group's risk management department in time.
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The internal audit department of the enterprise may regularly or
irregularly carry out supervision and evaluation in relevant
departments and business units to decide if they are capable of
performing regular risk management tasks and their related work
performance. Reports of supervision and evaluation are delivered
directly to the audit committee established by the Board of
Directors.

The Board reviewed the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems and further considers that (i) there was no
material issue relating to the Group's risk management and internal
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions of the Group and considers these
effective; and (ii) that there were adequate staff with appropriate
and adequate qualifications and experience, resources for
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions, and
adequate training programmes had been provided during the
Reporting Period.

Internal audit function

The Group's internal audit function is performed by an internal audit
team, which reports directly to the Audit Committee. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination
of inside information: The Company has implemented proper
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination
of inside information. The Company has established a policy with
close regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” issued by the Securities and Futures Commission, to
ensure that all the Group’s stakeholders and the public are provided
with appropriate information relating to the Group in a timely and
simultaneous manner.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged Mr. Chiu Ming King, the executive
director of Corporate Services of Vistra Corporate Services (HK)
Limited, external service provider, as the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”). Ms. He Yuan is the
assistant company secretary of the Company, who acted as the
main contact person of Mr. Chiu Ming King. Mr. Chiu Ming King
was responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance
matters and ensuring that Board policy and procedures and
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. Mr. Chiu Ming
King has resigned from the position of company secretary with
effect from 29 September 2018. Mr. Chiu Ming King has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training for the year
ended 31 December 2018 as required under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

The Company has appointed Mr. Kung Wai Chiu Marco as the
Company Secretary with effect from 29 September 2018 to replace
Mr. Chiu Ming King. Mr. Kung Wai Chiu Marco has resigned from
the position of Company Secretary with effect from 1 April 2019.
Mr. Kung Wai Chiu Marco has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional trainings for the Reporting Period as required
under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has appointed Mr. Yang Dong John as the Company
Secretary with effect from 1 April 2019.

Details of the biographies of each of the Company Secretary are
set out in the section headed "“Directors and Senior Management”
of this annual report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual Directors. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
general meeting.
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CONVENING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
(“EGM”) AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, any one or
more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company, to require an EGM to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition, and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The
Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.

CONTACT DETAILS

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: 2/F, No.1 Building Hampton By Hilton
No. 169 Yu Lin Road
Tianya District
Sanya, the Hainan Province
The PRC (For the attention of the Board of Directors/
Company Secretary)

Email: hailankonggu@hailanholdings.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. The Company makes the best endeavours to maintain
an on-going dialogue with shareholders. In this regard, the
Company established a shareholders’ communication policy and
review it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness. The Board
is committed in providing clear and full performance information of
the Group to shareholders through the publication of interim and
annual reports. In addition to the circulars, notices and financial
reports sent to shareholders, additional information of the Group is
also available to shareholders on the website of the Company.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual general meeting
for which at least 20 clear business days’ notice is given. The
chairman of the Board and Directors are available to answer
questions on the Group’s business at the meeting. All resolutions
at the general meeting are decided by a poll which is conducted by
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong.

The Group values feedbacks from shareholders on its effort to
promote transparency and foster investor relationships. Comments
and suggestions are always welcomed.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides a useful
forum for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. All
Directors will make an effort to attend. External auditor is also
available at the annual general meeting to address shareholders’
queries. In case of any general meeting to approve a connected
transaction or any other transaction that is subject to shareholders’
approval, members of the independent Board committee will also
make an effort to address shareholders’ queries.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There are no changes in the Company’s constitutional documents
for the Reporting Period.
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Report of the Directors
EEEWE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting
Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are investment holding, properties
development and sales and rental of developed properties. There
were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 129 to 130 of this annual report.

The Board did not recommend payment of final dividend to the
shareholders of the Company for the Reporting Period.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required pursuant to
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), comprising analysis of the Group performance
during the year, a discussion on the Group’s future business
development and a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, are set out in the sections
“Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis”,
from pages 5 to 25 of this annual report. Discussions on the
environmental policies and performance, compliance by the Group
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group and the account of the key relationships of
the Group with its stakeholders are contained in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 85 to
116 of this annual report. These discussions forms part of this
Directors’ Report.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining shareholders who are entitled to
attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Monday, 28 October 2019 to
Thursday, 31 October 2019, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify
for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates should be lodged
for registration with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30
p.m. on Friday, 25 October 2019.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during

the Reporting Period are set out in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in the note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements and the consolidated statement
of changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the Company did not have any
distributable reserves available for distribution to shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the single largest supplier and the five largest
suppliers for the Group (exclusive of Danzhou Phase |) accounted
for approximately 42% and 71% of our total purchases under our
supply contracts respectively. The percentage of revenue
attributable to the Group’s single largest customer and five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% of the total revenue of the
Group respectively.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, save for Nanjing
Huizhi Construction Installation Engineering Co., Ltd which is
indirectly held as to 100% by Mr. Yeung Man, a controlling
shareholder of the Company, being one of the five largest supplies
for the Group, none of the Directors, their respective close
associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’'s issued share
capital) have any interest in any of the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.

it

A B A A R A BRI HIR B B R By
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IR DIRAEILER -

IFREFREER

FRAEEE-—SARTEAHER(TEIE
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors:
Zhou Li (Chief Executive Officer and Chairman)
Chen Zhonghua (appointed on 26 September 2019)
Chan Si Yu (appointed on 1 November 2018)
Chen Xiang
Fan Wenyi
Liu Bing (appointed on 4 June 2018 and
resigned on 14 September 2018)

Non-executive Directors:
Wang Pei (resigned on 15 March 2018)
Yao Yu (appointed on 15 March 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Chen Shimen (resigned on 31 December 2018)
Li Yong

E Junyu

Zhao Guoging (appointed on 31 December 2018)

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, Ms.
Zhou Li and Mr. Chen Xiang shall retire from their office at the
Annual General Meeting, being eligible, Ms. Zhou Li will offer
herself for re-election at the Annual General Meeting while Mr.
Chen Xiang will retire as executive Director after the conclusion of
the Annual General Meeting and will not offer himself for re-
election at the Annual General Meeting.

In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles of Association, Mr.
Chen Zhonghua, Ms. Chan Si Yu and Dr. Zhao Guoging, being
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional
Director shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company after their appointments. Mr. Chen Zhonghua and Dr.
Zhao Guoging will offer themselves for re-election at the Annual
General Meeting while Ms. Chan Si Yu will retire as executive
Director after the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting and
will not offer herself for re-election at the Annual General Meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management”
on pages 26 to 33 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed herein, at no time during the Reporting Period
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Group or any other
body corporate; and none of the Directors, or their spouses or
children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for the
securities of the Group, or had exercised any such right during the
Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the Annual General Meeting
has a service contract that is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Each of the executive Directors is entitled to a basic salary pursuant
to their respective service agreements, which is determined with
reference to their responsibilities, experience, performance and the
prevailing market conditions. In addition, each of them is entitled to
a bonus of such amount as the Board may determine in respect of
each complete financial year of the Company.

Each of the non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors is entitled to a director’'s fee pursuant to their respective
letters of appointment, which is determined with reference to their
responsibilities, experience, performance and the prevailing market
conditions. Save for director’s fee, each of the non-executive
Director and independent non- executive Directors is not expected
to receive any other remuneration for holding his office as a non-
executive Director or an independent non-executive Director
respectively.
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REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Details of remuneration of the Directors during the Reporting
Period are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EEREREERHMH

BRAREHEESHFNOFBHINEE
HWERMIFET0 -

875

Details of remuneration paid to members of the senior $REHIE @ FEREEEBK B X HHFHEIZE
management by band for the Reporting Period is set out below: BZ PSRBT
Number of

individual(s)
Remuneration band s E A
RMB500,000 or below AR# 500,000 7T AT 7
RMB500,000 to RMB 1,000,000 AR % 500,000 7cE AR 1,000,000 7T 4
RMB1,000,000 to RMB1,500,000 A 1,000,000 T E A R ¥ 1,500,000 7T 2
INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON- BYKBITEEZ2RB LM
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company has received, from each of the three independent AARIEWEI=FBIIFNTEEZZTBREL

non-executive Directors, a confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

POTENTIAL COMPETING BUSINESS

Set out below are details of certain businesses of Mr. Yeung Man,
a controlling shareholder and an executive Director (disqualified on
18 December 2017) which were not included into the Group as at
the date of this report. For further details, please refer to the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders —
Excluded Businesses” in the Company's prospectus dated 30 June
2016 (the “Prospectus”).
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EXCLUDED HAINAN PROJECTS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Excluded Hainan Projects held
by the private group (being companies owned by Mr. Yeung Man
apart from members of our Group which are principally engaged in
real estate development, the “Private Group"”) comprised two
properties development projects in Wenchang and Haikou in the

Hainan Province, details of which are set out below:

Location

i B

Description

i

BrINERIE B

BB ERAEE - WASE (BHEHTE
A ML A AEERKE R
TENEEHEERR -
BERINERIER RN ERE XA MEAR
MBFWEZRREAE - AREFBHNTX:

GIEEE NG
FiRE [ RAKEFA

Status as at 31 December 2018
7201812 B 31 HHRR

Wenchang Dongjiao
Coconut Forest

(3 & RRBAPA)

X ERADHBAR

On 8 January 2010, Chung Wai Holding Company
Limited (the “"Chung Wai Holding"”), and the
People’'s Government of Wenchang entered into a
co-operation framework agreement, pursuant to
which the People’s Government of Wenchang
agreed that, among others (i) all expenses and
developmental construction costs for the primary
land development of the land reclamation of 400 mu
would be borne by Chung Wai Holding, (ii) to
establish a project company namely, Wenchang City
Construction Investment Company Limited which
was owned as to 40% by the People's Government
of Wenchang and 60% by Chung Wai Holding (which
was owned as to 30%, 40% and 30% by Chung Wai
Holding, the People’'s Government of Wenchang and
Nanjing Yu Ming Hang respectively as at the Latest
Practicable Date), and (iii) Wenchang City
Construction Investment Company Limited will be
invited to participate in the tendering for and the
reclaimed land will be sold via tender, auction, or
listing-for-sale procedures with reference to the
agreed land reclamation cost and would be
determined between Chung Wai Holding and the
People’'s Government of Wenchang.
22010F1 A8 H » FEERER AR ([FEER])
HY B ARBNIZAEERGE  BIEXEARK
HRE(REFREE) (400 B ZE T HERLY
PTG R S R [ 3 R SR P ZS B p R SR IR ¢ (i) AKSZ
ERERARIXEMBTERKREGRAR  ERDHIMH
XE ™A RBUR K BER A 40% M 60% 2

REEERTEHADFIHFEER - XETA
EE&W&F’??@%G%&%SO% 40% K 30% =

R (i) X E T T 2RI E BR A RGBS EITE -
MEE T ER2ELHBTENTMIEGSER - HiBE
HEREFEE  WEAPEEREX ST ARBUTE

T o

As at 31 December 2018, the
People's Government of
Wenchang had yet to proceed
with the bidding, invitation,
auction and listing for the land
use rights of the relevant
reclaimed land in accordance with
the co-operation framework
agreement. There is uncertainty
as to when and whether the
reclaimed land could be obtained.

R2018F 12 831H X B AR
BN ARIERBEIEERBZELE
RES T T AEREFRR
EHEREREF - BRTTETE

A5 R AL TR 1S 1 4 o
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Location

i 2h

Description
i

Status as at 31 December 2018
7201812 B 31 HHRR

Gui Lin Yang Bin Hai
Tourism Area
(EMF B BIRER)
in Haikou

IR O M EERE
GRS

On 9 March 2007, Haikou Bo Tai Long Property
Development Company Limited (the”Haikou Bo Tai
Long”) entered into a land grant contract with the
relevant competent authority for, among other
matters, acquisition of the land use rights in a piece
of land located in the west of Gui Lin Yang Bin Hai
Tourism Area (FEMFE Gk EZ[E) with a site area of
642,350 sg.m (“the land use right of Gui Lin Yang
Bin Hai”). On 7 January 2008, Haikou Bo Tai Long
obtained the construction land planning permit (3£:%&
FA i 78 & 5 7] 35) for the said piece of land. Such
permit has expired and Haikou Bo Tai Long has not
filed any renewal application.

20073 A9H - BREREFMERZEGRA R
(FBOBRE)BEFAXEER L THHEER -
LA (E AR B 35) W R I EE AR /B8 IR 221 PR 20 ) — 18
388 THI A8 /% 642,350 F 5 KB - s ) 3o b R R ([ 4
MEBSLHMEAE]) - 72008F1A7H - B0
FEM D T ESERAMRETE - 2T #E
LB Em - e EREREGIRE(WERES -

On 19 July 2007, Chung Wai (China) Properties
Group Limited (the “"Chung Wai (China)
Properties”) (as transferee), entered into an
agreement (the “equity transfer agreement”) with
the then equity holders of Haikou Bo Tai Long (as
transferors), all being Independent Third Parties, for
the acquisition of 60% interests in Haikou Bo Tai
Long at the consideration of RMB179,210,000.
200778198 - FE(FE)EXEEERAA
(ThE(HRE)EBXE]) (ERAEAN) BENIEREER
HIREREA(EREEAN) (RO RBEIE=7)5
RREAR¥ 179,210,000 7T i G O 1212 £ 60%
AR E] S ek ([ RAEEZEHR]) -
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On 31 December 2018, the
Haikou Intermediate People's
Court made the first instance
administrative judgment. Both
Haikou Bo Tai Long and the
Haikou City Government appealed
to the Higher People's Court of
Hainan Province within the
statutory period. The hearing was
held and is pending the second
instance judgment.
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Location

2

Description
it

Status as at 31 December 2018

742018512 A 31 HHIRR

On 27 October 2017, Haikou Land Bureau issued the
Idle Land Verification (& T#F2E &) to Haikou Bo
Tai Long, and the idling was caused by government
reasons. On 7 November 2017, Haikou Land Bureau
issued the Notice on the Availability of the Cost of
Obtaining the Land and Preliminary Reasonable
Investment of Related Materials (BR R+ 30 ERS
BTN AT B & 248 AMEREA KL 93 40) to Haikou Bo
Tai Long. On 19 December 2017, Haikou Land
Bureau issued the Notice on the Meeting concerning
Recovery of the Land Use Right with a Payment ([
RABFABEK B ERESHABA) to Haikou
Bo Tai Long.

B20179F10A278 SO MBELEBAEOEREET
E(HETHRES) RERBNRABKEE - ©
201711 A78  BOBELBRAEOIERES (R
RIBE T HES K AT AT E & IR A B3
M)y R2017F12 4198 - BAR L+ RAEAESR
P 2 KB B A E U E -t iE A g R Ama) o

On 22 March 2018, Haikou Land Bureau issued the
Decision on the Recovery of the State-owned
Construction Land Use Right by the People’s
Government of Haikou (/8O A RBUTW BB A &
5% AR b FAAE R F Z) to Haikou Bo Tai Long.
201843 H 220  BOE L F/AEAFREELCE
AmARBFKEEARZBIERERTEE) -

On 30 July 2018, Haikou Bo Tai Long filed a lawsuit
to the Haikou Intermediate People’s Court,
requesting the cancellation of the No. 1 Land
Recovery Decision (15% 4 #5 /& 5F), and the Court
accepted the case on the same day.

201857 A308  BOBHREREFOMHRAARE
Prie AR a7 » 58 SKIEE 1 SR UUHRE - AR E B

ES $:H

On 25 December 2018, the Haikou Intermediate
People’s Court made the first instance administrative
judgment. Both Haikou Bo Tai Long and the Haikou
City Government appealed to the Higher People's
Court of Hainan Province within the statutory period.
Currently, the hearing was held and is pending the
second instance judgment.

201812425 R - BAMHRAREREL —FT
ERHR o g OB 2R &G O W ERITEE T 2R NG m
BrEARMARER R L3 - RRERAMLE 8T
EHF_F|HR
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NON-TARGET CITIES PROJECTS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Private Group had 6 Non-Target
Cities Projects, further details of which are set out below:

FEREMIER

AN EIEFT R
WMIER - BB

CTLAREB6RIEREF

Status as at Site area
Project Name Location Description 31 December 2018 Total GFA (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
20185124318 BEEEE WREE
EEEB bk A HRR (FHK) (FFER)
Zi Qi Yun Gu Nanjing, Jiangsu Residential and Fully completed and partly 728,332.9 (including GFA of 790,519.6
Province commercial land for future development undeveloped land of project
calculating with a 30% plot
ratio for villa and the actual
GFA of which shall be subject
to the government's final
approval)
ZREA TEREAER FEREE BRHRT - BH A% 7283329 (2723A B AR %
RRBEREN T FHE LA B RIE R 30% AT
KetE v BEmE  MEME
BRI S BT A
Xin Gang Nanjing, Jiangsu Commercial, office Fully completed 134,765.4 24,513.9
Financial Centre Province and guesthouses
EerfL T#HEER ¥ BTE EEHMET
L&
Bo En Garden Nanjing, Jiangsu Residential Partly completed and partly 1,046,040.5 641,728.8
Province under development
BREE IEERER = BHERT - PHBEF
Cui Ping Cheng Yuan  Nanjing, Jiangsu Ordinary Residential ~ Partly completed and partly 534,176.3 271,992.5
Province under development
RREAE IHERR LpEE HABET - PHEEH
Tuo Le Jia Nanjing, Jiangsu Residential Fully completed 747,951.8 435,199.7
Province and commercial
i =2 TERERR FERE% B2H%RT
Gong Jue Town Huizhou, Residential Whole project had been - -
Guangdong disposed to third party
Province
DE/ME BERAEM = BEERHEBEE=A
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors had any direct or
indirect interest in a business which competed or might compete
with the business of the Group as required to be disclosed under
Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules for the Reporting Period.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

Each of the controlling shareholders has confirmed to the Company
of his/its compliance with the non-competition undertakings
provided to the Company under the Deed of Non-Competition (as
defined in the Prospectus). The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed
that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have
been complied with by the controlling shareholders during the
period commencing from the Deed of Non-Competition and up to
31 December 2018.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Connected
Transactions” in this report, there was no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31
December 2018 or at any time during the year ended 31 December
2018.

Save as disclosed, there was no contract of significance between
the Company or one of its subsidiaries on the one hand, and a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries on the other,
subsisting during or as at the end of the Reporting Period.

Save as disclosed, there was also no other contract of significance
for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
during or as at the end of the same period.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director or other
officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of
the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/
she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of
his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto subject to the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. Such provision was in force during the
year ended 31 December 2018 and remained in force as of the
date of this report. The Company has also arranged appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for the Directors and
officers of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

As of 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or
as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code") were as follows:
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(A) INTEREST IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(A) REQXFWRGER

Number of
Shares held/

Approximate
shareholding

Name of Director Capacity Position (Long/Short) interested in percentage
¥E HeER BRER
EEnA 514 B (FE KR RSB Aokt
Ms. Zhou Li Interest of spouse (Note 1) Long 225,000,000 75%
Shares
BFIEt A (Wi 1) 5 225,000,000
AR AR 1
Notes: Bt
(1) 225,000,000 shares of the Company are held by Zhong Jia (International) (1) FE(ER)IREEZRABE AR FE(
Investment Construction Company Limited (“Zhong Jia ) D) R (BER)IREARAT(FE(E
(International)”) and Zhong Ze (International) Investment Company BR) 1) # A 7 A 7] 225,000,000 B % 15+ =&
Limited (“Zhong Ze (International)”) as to 224,325,000 shares and 2 R 224,325,000 A% i 15 & 675,000 A% B
675,000 shares, respectively. Mr. Yeung Man (“Mr. Yeung") HeBRAEE((BEENESHET=(H
beneficially owns 100% of the issued share capital of Zhong Jia BR) R AE (BIFR) 100% B9 2 B TR A » BUAR
(International) and Zhong Ze (International) and is deemed, or taken to BESRBERIMAR R EEEET =R
be, interested in all the shares held by Zhong Jia (International) and B RS2 (RN AERMER - Bk
Zhong Ze (International) for the purposes of the SFO. Mr. Yeung and EREFMZEHRBREGEORS - Bt 5t
Ms. Zhou Li have declared that they are cohabiting as spouse. BHELBEGRAIME ARZTHERKE
Accordingly, Ms. Zhou Li is deemed, or taken to be, interested in the TERIG R AT ARG PR R -
Shares in which Mr. Yeung is interested for the purpose of the SFO.
2) As of the date of this report, the total number of issued shares of the (2) HEAFREBH  ARAFEBITRODEHR A

Company was 300,000,000.

300,000,000 f% ©
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(B) LONG POSITION IN THE SHARES OF (B) RAEHIEROGIHNEFRE
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION
(i) Long position in Zhong Jia (International) and (i) RPz(ER) RTZEERR) WEF
Zhong Ze (International) )
Number

Name of Name of and class of Approximate

Director or associated Position securities held/ shareholding

Chief executive  corporation Capital (Long/Short) interested in percentage

®H8/#E

EERTH X ERNES BAER

mEE HBEEEE g4 (3R KA HERER Epitd

Ms. Zhou Li Zhong Jia (International)  Interest of spouse Long 1 100%

(Note 1) ordinary share

BFIZ L 3= (BIRR) B i@t s (Mat 1) e 1R RAR
Zhong Ze (International)  Interest of spouse Long 7,000 100%

(Note 1) ordinary shares

HE (B BofBtEas (Mfat 1) & 7,000 8% @A

Note: Htat :

1) Mr. Yeung owns 100% interest in Zhong Jia (International) and 1) B ERE ks (B kHiZE(=H
Zhong Ze (International). Mr. Yeung and Ms. Zhou Li have B2)100% Ktz © B oA R AR Z 1
declared that they are cohabiting as spouse. Accordingly, Ms. HZEBRBFEHWES - At REEL
Zhou Li is deemed, or taken to be, interested in the Shares of HEEHmsS BRI T8 B3
Zhong Jia (International) and Zhong Ze (International) in which EERIG A BERZN T = (BE)
Mr. Yeung is interested for the purpose of the SFO. N (BB ) B fn R A fE e o

(i) Long position in Sanya Hui Xin Trading (i) MN=ZTDEHEZHNHFE

Approximate

Name of Director or shareholding

Chief Executive Capacity Position (Long/Short) percentage

EENTERARES g4 BL(IFEKA) BRERE DT

Ms. Zhou Li Beneficiary of a trust (Note 1) Long 6.56%

AFZ =+ ErtxmA (M) 5=

Ms. Fan Wenyi Beneficiary of a trust (Note 1) Long 1.75%

XMt 2t mA (Mfat1) e

Mr. Chen Xiang Beneficiary of a trust (Note 1) Long 0.53%

BRI SEAE EEXmA (MtaE1) e

Note: Bist

(1) Each of the target participants and their percentage of equity (1) REEZEENEN=ZENESE
interest to be interested in Sanya Hui Xin Trading are set out on BHRELL Pl A RNFERETTE

page 77 of this annual report.
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Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company and their respective
close associates had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARE
CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

So far as the Directors are aware as of 31 December 2018, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register

B EXCREES - R2018FE 12 A31H » AR
AEE BRIBABRESENZERHEA
TRARRBKEFMHEEEZE(FERLEFHFR
HRERPIEXVED) kY - HERGD REFH
o BRI EREE S R EE R EXVE
F7 M8 E G AN A M B A BT O AE 25 K
B (RIEREE S RIS K0 A B IE R S
EF A BEANEERIOAR) XA
TR IR 5 5 & HA B 16 15) 25 352 1670 A X G FTHE Y
ZRMARRERS RAR - SRR ETTAR A A0IE
EFABEMEARA R MBRATHER AR

FERRRAQAAREAPHES
/KR

Ze

MESRTA B Z2018%F12A31H ' L TA
T (R RBESHEDTHRABRIN RIREE
F R HAE1KH) 5 336 (5B Hm AR R G AZ M
B 2R & &) AR 10 3k AR B8 B 1 P 7R B R a ook

required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO: B

Number

and class of Approximate

Name of Substantial Position securities held/  shareholding

Shareholder Nature of interest (Long/Short) interested in percentage
B»EBE

EENES iR

TERRERE NS Bl (FR %KE) BB NER BO

Zhong Jia Beneficial owner Long 224,325,000 74.78%
(International) Shares
5 (B BEREAA TE 224,325,000
AR A% 15

Mr. Yeung Interest of a controlled Long 224,325,000 74.78%
corporation (Note) Shares
B Xy EE s (M) TE 224,325,000
AR A% 15
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Note:

224,325,000 shares of the Company are held by Zhong Jia (International). Mr. Yeung
beneficially owns 100% of the issued share capital of Zhong Jia (International) and is
deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the shares held by Zhong Jia (International)
for the purposes of the SFO. Mr. Yeung is the sole director of Zhong Jia (International).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the Directors
are not aware of any person who had an interest or short position
in the shares and the underlying shares of the Company which
would require to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions of our Group during the year ended 31
December 2018 set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as disclosed below, other related party
transactions of our Company did not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Our Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements pursuant to the Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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The historical transaction amount of the continuing connected
transactions of the Group for the Reporting Period is set out below:

AEERHEREILHNFEERRH 2B
RZEHEHINT

Transaction
Amount for Year

ended
Connected Person Nature of Transaction 31 December 2018
BZE
201812 H31H
AL REME LTEERSH
RMB’000
AREFIT

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions

HRRIFEEHEXE

Nanjing Huizhi Construction Installation Engineering Construction Cooperation 53,296

Company Limited (Note 1)
ARREERATRIBERAR (1)

Notes:

(1

Nanjing Huizhi Construction Installation Engineering Company Limited (& /=5
HEELHE T AR 2 ) acompany established in the PRC with limited
liability which is indirectly held as to 100% by Mr. Yeung Man, a controlling
shareholder of the Company.

On 8 April 2016, Nanjing Huizhi Construction Installation Engineering Company
Limited has entered into a Construction Cooperation Framework Agreement
with the Company and its subsidiaries, Sanya Fenghuang Xincheng, Sanya
Fenghuang Shuiyun, Hainan Nanhai Xiang Long and Danzhou Shuang Lian
effective from the Listing Date up to 31 December 2018.

Under the Construction Cooperation Framework Agreement, Nanjing Huizhi
Construction Installation Engineering Company Limited has agreed, where it is
selected following the relevant tender processes, to provide the construction
services to the Group according to the construction contracts entered into
between Nanjing Huizhi Construction Installation Engineering Company Limited
and the Group from time to time. The construction fee would be specified in
the construction contracts to be entered into between Nanjing Huizhi
Construction Installation Engineering Company Limited and the Group from
time to time.

The annual caps for the transactions under the Construction Cooperation
Framework Agreement for each of the three years ending 31 December 2016,
2017 and 2018 will be approximately RMB50,540,000, RMB399,404,000 and
RMB501,722,000, respectively. For more details of these transactions, please
refer to the section headed “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

ftat

(1)

Framework Agreement
IR TaEERTZ

AREERELKRIREARARAS—HETEMKIL
MEREERR  mGHEE (KRR RMZERARR)
MEZEHE -

MN20165F4A8H  BMRELEELETIEBRA
AIEARARREMBRR(ZERERFN - =HEE
KE - FmEAEIREREMER) ST —BIRET
AEERWZ A LMBEERES  EE2018F 12
A318IE-

RIBEZ TR TAFEERDGS  AREERELK
TRARARRE  BLBEHAREFRES
HRBEAEETRHEINRZESR  AALH
REFEZERY - 2RBEANEEEREETRIL
MZEELTHNE -

B Z2016F ~ 2017 F %2018 12 A318 1k = {@
FE ZIEBIAFERBEBETRINSEE
EB DB 4 A AR KSL0540,0007T - A R
399,404,000 7C & A R # 501,722,000 7T » A% S
RGHFHE  FLEUBRER (BB S —& -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE RELATING TO THE
CONSTRUCTION COOPERATION FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT WITH NANJING HUIZHI CONSTRUCTION
INSTALLATION ENGINEERING COMPANY LIMITED

Summaries of corporate governance mechanisms in place in the
Reporting Period regarding the non-exempt continuing connected
transaction with Nanjing Huizhi Construction Installation
Engineering Company Limited under the Construction Cooperation
Framework Agreement:

(i) Independence in Selection Process
The Group has adopted an independent mechanism with the
following features to govern and monitor the selection
process for our potential bidders:

(@) the Internal Tender Review Committee, which
comprises members appointed by the independent non-
executive Directors and accountable to the independent
non-executive Directors, is responsible for reviewing
the terms and conditions of tenders and screen out
unsuitable tenders, which shall also comply with the
requirements of the relevant laws and regulations. The
members of the Internal Tender Review Committee
include the heads of our Group’s tender department
and the relevant project general managers of our Group.
The appointment of the members of the Internal Tender
Review Committee by the independent nonexecutive
Directors is based on nominations by the executive
Directors and relevant senior management of our
Group. Ms. Zhou Li shall abstain from such nomination
process;

(b)  objective criteria for identifying potential bidders, such
as the price, quality of construction work, size of the
project, construction schedule and other required
services, is prescribed by the Internal Tender Review
Committee in relation to each of our projects and each
criterion must be approved by the Internal Tender
Review Committee;
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the relevant project company will contact qualified
potential bidders and require them to provide
information regarding their qualifications, industry
experience and the size and composition of their
management teams; and

the relevant project company will be responsible for
compiling a list of qualified potential bidders in
accordance with the prescribed criteria laid down by the
Internal Tender Review Committee and the relevant
project company will issue tender application
documents to three to five qualified bidders. In the
event that Nanjing Huizhi Construction Installation
Engineering Company Limited is chosen as one of the
potential construction companies after the selection
process described above and it submits a completed
tender application document to the relevant project
company, the relevant project company will submit
Nanjing Huizhi Construction Installation Engineering
Company Limited's tender application document to the
Internal Tender Review Committee for review and
approval. The Internal Tender Review Committee will
only approve Nanjing Huizhi Construction Installation
Engineering Company Limited's application if Nanjing
Huizhi is considered to have a competitive advantage in
the relevant market in which the relevant project will be
situated.

Shortlisted qualified bidders shall submit tender documents
to us or the tendering agency appointed by us. The
assessment committee established by us is responsible for
reviewing tenders and selecting a tender for acceptance
according to applicable laws and regulations. According to the
Measures on the Tender and Commencement of
Construction Projects (218 B 2R 1 LBIZRIZHE), the
selected industry expert(s) will be disqualified if he/she is
found to have a conflict of interest. After the assessment
committee has selected a tender for acceptance, we will
award the constructions contract to the successful bidder.

© MEEEATEHEAEREER
BALERHSRUEHEE - 17
OB KA EREHABRENE
AR R

(d MEEEBEAASAERENIREER
ENZEBEFIENSEERRAEN
EERBEARE YM=2F%A
BRIEBEABRLERE - WX LA E
BIEFER ARRERELRRTR
ERAREAZRSBEEERATZ
— EBAAERE AR 7
EFIRE - HERE AFEER
EERERETIRBERAFANESE
RTAMBATEZZEGETERN
BEHE - B RBERERKTE
BERABWRRERRERTER
HEMSAEHFEY - RIREA
REZZEERReERRER
BRELKTIZEERARRRIER -

AE® & ERIEA BRI
ENREREREERARU - LI
RUNFEZEQUAREMNFEALR
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(ii)

74

Independent Review of Construction Services Provided
by Nanjing Huizhi Construction Installation Engineering
Company Limited

In addition, we have also put in place the following
procedures with a view to monitoring the quality of
construction work carried out by Nanjing Huizhi Construction
Installation Engineering Company Limited if it is selected to
provide construction services to the Group after the above
tender and selection procedures:

(@) monthly reports regarding the construction progress
and the quality of construction services prepared by
independent qualified engineering supervisory
companies will be provided to the independent non-
executive Directors, and the views and
recommendations of the independent non-executive
Directors will be adopted by the Company; and

(b)  written approval from the Internal Tender Review
Committee is required if Nanjing Huizhi Construction
Installation Engineering Company Limited seeks to
modify the scope of work, construction schedule or
other relevant information as provided in the
construction contract.

The Directors believe that the above selection and review
mechanism will ensure that the terms of the Construction
Cooperation Framework Agreement are conducted on normal
commercial terms and are in the best interests of our
Company and our independent shareholders as a whole. In
the Reporting Period, the mechanisms have been effective
and operated accordingly.
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CONFIRMATION FROM INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

All the independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that those
transactions had been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company
and the Group (where appropriate);

(2)  either on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the relevant agreements governing the relevant
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders as a whole.

CONFIRMATIONS FROM THE COMPANY'S
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board has
engaged the auditor of the Company to perform review procedures
on the aforesaid continuing connected transactions. Based on the
work performed, the auditor of the Company had provided a letter
to the Board confirming that the aforesaid continuing connected
transactions:

(i) have been approved by the Directors;

(i)~ were entered into in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Group;

(i) were entered into in accordance with the terms of the
relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

(iv)  did not exceed the annual cap amounts.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

A Remuneration Committee was set up to make recommendations
on the Company's emolument policy and structure for all
remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the
Group on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The Company has adopted a pre-IPO share incentive scheme on 5
January 2016 (the “Pre-IPO Share Incentive Scheme”) to
recognize and reward the contribution of certain directors and
senior management (the “Target Participant(s)”) who have or
may have made to the growth and development of the business(es)
of the Group.

Under the Pre-IPO Share Incentive Scheme, the Group allocated
17.5% of the total equity interest (the “Incentive Equity Interest”)
in Sanya Hui Xin Trading (representing approximately 3% effective
interest in Sanya Fenghuang Shuiyun) held by Mr. Yang Jinhe or
Mr. Fang Jing, both of whom held such interest on trust for Mr.
Yeung to the Target Participants. The Target Participants entered
into trust agreements with Mr. Yeung, Mr. Yang Jinhe, Mr. Fang
Jing, Zhonghui (China) Investment Company Limited and the
Company on 5 January 2017, pursuant to which the Incentive
Equity Interest shall be held on trust by Mr. Yang Jinhe or Mr. Fang
Jing for the Target Participants until such Incentive Equity interest
are vested in the relevant Target Participant in accordance with the
provision of the Pre-IPO Share Incentive Scheme. The Target
Participants can exercise his/her rights in the abovementioned
Incentive Equity Interest at nil consideration after their completion
of three service years (commenced from the date of trust
agreement) in the Group and satisfaction of the achievement
targets in these three consecutive years.

The table below shows the details of each Target Participant under

the Pre-IPO Share Incentive Scheme in Sanya Hui Xin Trading as at
31 December 2018.
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Outstanding Equity
equity interest Interest in The period Cancelled/
in Sanya Hui Consideration Sanya during lapsed
Xin to be of Pre-IPO Hui Xin which share options
acquired under Equity being Exercise Date of Vesting options are (where
Holders the options  Position Interest granted Price  Grant Period exercisable applicable)
BREET Bit#/
BFRE BRAR Friitiz KU
SEEHZ BEARE ZER &
BEA HARATRE B ZRE HiRE EE RUEH SRS BREGTES (TR
Ms. Zhou Li 6.5625%  Executive Director Nil 6.5625% Nil 5 January 2016 Three years from No expiration date Nil
and Chairman the date of grant
ARz 6.5625% ~ HITEFRER & 6.5625% & 01651858 RHBHEH=F EERAS &
Mr. Huang Annan fnote 1) Executive Director Nil 6.5625% Nil - 5January 2016 Three years from No expiration date Lapsed
and general manager the date of grant (note 1)
BREAE (Mit1)  #EFREE3R & 6.5625% & 2016%1A58 RUBEEN=F BEREH BRM(HiE1)
Ms. Fan Wen Yi 1.75%  Executive Director and Nil 1.75% Nil - 5January 2016 Three years from No expiration date Nil
deputy general the date of grant
manager of operation
xRt 175%  HITEFRERHELEE & 1.75% & 201641858 RUBHRH=F EENES &
Ms. Wu Lijuan fnote 1) Chief Financial Officer Nil 0.525% Nil - 5January 2016 Three years from No expiration date Lapsed
the date of grant fnote 1)
RAFLL (Wit1)  BEE & 0.525% & 01651858 RHBEEH=F EEREH BRMBE1)
Mr. Wang Tao fnote 1) Chief Marketing Nil 0.525% Nil 5 January 2016 Three years from No expiration date Lapsed
Officer the date of grant (note 1)
TREE (Wit1)  =HEE & 0.525% & 01651858 RHBEEH=F EEWREH BEH
(Hi#1)
Ms. Zhao Lin 0.525%  Chief Administration Nil 0.525% Nil 5 January 2016 Three years from No expiration date Nil
Officer the date of grant
#irt 052%  {TH#E & 0.525% & 01671858 RINBHRH=F EERES &
Mr. Chen Xiang 0.525%  Executive Director Nil 0.525% Nil 5 January 2016 Three years from No expiration date Nil
the date of grant
REfE 0525%  #1EZF & 0.525% & 01671858 RINBHRH=F EERES &
Mr. Wang Pei fnote 1) Non-executive Director Nil 0.525% Nil 5 January 2016 Three years from No expiration date Lapsed
the date of grant (note 1)
IHESE (Wit1)  FaiEs & 0.525% & 201641858 RUBEEN=F BEREH BAR
(Hit1)
Note: Kz -
1. Mr. Huang Annan resigned as an executive Director on 29 March 2017, Ms. 1. HEHMAEBER2017F3A29BHERNTEE - R

Wu Lijuan resigned as the head of financial management division of the
Company on 15 April 2017, Mr. Wang Tao resigned as the chief marketing
officer of the Company on 26 July 2017 and Mr. Wang Pei resigned as a non-
executive Director on 15 March 2018. Therefore, they cannot fulfil their
commitment to 3 years of service from the date of grant under the Pre-IPO
Share Incentive Scheme.

FiEZ+ER2017F4 816 ABHIA QBB EER
ZpeAass - TIERAEE R 201747 26 HEHIARQE
EEAEE R T EB R 2018F 3 A 15 A FTIEH
TES - At BREREBTEERRAABERR
FERAED AT BITE T L B HAE AT = S RIS HRROARGE ©
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Save as disclosed above, no further Incentive Equity Interest has
been offered under the Pre-IPO Share Incentive Scheme and no
further Incentive Equity Interest will be offered thereunder on or
after the Listing Date. For further details, please refer to note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements. Save as disclosed above, the
Company does not have any equity linked agreement.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments during the
Reporting Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules for the Reporting Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.
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MATERIAL EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

(i)

Renewal of construction cooperation framework
agreement

The framework construction services agreement dated 8
April 2016 (“Construction Cooperation Framework
Agreement”) entered into among the Company, Sanya
Fenghuang Xincheng, Sanya Fenghuang Shuiyun, Hainan
Nanhai Xiang Long, Danzhou Shuang Lian and Nanjing Huizhi
(collectively the “Relevant Parties”) as disclosed in the
Prospectus has been expired on 31 December 2018.

On 25 January 2019, the Relevant Parties have agreed to
continue with the arrangement under the Construction
Cooperation Framework Agreement after the expiry of its
term upon similar terms and/or covering similar scope of
services as in the Construction Cooperation Framework
Agreement by entering into of the new construction
cooperation framework agreement entered into among the
Relevant Parties (“2019 Renewal Framework Agreement”),
of which it extends the Construction Cooperation Framework
Agreement for three financial years commencing from 1
January 2019 to 31 December 2021. The 2019 Renewal
Framework Agreement was approved in the extraordinary
general meeting on 29 April 2019.

For more details of the 2019 Renewal Framework
Agreement, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 25 January 2019, 20 February 2019 and 13
March 2019, respectively and the circular of the Company
dated 26 March 2019.
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(ii)
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Formation of subsidiaries

(a)

On 24 April 2019, Nanjing Hailan Estate Co., Ltd.* (F &
BB E % AR A A) (“Nanjing Hailan”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company incorporated
in the PRC in 2019 entered into a cooperation
agreement A (the “Cooperation Agreement A") with
BN IR 5 E F B A BR A B (Guangzhou Ruifeng
Property Development Co., Ltd.*) (“Guangzhou
Ruifeng”), pursuant to which the both parties agreed to
establish a joint venture company (the “Company A")
in the PRC to principally engage in real estate
development in the PRC.

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement A, Nanjing
Hailan will advance up to RMB500 million to the
Company A in 2019 in the form of shareholders’ loan
with an annual interest rate of 12%, subject to capital
needs of the Company A. The Company A shall
principally engage in real estate investment,
development and management in the PRC. Pursuant to
the terms of the Cooperation Agreement A, the
registered capital of the Company A is RMB50 million.
Nanjing Hailan shall contribute RMB27,500,000,
representing 55% of the registered capital of the
Company A, whereas Guangzhou Ruifeng shall
contribute RMB22,500,000, representing 45% of the
registered capital of the Company A.

On 24 April 2019, Nanjing Hailan also entered into
another cooperation agreement B (the “Cooperation
Agreement B") with Zhou Xiaojun (“Mr. Zhou"),
pursuant to which both parties agreed to establish a
joint venture company (the “Company B") in the PRC
to principally engage in real estate development in the
PRC.
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Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement B, Nanjing
Hailan will advance up to RMB500 million to the
Company B in 2019 in the form of shareholders’ loan
with an annual interest rate of 12%, subject to the
capital needs of the Company B. The Company B shall
principally engage in real estate investment,
development and management in the PRC. Pursuant to
the terms of the Cooperation Agreement B, the
registered capital of the Company B is RMB50 million.
Nanjing Hailan shall contribute RMB32,500,000,
representing 65% of the registered capital of the
Company B, whereas Mr. Zhou shall contribute
RMB17,500,000, representing 35% of the registered
capital of the Company B.

For more details of the Cooperation Agreement A and
Cooperation Agreement B, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 24 April 2019.

(iii) Acquisition of land use rights in Zhanjiang, the PRC

On 28 June 2019, Guangzhou Hailan Property Development
Limited* (BN /8 & 5t &= M % B [R 2 7) (“Guangzhou
Hailan”) an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company incorporated in the PRC in 2019, entered into a
confirmation letter (the “Confirmation Letter”) with the
Zhanjiang Public Resources Trading Centre to confirm that
Guangzhou Hailan has successfully won the bid for the
auction for the land use rights of the Land which is located at
the southwest of Binhe New District Section (& 5] 57 [& 1% E&),
Yingbin Avenue (3% A38), Suicheng Town (3338 ), Suixi County
(2% 88), Zhanjiang City (BT 1), Guangdong Province, the PRC at
a consideration of RMB357,390,000.

As a result of successfully winning the bid for the auction, the
State-owned Construction Land Use Rights Assignment
Contract (B 12 5% FA b s5 FA # H1 32 & [F]) was entered into by
Guangzhou Hailan and the Suixi County Natural Resources
Bureau (X XBZBAEIRB) on 9 July 2019.

For more details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 5 July 2019 and 2 September 2019,
respectively.
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(iv) Provision of shareholder loan to a joint venture

82

company

On 15 July 2019, Nanjing Hailan entered into the shareholder
loan agreement (the “Shareholder Loan Agreement”) with
Shenzhen Aolan Estate Co., Ltd* (X JIBEE £ H R 2 7))
(“Shenzhen Aolan”), a company established in the PRC with
limited liability, which is owned as to 51% by Aoyuan Group
(Meizhou) Company Limited* (B & £ B (# M)& R 2 7))
(“Aoyuan Meizhou"), a company established in the PRC
with limited liability and 49% by Nanjing Hailan. Aoyuan
Meizhou is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Aoyuan Group Limited (F Bl BB &£ B x5 B R A 7)), a
company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands
with limited liability, the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(stock code: 3883).

Shenzhen Aolan is solely engaged in the holding of 50%
equity interest in Meizhou Aochuang Estate Co., Ltd.* (1M
™R AT ¥ AR QT acompany established in the PRC
with limited liability which is solely engaged in development
of a land parcel at Meijiang District (18T [&), Meizhou City (18
JNT), Guangdong Province.

Pursuant to the Shareholder Loan Agreement, Nanjing Hailan,
as lender, agreed to provide a shareholder loan of up to
RMB150.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$169.9
million) at an interest rate of 12% per annum to Shenzhen
Aolan. The first drawdown in the principal amount of
approximately RMB66.1 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$74.9 million) was made on 15 July 2019, and the amounts
drawn and outstanding under the Shareholder Loan
Agreement do not have a fixed term of repayment.

The details of the Shareholder Loan Agreement are detailed
in the Company’s announcement dated 16 July 2019.
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(v) Pledge of assets

On 5 June 2019, Sanya Fenghuang Xincheng pledged its
certain properties under development to Hainan branch of
Bank of Communications Co., Limited as to guarantee a
secured term loan facility (the “Facility”) of RMB300,000,000.
Hainan Nanhai Xiang Long is the guarantor of the Facility.

Save as disclosed in this report, there is no material event affecting
the Group which has occurred after the Reporting Period.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The annual results and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the Reporting Period have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Company. Information on
the work of the Audit Committee and its composition are set out in
section headed "Corporate Governance Report” on page 34 of this
annual report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made
specific enquiries with all the Directors, each of the Directors has
confirmed that he/she has complied with the Model Code for the
Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this
annual report.
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AUDITOR

KPMG resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 26
December 2018 and Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited (“Grant
Thornton”) has been appointed as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 11 January 2019 to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of KPMG. Grant Thornton resigned as the
auditor of the Company with effect from 14 June 2019 and Mazars
CPA Limited has been appointed as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 21 June 2019 to fill the casual vacancy following
the resignation of Grant Thornton.

The consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period
have been audited by Mazars CPA Limited who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting. A resolution will be proposed
at the Annual General Meeting to re-appoint Mazars CPA Limited
as the auditor of the Company for the ensuing year.

On behalf of the Board

Zhou Li
Chairperson

Hong Kong, 18 September 2019
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Hailan Holdings Limited (the "Company”), together with its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), is pleased to present this
Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”) to
provide an overview of the Group’s management on significant
issues affecting the operation, and the performance of the Group in
terms of environmental and social aspects.

Preparation Basis and Scope

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) — "“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide"” and has complied with “comply or explain” provision in the
Listing Rules.

This Report summarises the performance of the Group in respect
of corporate social responsibility, covering its operating activities
which are considered as material by the Group — property
development and property investment in the Hainan Province of
People’s Republic of China (“"PRC").

With the aim to optimise and improve the disclosure requirements
in the Report, the Group has taken initiative to formulate policies,
record relevant data, implement and monitor measures.

Reporting Period

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during the
reporting period from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018.

Contact Information
The Group welcomes your feedback on this Report for our

sustainability initiatives. Please contact us by email to
hailankonggu@hailanholdings.com.
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INTRODUCTION

As one of the world's leading property developer located in Hainan
Province with primarily activities in property development and
property investment, the Group is principally engaged in the
business of residential property in Hainan Province. Its projects
include commodity residential properties, commercial properties
and hotels. Property investment projects of the Group include
residential property leasing and parking lots located in tourist
destinations like Sanya, Haiko and Danzhou and targets at mid- and
high-income vacationers from all over the country who spend their
holidays in Hainan Province.

The Group is rooted in the international tourism island of Hainan,
focusing on the development of high-end properties in tourist
areas. The Group upholds four principle values — " Standardisation,
Innovation, Mutual Success and Excellence” and strives to become
a comprehensive developer and operator for creating a better living
environment. At the same time, the Group recognises the
importance of operating in a responsible manner for the
environment and community. We strive to achieve sustainable
development for affordable capital and long-term competitiveness
by integrating environmental and social factors into the
management considerations. Sustainability strategy is based on the
compliance with the legal requirements in the area where we
operate and the opinions from stakeholders. The Group has
established and implemented various policies to manage and
monitor the risks related to environment, employment, operating
practices and community. Details of the management approaches
to sustainable development of different areas are illustrated in this
Report.

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT AND
MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business
depends on the support from its key stakeholders, who (a) have
invested or will invest in the Group; (b) have the ability to influence
the outcomes within the Group; and (c) are interested in or affected
by or have the potential to be affected by the impact of the Group's
activities, products, services and relationships. It allows the Group
to understand risks and opportunities. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship
with each of its key stakeholders.
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Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of the
Group’s roles and duties, strategic plan and business initiatives.
The Group engages with its stakeholders to develop mutually
beneficial relationships and to seek their views on its business
proposals and initiatives as well as to promote sustainability in the
marketplace, workplace, community and environment.

The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained
from the stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous interest in
the Group’'s business activities. The Group has identified key
stakeholders that are important to our business and established
various channels for communication. The following table provides
an overview of the Group's key stakeholders, and various platforms
and methods of communication are used to reach, listen and
respond.

Stakeholders

Expectations

AEBETKREEEASCRBE  BERAZILE
BB nEETEEMEF - AEEES
i@?—irf’\%ﬁﬁéﬁéﬁi?’*}:EﬁiT—irT’\%EEEﬂE']Eﬁ
7 BARSEHASEEREZE R TIETEIN
ﬁﬁ IARIEBT S - TR - (LB RIRE
R HEEE -

AEBERETHSENEHAEEXBEPNR
B EARBERIRELAER - AKHED
BEHRMANEEMEBEZNTIERD
VWERIZEBBRE - TRMAAEENE
ERNERSBEE RENDENT S LS
B

Engagement channels

& HE
Government — Compliance with the law and
BRF regulations
BPERER
— Proper tax payment
BEMTL

— Promote regional economic
development and employment

HPRELCEERLAE

— On-site inspections and checks
EMiR R ks

— Research and discussion through
work conferences, work reports
preparation and submission for
approval in the PRC
FBTIEEE  LERERERNF
BT R Bt F R A 70 I AT

— Annual and interim reports
FERP RS

— Company website
YNGIEER
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Stakeholders

Expectations

Engagement channels

BHE HE SHERE
Shareholders and — Low risk — Annual general meeting and other
Investors B shareholder meetings
BREERESE — Return on the investment RERBAFAE REMKRREAS
=& Bl =R — Annual report and announcements
— Information disclosure and FEWRERAS
transparency — Newsletter
BiiREERE hEE
— Protection of interests and fair — Meeting with investors
treatment of shareholders B EEER
RIERR R kAT F — Company website and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
NEREEREBHERSER AR
Employees — Safeguard the rights and interests of — Meetings and conferences
==l employees eZRERD

RIZ 1R SR RS

— Working environment

TERIR

— Career development opportunities

EXBREHKS

— Self-actualisation

BRER

— Occupational health and safety

BxEmEze

— Training, seminars and briefing
sessions
gl ek e

— Entertainment

[l

— Intranet, emails, circulars and manuals

A - BE AR KT M
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Stakeholders

B E

Customers

5F

Expectations

HE

— Safe and high-quality products
Za RBEEm

— Stable relationship

RERIE

Engagement channels
SHRE

Company website, brochures and
annual report
NEMEY  EEMRFEERS

Email and customer service hotline

— Information transparency BN P RIS AR
AHERE Feedback forms
— Integrity REEFRAE
EAE
— Business ethics
[HES R
Suppliers/Partners — Long-term partnership Business meetings, supplier
HER, SR M REIE AR conferences, phone calls and
— Honest cooperation interviews
HHEEE Xes HERgE  EELED
— Fair and open Review and assessment
NS RN et RarE

— Information resources sharing
BHERLE
— Risk reduction

B {EC /L B
Peers/Industry — Experience sharing Industry conference
Associations KERD= s
EEFERE 375 — Fair competition Site visit

NS RIGRE
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Stakeholders Expectations Engagement channels
BHE HE SHERE
Financial Institutions — Compliance with the law and — Consulting
SEsE regulations 7 7
HPERER — Information disclosure
— Information disclosure BEAEE
B = — Reports
WE
— Communication through relationship
manager
FREFEEER
Media — Transparent information — Company website
Hee &7 A NSIE A
— Communication with media — Media conference
B AE A REREE
Public and — Career opportunities — Volunteering
Communities Tieiks =T
DPBALTRHE — Community involvement — Charity and social investment
w2 RERMHERE
— Environmental responsibilities — Annual reports and announcements
REEME FERERRSE
— Social responsibilities
HEEME

Through general communication with stakeholders, the Group
understands the expectations and concerns from stakeholders. The
feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make more informed
decisions, and to better assess and manage the resulting impact.

The Group have adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG
reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are important
to the business of the Group. All the key ESG issues and key
performance indicators (KPIs) are reported in the Report according
to recommendations of the ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 27 of
the Listing Rules) and the GRI Guidelines.
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The Group have evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG
aspects through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification — Industry Benchmarking

o Relevant ESG areas were identified through the review of
relevant ESG reports of the local and international industry
peers.

° The materiality of each ESG area was determined based on
the importance of each ESG area to the Group through internal
discussion of the management and the recommendation of
ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules).

Step 2: Prioritization — Stakeholder Engagement

o The Group discussed with key stakeholders on key ESG areas
identified above to ensure all the key aspects were covered.

Step 3: Validation — Determining Material Issues

o Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and internal
discussion among the management, the Group’'s
management ensured that all the key and material ESG areas,
which were important to the business development, were
reported and in compliance with ESG Reporting Guide.

As a result of this process carried out in 2018, those important ESG
areas to the Group were discussed in this Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

As one of the world’s leading property developer, the Group
recognizes that it has an obligation to reduce the impact of
our operations on the environment and be accountable for
the resources and materials that are used in our daily
operations. Throughout the year, the Group fully complied
with all of the relevant environmental laws and regulations in
the PRC and Hong Kong, such as the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’'s Republic of China in the PRC
and the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311) in Hong
Kong. Besides, no concluded case regarding environmental
issues was brought against us or our employees. The Group
also regularly updates itself with the latest development of
the applicable laws and regulations on environmental
protection.

Apart from complying with the environmental protection rules
and standards, the Group emphasises environmental
protection and seeks to enhance efficiency in the use of
natural resources and reduce the environmental impact of its
business operation. The Group takes the initiative to
implement the Environmental Protection Management
System since 2017. Upholding the principles of “prevention
first, preventive control, comprehensive solution”, the Group
has formulated a series of management guidelines covering
environmental monitoring, daily environmental management,
specific project environmental management and
environmental incident management. The Group also issues
an environmental protection proposal to staff of the
subsidiaries of the Group, suppliers and business partners so
as to improve the environment as a team. We enhance
employees’ awareness of environmental protection by
education and staff training.

To reduce the environment pressure caused by its operation,
the Group fully switched to a solar power heating system,
replacing diesel stove for supplying domestic hot water, and
reduced the use of fuels in 2017. Moreover, the Group
considers to take further steps in air emission management
and adoption of renewable energy. To improve the quality of
air, the Group fully complies with the environmental
monitoring initiatives conducted by government departments.
We strive for environmentally friendly operation through
mitigating emissions, improving resources efficiency and
reducing significant impacts on the environment.
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A1.

Emissions

As a property developer, the Group recognizes that it
has ethical duties to reduce emissions. Given that all
construction work is provided by external service
providers, the Group's business bears low impact on air
and carbon emissions. In the meantime, the Group fully
complies with all of the relevant environmental laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong where we
operate. These include the Atmospheric Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China (2015) in the PRC, the Motor Vehicle Idling (Fixed
Penalty) Ordinance (Cap. 611) and the Road Traffic
Ordinance (Cap. 374) in Hong Kong. Besides, no
concluded case regarding emissions brought against
the Group or its employees during the year.

Air Pollutants Emission

Air emission control is essential to mitigate
environmental impacts and to protect employees’
health. For our property development projects, the
Group constantly encourages its contractors to adopt
responsible construction practices to reduce air
pollutants emission. For example, continuous sprinkling
is adopted in construction sites to mitigate the spread
of dust. Sealed containers are used for volatile gas to
prevent the gas leakage.

As our property development projects are
subcontracted to construction contractors, we do not
have direct ownership or control on the construction
projects. However, we have a construction department
to closely monitor the construction process carried out
by our subcontractors to mitigate the air pollutants
emission.
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Greenhouse Gas (“GHG"”) Emission

Climate change is gradually concerned by the
community. The Group recognises that climate change
poses a risk to its business and it is committed to
mitigating the effects of climate change. GHG is
considered as one of the major contributors of the
climate change.

Regarding GHG emissions of the Group, scope 1 direct
emissions and scope 2 indirect emissions are mainly
resulted from combustion of fuels in mobile sources
and purchased electricity respectively. Giving the
majority of the GHG emissions of the Group come from
energy consumption, the Group tackles the GHG
emission by lowering the energy consumption in our
business operations. Policies and procedures as
described in the section “Use of Resources” to
encourage energy saving have been incorporated
throughout the operations in order to reduce the carbon
footprint. The decrease in the total GHG emissions in
2018 was mainly attributable to the effective
implementation of energy-saving measures in offices to
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reduce electricity consumption during the year. The
GHG emission of the Group during the reporting period
is as follows:

GHG Emission Unit

BERBHK By

Scope 2! tonnes of CO,e 49.75 71.55

EE BoStiEE

Scope 3? tonnes of CO,-e 0.88 1.51

FHE=2 B-EtixEE

Total GHG emission tonnes of CO,-e 50.63 73.06°
BERBINESE BoStiEE

GHG emission intensity tonnes of CO,-e/m? 0.03 0.20°
BRERBEHEREE M-S kiEE/ FhK

Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the purchased electricity consumed by the Group.
EE— : REAKEINEE N2 BEHE -

Scope 3: Indirect emissions from business travel by employees.

HE= : EEEBIRITZ HEHEN

The amounts reported for the previous year 2017 have been restated in this report.

AEFRE 2017 F2HOBECRAREHED -
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Waste Management

The Group recognises the importance of waste
reduction. Waste management measures have been
introduced to minimise the amount of waste generated
and reduce impact of our operation on the environment.
Due to our business operation nature, no hazardous
waste was generated during the reporting period.

Due to the nature of office operation, the non-hazardous
waste mainly consists of domestic waste and paper
waste which are collected by the property management
company for landfill or incineration. In the future, the
Group plans to implement waste sorting, promote
recycling in the office and provide clearer sorting
guidance for staff as well as encourage them to reduce
waste at source. Besides, the Group takes initiative to
reduce the paper waste amount by encouraging its
employees to use double-sided printing.

For the property development projects, the Group has
implemented “paperless policy” and has published the
Notice on the Regulation of Waste Discharge of
Construction Projects, requiring all business units to
strictly comply with the relevant laws and regulations of
China in terms of waste discharge, drainage design and
construction. The director, who is responsible for the
design and engineering, assesses the design and
construction plans and monitors the entire construction
process according to the project management policies
and guidelines of the Group. Therefore, we can avoid
deviation from waste discharge standard due to design
failures or delay in construction. The Group also requires
its contractors to sort, classify and recycle (if applicable)
the construction and demolition waste produced.
Construction and demolition waste that cannot be
recycled is delivered to landfills by qualified wastes
management companies and recyclable waste is
processed by recycling companies.
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In 2018, daily office operation is the source of
commercial waste. During the year, the decrease in
amount of non-hazardous wastes was mainly
attributable to the Group's effort on implementing
waste-free initiatives in reducing wastes. The waste
generated by the Group during the reporting period is

R2018F - HEWAEEZ M
EBEEYNRR - NEER - BE
BEEDHEERL I EBEHNAEE
BMAONEBITRS EEZENNTEEY
i o AEBRREHRNEERE
ZYIR

as follows:
Wastes Unit 2018 2017
BEZEY) By 2018 £ 2017
Non-hazardous waste generated tonnes 0.12 3.61
FREEJBEREY T8
Non-hazardous waste generated intensity tonnes/m? 0.0001 0.0100
FEEBREREENEE Mg, EF K

A2. Use of Resources

The Group considers environmental protection as an
essential component of a sustainable and responsible
business. The Group has an in-depth understanding of
the importance of safeguarding sustainable
development of the environment and this to attach
importance to efficient utilization of resources by
introducing various measures in daily business
operations. It understands that staff participation is the
key to achieve such goals. The Group strives to build up
a working environment that emphasizes the “Green
office” and “Low Carbon” policy such as a set of
guidelines to improve the efficient use of resources for
long-term sustainability. The Group has also adopted
policies such as “Energy Resource Control Procedure”
to improve the efficient use of energy, water and other
materials.
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Energy

The Group promotes the concept of energy saving and
emission reduction into the entire process of its
development and operation. In the meantime, the
Group puts effort to promote energy saving awareness
among its staff by posting related reminders or
messages through emails, recommending them to
switch off all the lights, computers and printers by the
end of the work day. The Group encourages all of its
employees to set their computers to sleep-mode
automatically when left idle for a certain period of time.
Printers and copiers are also set to sleep-mode
automatically for the computers.

In order to keep pace with the market trends, the Group
regularly upgrades its existing facilities such as replacing
outdated computers, phones and other electrical
appliances to meet the needs of our customers and
enhance operational efficiency. The Group adheres to
environmental protection and waste reduction principles
for its upgrading processes, and reuses existing
facilities and materials wherever possible, so as to
reduce waste. Meanwhile, it also actively uses eco-
friendly equipment for any replacement. With these
measures, not only can the energy consumption be
saved, but also the GHG emission can be reduced.
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In relation to office operation, the Group's lighting
system has fully adopted LED energy-saving light tubes
to increase energy efficiency. Office daily operation
involves a significant number of documents. Through
the information management system, the Group aims
at creating a paperless environment. Staff could reduce
paper consumption by conducting internal document
approval and downloading training materials through the
system. The decrease in total energy consumption in
2018 is mainly attributable to the effective
implementation of office energy saving measures,
which led to the reduction in purchased electricity
consumption. The energy consumption of the Group
during the reporting period is as follows:

HER %&%ﬁD%%%%'%%
RS -  HAEHELEIRA
ENMHER - AEEBRENER
S ?5(775\_4,“,&5&1% e BT A
A 8 5% RS E1T N BB S E It
JRAT A T 8T -J‘I%%ﬂ R AR ERAE
e R2018F BRI IEE
AR AZEEE BN ERUEE
EBHYHNEE ERER LD o RREH
RAEEMEREREDT ¢

Energy Unit 2018 2017
HEIR By 2018 £ 2017 &
Purchased electricity MWh 92.03 135.75
HNEE N JKEFLBF
Total energy consumption MWh 92.03 185, 7%"
4B EFE JKFL B
Energy consumption intensity MWh/m? 0.061 0.010*
RERHMEEE IKFLBE TR

Water 7k

Water is an important natural resource. For water
consumption in Hong Kong office, the water supply is
solely controlled and centrally managed by the property
management company of the building, it is not feasible
for the Group to provide water consumption data as
there is no separate meter for each individual office unit
on water usage record. However, we still actively seek
ways to mitigate water consumption. For example, the
Group encourages water recycling by connecting the
washbasin outlet pipe to a water storage tank to use
wastewater for toilet flushing. Besides, the Group
conducts regular inspection of each operation stage to
minimize leakage and wastage as well as posts posters
in office to encourage employees to save water.

4 The amounts reported for the previous year 2017 have been restated in this report.

LEFE2017 FERMVEFED R ARSEHET -
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A3.

The decrease in water consumption in 2018 was mainly
attributable to higher levels of environmental awareness
and effective implementation of water-saving campaign
during the year. During the reporting period, the water
consumption is as follows:

R2018FWAKER D - LT E
THRAAFERREMES AR
HEITEIKEE) « RS EIR - AKX
=3NS

2018 Total 2017 Total
2018 F45t 2017 4
Water consumption m?3 1,322 1,481
ke SR
Water intensity m®/m? 0.88 3.48
IKEE SFHR K
The Environment and Natural Resources A3. BERKXKAER

The Group understands that implementing
environmental protection can reduce operational risk
and increase business opportunities. To protect the
environment and minimize the impacts associated with
our property development projects, the Group has
commissioned an independent third-party
environmental consultant to conduct environmental
impact assessments for all completed and under
construction projects to identify the potential impact of
the projects and look for alternative solutions or
measures to reduce pollution. The Group also reviews
its air pollutants and GHG emissions and use of
resources policies to make improvement whenever
necessary.
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In order to enhance management of environmental
incident and environmental risks, the Group formulates
the relevant management requirements. In case of
pollution incidents, the relevant departments must
immediately adopt emergency response measures and
begin investigation to prevent and control the hazard
concerned. When signing construction contracts with
external contractors, the Group makes sure that both
parties understand the environmental requirements and
standards of the project. The construction units
responsible for environmental complementary facilities
must hold relevant identification documents to prove
their relevant qualifications and prevent pollution in the
process of construction. During the year, there was no
internal reported case or case of non-compliance in
relation to emissions and the environment within the
Group.

Social Aspects

The Group recognizes that maintenance of strong,
healthy and friendly business relations with employees,
supply chains, and a business is connected or expected
to have a connection, whether internal or external, is
the foundation for the Group’'s success and
development. The Group highly considers employees
as important assets and is committed to earning
respect from employees, maintaining work-life balance,
and making them to grow together with us. With
supporting business sustainable development, the
Group works closely with suppliers to manage social
risks. Also, with a goal of understand the needs and
interests of communities where the issuer operates,
the Group takes its own initiatives to actively contribute
to the society in various ways.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

B1.

Employment

The Group values staff and the contribution that they make. It
has a set of human resources management policies and
procedures in place with the aim to provide a good working
environment to employees where they can have a safe and
healthy workplace to engage and perform to the satisfaction
of the Group.

The Group is committed to creating a diverse, inclusive and
respectful working environment. This is in line with the
corporate value of the Group and helps improve the
Company’s competitiveness and staff productivity. The Group
prescribes employment terms related to remuneration,
recruitment, dismissal, work hours, equal opportunities, anti-
discrimination and related human resources management
issues in the Staff Handbook.

To attract and retain quality talents, the Group offers
comprehensive staff welfare benefits, including elderly
pension, medical insurance, unemployment insurance, work
injury insurance and birth insurance as well as body checks,
festive expense, meal subsidies, car purchasing rewards and
travel rewards, on top of what is prescribed by laws and
regulations.

The Group is concerned with the career development of staff
and encourages them to formulate their own career
development plan. The Group has in place an internal
recruitment procedure and encourages staff to apply for our
vacancies. High performing staff can receive opportunities of
promotion and development. Besides, the Group conducts
staff performance review on monthly, quarterly, half-yearly
and yearly basis. Furthermore, the Group uses the
performance assessment results as a basis for distributing
bonuses. Feedback in the performance review helps staff
improve their performance continuously.
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The Group strives to promote diversity and inclusiveness in
the workplace to ensure equal opportunity of employment
and promotion. Staff do not receive differential treatment due
to factors such as lineage, birth or marital status, race,
religion, age, nationality, social or ethnic groups, sexual
orientation, gender, political view or disabilities. The Group
has formulated the board diversity policy. In the future, the
Group will review the current policy and evaluate on how to
refine the Employment Guideline in relation to equal
opportunities, diversity and anti-discrimination.

The Group encourages staff to maintain two-way
communication with their seniors. They can discuss any
difficulties at work with their seniors through various channels
such as email, interview or the Group’'s information
dissemination channels. The Group has established the “Staff
Home" platform. Apart from providing various information
about the Company such as news and announcement,
internal periodicals, new government policies and staff
activity updates, it also provides an online exchange platform
for staff to save personal files and express their opinion in
forums, knowledge centers and personal blogs.

In case of any personal interest violation, the staff could lodge
a verbal or written complaint to the division management or
the general manager. Upon receiving the complaint, the
Group will conduct an investigation about the staff concerned
and decide on the method of handling the matter based on
the results of investigation. Exit interviews will be arranged
between the resigning staff and the human resources
department or his/her supervisor to gather feedback from
staff.
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The Group strictly complies with the national laws and the
system of the Group, and to refuse violation of business
ethics. Throughout the year, the Group fully complied with all
of the relevant laws and regulations in the countries and
regions, such as the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57), the
Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608), the Labour Law of the
People’'s Republic of China, and other relevant regulations
where we operated without violating the relevant rules and
regulations including the workers’ wages and overtime
payments. Related benefits are made with reference to the
local minimum wage standard. Holidays and statutory paid
leaves are in compliant with the requirements in the PRC and
Hong Kong. In this year, there were no cases of non-
compliance related to labour and employment practices nor
complaints in relation to discrimination within the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had 25
employees in the PRC and Hong Kong. The employee
breakdown by gender, age group, employment category and
geographical region is as follow:

Male
Eshia

B Female

g3

M Senior Management

BRERRE
B Middle Management
Employment S IR E
Category

B General

R R 25!
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Age 30 or below

30pRBIAT
B Age 31-40
Age Group 31-40%
FRE B Age 41-50
41-505%
B Age 51 or above
5153 A |
. B Hong Kong
Geographical e
Region The PRC
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B2.

The employee turnover rates by gender, age group and REEEAR - LR~ FEEE Mty
geographical region during the reporting period are as follows: BEISEISMEE REAZRNT :
Unit 2018
Employee turnover BERLE By 2018 £
By gender R BI85
Male S % 38
Female % % 50
By age group BREREE D
31-40 years old 31-407% % 21
41-50 years old 41-507% % 100
51 years old and above 51 RIAE % 18
By geographical region i ENEE D
The PRC H % 21
Hong Kong B % 56
Overall = % 41
Health and Safety B2. REEZ2
The Group regards occupational health and safety as its most AEBIEBRERFELERABPERR
important aspect of corporate risk management. The Group ERESREENRE -  ARBRIRETH
strictly complies with Occupational Safety and Health e MEEBEIRGIA K BB EEN S
Ordinance and Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Ee RAFE - NEEI MR HRERE
Treatment of Occupational Diseases. In this year there were NE2 R RERSERITEREER -

no cases of non-compliance in relation to health and safety or
work-related injury within the Group.
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B3.

The Group not only strictly implements relevant laws and
regulations but also proactively formulates internal policies
and standards related to specific business departments of the
Group. The Group's Staff Handbook emphasises safety
disciplines including the execution of safety system, the 5s
management (organization, rectification, clearing, cleaning
and personal qualities) of workplace, protection and operation
standards of construction safety, etc. Staff should abide by
the Production Safety Law and the Group's safety
management regulations and follows the relevant
requirements of safety system certifications. The Group
arranges health checks for staff with over one year of service
annually to ensure they have good physical health. The Group
also provides them with a Work Safety Handbook to enhance
their safety awareness.

The Group has established an internal policy on safety
management and has assigned different safety compliance
duties to different teams in order to reduce potential risk with
clear division of labour. For construction sites, the engineering
management department of the Group is responsible for
security management and prevention of construction site
accidents while the safety management team is in charge of
the monitoring of the entire construction process of the
project to protect safety of staff.

Development and Training

The Group is committed to providing continuous training and
learning opportunities to employees to develop their talents
and to expand the Group’s business. The Group has provided
numerous development opportunities throughout the year to
employees at all levels. These include induction training, firm-
wide training and department-specific training. All employees
have equal access to training and development opportunities.
We have established an employee self-education subsidy
programme with the aim to encourage employee to continue
self-development. We also operate a new staff mentoring
scheme, aiming to equip new members of the staff with
necessary knowledge and skills to help them adjust to their
new positions.
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In future, the Group will continue to provide a wider range of
job-related training programmes to our employees. Besides,
we will consider to enhance employee self-education subsidy
programme to encourage more employees to participate in
the training programmes. We will also consider and establish
a staff training profile to identify the training need of each
employee.

The detailed breakdown of the percentage of employees
trained and the average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category is as follows:

(hours/employee)
FHSIRY
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Average
training hours Percentage of
employee

trained (%)

Training £Z 3 (I ER) EEZIED (%)
By gender R BIE 5

— Male — 3 6.8 56
— Female — 5.2 86
By employment category REEERE S

— Senior management — R ERRE 38 50
— General ——REE 10.0 86

B4. Labour Standards

The Group is committed to protecting human rights in
workplace and has zero tolerance to the use of child or forced
labour during our operation. The Group understands that child
labour and forced labour violate fundamental human rights
and international labour conventions and may constitute
threat to the social and economic sustainability. According to
the Staff Handbook, the Group strictly complies with the law
in its recruitment process to prohibit the hiring of individuals
aged under 16 and any form of forced labour or involuntary
labour. The Group will review the actual age of new hires by
checking their identity documents and making detailed
records. Under the overtime work management system of
the Group, staff can receive rest periods or overtime subsidy
based on the nature of overtime work to avoid involuntary
overtime work. The Group respects staff’s right of association
and collective bargaining via legal and peaceful means.
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The Group strictly complies with the Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labor issued by the State Council
of the People’'s Republic of China. According to the
“Prohibition of Child Labour Control Procedure” of the Group,
person under aged 16 is not allowed to work in the Group.
The Group respects the right and freedom of employees as
stipulated in “Prohibition of forced labour control procedure”.
During the reporting period, the Group did not have any cases
related to child labour or forced labour.

OPERATING PRACTICES

B5.

Supply Chain Management

As a property developer, the Group actively cooperates with
contractors for property construction services. The Group
recognises contractors and other suppliers as valuable
stakeholders within the supply chain. Their responsible
business behaviours are crucial in contributing to quality
excellence of the property, operational efficiency and good
reputation of the Group. In pursuit of this goal, the Group has
formulated the Supplier Management Practice Guide to
regulate management of construction projects and suppliers
of services. The Guide defines the main duties of relevant
departments of the Group and provides clear guidance with
regard to procedures such as the ranking and categorisation
management of suppliers, qualifications management,
selection and assessment, relationship maintenance and
conflict management and handling of noncompliance.

The Group encourages contractors and subcontractors to use
more environmentally friendly equipment and facilities and to
adopt more environmentally friendly new technologies. When
contracts are signed with external subcontractors, the Group
will make sure that both parties understand the environmental
requirements and regulations. Construction units responsible
for environmental facilities must hold relevant certificates
from their seniors or government departmental heads.
Construction units must avoid pollution at all costs during
their work. In case of vegetation damage, the construction
units must adopt recovery measures to reduce the negative
impact on the environment.

B5.
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BEREZ - HWMBART AEBGIE
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B6.

The Group equally values the social performance of its supply
chain. In this year, the Group issued an open letter to remind
all business partner units to refrain from offering gifts or
benefits of any kind to staff of the Group. Company name will
be removed from the Group's directory of partners for non-
compliance. The Group encourages business partners to
lodge complaints against or report on staff who request for
benefits. Both the Group and its business partners have to
sign the Anti-Corruption Agreement and abide by laws and
regulations of the PRC and the Group in relation to anti-
corruption. At the same time, the Group also requires
construction contractors to assume responsibility for
protecting its workers’ safety on the construction sites and
purchase insurance for them. During the year, we had 33
suppliers in the PRC.

Product Responsibility

The Group recognises that achieving high quality standard of
property development projects and delivering quality product
and services to our customers are crucial to sustainable
growth of the Group. Hence, the Group has stringent control
of property development projects and data protection policy
to protect the interest of our customers. The Group is in strict
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations related
to product responsibility, including Product Quality Law of the
PRC and Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance. During the
reporting period, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance on product responsibility issues.

The Group has also formulated a quality control procedure to
conduct regular monitoring through the internal team and an
independent monitoring company to ensure that all projects
comply with relevant regulations and the standards of the
Group in every stage so that quality and safe buildings can be
provided for the public. Before delivering the property to the
buyer, the customer service management department and
the quality monitoring company conduct a final check to
ensure the quality of the property meets the prescribed
standard.
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B7.

In addition, the Group complies with laws and regulations
related to advertising and labelling by stating in detail the
maintenance period, definition of maintenance liability and
maintenance boundary in the commodity property sales
contract, the residential building user guide and residential
property quality warranties. In case of any construction
problems, clients can reach the Group by visiting the property
centre, making a phone appointment or complaining in the
WeChat group. Then, the Group will schedule repair work
accordingly.

Apart from formulating quality control and building
maintenance procedures, the real estate advertisement of
the Group complies with the law and refrain from
disseminating any misleading information. To protect clients’
information, the Group has included related confidentiality
requirements in the Staff Handbook. To protect clients’
interest, staff must keep the Group’s confidential documents
and internal information safe; these include contracts,
agreements, statement of intention, feasibility report and all
demand and supply information and client profiles.

Anti-Corruption

The Group is committed to operating with a high standard of
integrity and accountability. The Group strives to prevent
illegal behaviour such as corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering. The Staff Handbook of the Group
regulates the code of conduct and work ethics of staff. Staff
cannot request or accept remuneration from related business
contacts. In case gifts or commissions are received in
external business dealings, it should be handed in to the
Group according to the Gift Management System. The staff
should not use company resources to obtain personal
benefits. The Group has formulated the Hailan Holdings
Whistleblowing System to encourage clients, staff,
shareholders and business partners to report fraudulent
behaviour. The Group will keep the identity of the whistle-
blower strictly confidential. The whistle-blower can report to
the audit and legal departments anonymously. The Group will
also award staff who report non-compliance or offer hints. In
this year, there were no reported cases, litigation nor cases
of non-compliance related to corruption within the Group.
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COMMUNITY H=E

B8. #HERE

B8. Community Investment

The real estate business is closely connected to community
building. The Group endeavours to understand the needs of
the community where it operates. The Group has formulated
the Corporate Social Responsibility Work Management
Mechanism to include social responsibility efforts in the daily
management work planning. When selecting business
partners, the Group will give priority to suppliers located in
Hainan in order to strengthen the relationship between the
Group and the local community.

By helping our society to build a healthy and energetic
community, the Group contributes to sustainable
development in the community. Between April and
September every year, the Group will organise a large-scale
community campaign in Sanya Phoenix Water City. To
promote community interaction, the Group has initiated
diverse community networking activities which include
interest groups, health activities and cultural and festival
activities. Besides, residents can use a sports mobile app to
accumulate personal mileage in exchange for gifts. Residents
can also choose to donate their mileages on complementary
facilities in the city.

Apart from developing community networking activities, the
Group liaised with charitable organizations around the area to
conduct fund raising activities through an online platform. The
Group organised the “Read for the Blind” campaign by
utilizing the WeChat platform to allow users donate their
voice. Each participating resident can donate one minute of
reading through their cell phones for the blind.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

REPORTING INDEX

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPlIs)

TREE - #F  —REERBERNER (BREXER)

A. Environmental

BRI e RERBERS

Section
=6/

A. BB

A1: Emissions

Al BERRY)

General Disclosure “Emissions” 92-93
—MR#EE [ HEn ]

KPI'AT.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions “Emissions — Air Pollutants 93
FATERIEIZ | data Emission”

A1.1 HERUiE S AR B BUE [HER — Z= 5 28R |

KPI' A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where “Emissions — Greenhouse 94
RASEFEMIEIZ | appropriate, intensity Gas Emission”

A1.2 BERBANENR (ER) REE [HER — R =R EEHER

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where Not applicable to the Group’s N/A
RASRFERNIEIZ | appropriate, intensity business. TEA
A1.3 FEXEEEEMBEER (WER) REE TSE AR B R 5

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where “Emissions — Waste 95-96
BASEFEMIEIZ | appropriate, intensity Management”

Al.4 FEEEEREYEES R (ER) REE [HERY) — BEYE TR

KPI'A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and “Emissions — Greenhouse 94
RASEFEMIEIZ | results achieved Gas Emission”

A1.5 8 LR K PR 2 A FE BE R FT1S AR [HEn) — R EREHER

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous “Emissions — Waste 95-96
RARFEIETZ | wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results Management”

A1.6 achieved [FEntn — EEE R )

HlRIEEEREZFEEYN X
e X FT 8 A R

RIEELEENE
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls)
TREER - G —BREERARENIES (ARBERER)

A2: Use of Resources

Section
=68

RS EIRRE N RARAERNE
EEAEYENTY

FERDIRE

A2 : BRER
General Disclosure “Use of Resources” 96
—MRIRE [ &R
KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in “Use of Resources — 97-98
RESETERUEIZ | total and intensity Energy”
A2.1 REAESNEER SHEEERREE [ERER —seR]
KPI' A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity “Use of Resources — 98-99
BREBUEER | BFEKEREE Water”
A2.2 [&ERER — K]
KPI' A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and “Use of Resources — 97-98
BASETERUIEIZ | results achieved Energy”
A2.3 Ha g R e A e mt Bl R P 1S R [ERER — sk
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing “Use of Resources — 98-99
RAEFEMIEIZ | water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency Water”
A2.4 initiatives and results achieved [EIREA — K]

8 2 SKE G A KR AT B R R RE - LA 3R K R as

B SSIEEIES
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products Not applicable to the Group's N/A
FASEFERIEIZ | and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced | business. i
A2.5 PEGHEEBMEENEXNGMAMTABREMENEE (R | TEARAEENER -

#EA)
A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
A3 : IRIBERRAEIR
General Disclosure “The Environment and 99-100
—RR IR R Natural Resources”

[RIERRAER]

KPI' A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on “The Environment and 99-100
RASRTEZNIEIZ | the environment and natural resources and the Natural Resources”
A3.1 actions taken to manage them [IRIBERRAEZIR]
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls) Section
TREER - € —REEREARENIES (ARBERER) E=14:1]
B. Social
B.#&
Employment and Labour Practices
EBEREIER
B1: Employment
B1: &%
General Disclosure “Employment” 100-104
—MRIRE [EfE]
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age “Employment” 100-104
RAHRFEIEIZ | group and geographical region [EfE ]
B1.1 MR EEEE - FRAR RIMEES S M ES B
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and “Employment” 100-104
BASRIEMIEIR | geographical region K=
B1.2 ZIER - FiER RibE S D RS RAK X
B2: Health and safety
B2 : @REZ S
General Disclosure “Health and Safety” 104-105
—MRIRE [ERELE ]
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities “Health and Safety” 104-105
BRBAIER | AILEBEMETHAB R X [EREZ S
B2.1
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury “Health and Safety” 104-105
BRERUERE | BLGEAXIERH [EREZE ]
B2.2
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety “Health and Safety” 104-105
RA#FEIEIZ | measures adopted, how they are implemented and [ 2]
B2.3 monitored
Fa R P ER AN B B SR R R ER 2 245 1t - LA AR TT X
BERAE
B3: Development and Training
B3 : & K
General Disclosure “Development and Training” | 105-106
— MBI [ 2 K&
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employee trained and employee “Development and Training” | 105-106
RABETEMIEIZ | category [ZER M sl
B3.1 XilEE RS KIEE R
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee “Development and Training” | 105-106
RA#TEIEIZ | by gender and employee category [ZRERE]
B3.2 BURIREEERIE S - BEEETKZIIN Fak

2
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls) Section

TREER - G —BREERARENIES (ARBERER) E=14:]
B4: Labour Standards
B4 : T %A
General Disclosure “Labour Standards” 106-107
—MRIRE [4 TR
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment “Labour Standards” 106-107
RASRFEMIEIZ | practices to avoid child and forced labour [4 T8
B4.1 AR S R I g9 FE b LA 2 F T R o& Hil45 T
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices | — -
RASETERUIEIZ | when discovered
B4.2 Fa A 2 3R 8 FR B LR JE R B BA 1B S P ERER Y 25 B
Operating Practices
EEEN

B5: Supply Chain Management
B5 : @ E IR

General Disclosure “Supply Chain 107-108
—RRIEEE Management”
[rEsEE I |

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region “Supply Chain 107-108
FRENER | REEDMEEREE Management”
B5.1 [ s e e |
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging “Supply Chain 107-108
RASEFEMIEIZ | suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices Management”
B5.2 are being implemented, how they are implemented [ E

and monitored

BB EEENED - mERTHEBEENH

JEREE - AR BBEOINNITRERTA
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls)

TREE - €  —REERBERNER (BREXER)

B6: Product Responsibility

B6 : EmEE

Section
=68

General Disclosure “Product Responsibility” 108-109
—MRIRE [EmEE]
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject - -
BAEFEMIEIZ | to recalls for safety and health reasons
B6.1 EENEEXREmAR P E L 2 EERIP A mAR K

BB DL
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints “Product Responsibility” 108-109
RASEIERIEIZ | received and how they are dealt with [EmET]
B6.2 REBNEMERBEORFERE AREE A
KPI B6.3 Description and practices relating to observing and - -
RAEREMIEIZ | protecting intellectual property rights
B6.3 B EE R AR IS KNG E A eV 1B
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall “Product Responsibility” 108-109
RASFEWIEIZ | procedures [EmEE]
B6.4 B S0 F B REmBIWIZF
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy “Product Responsibility” 108-109
RASEFERIEIZ | policies, how they are implemented and monitored [EmEE]
B6.5 OB E ERHRE RALEBER - ARMBERITRE

BIA
B7: Anti-corruption
B7 : R&A
General Disclosure “Anti-corruption” 109
—MRHEE [REF]
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt “Anti-corruption” 109
RAETERIEIZ | practices brought against the issuer or its employees | [R&75
B7.1 during the reporting period and the outcomes of the

case

RERARNHETASEEERETEEENETH

ARG EE RFDRER
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- “Anti-corruption” 109
RA#FERUIEIZ | blowing procedures, how they are implemented and | [[R &5 |
B7.2 monitored

i By EE 4 bt S R RAZ Y - A RABRARIT REE R A
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls) Section
TREER - G —BREERARENIES (ARBERER) E=14:]
Community
HE

B8: Community Investment

B8 : @I E

General Disclosure “Community Investment” 110
—MRIRE [HtRE ]

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, “Community Investment” 110
RASEFEMIEIZ | environmental concerns, labour needs, health, [$LEIEE ]

B8.1 culture, sport)

BITEREE(NHE  REEE SITHER F -
Xt - #5)

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the “Community Investment” 110
BASRIEMIEIZ | focus area [ttEIZE ]
B8.2 EEIEHBABAEIR (NS ERRE)
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Independent Auditor’s Report
T8 1z BRED

mMAZARS
b B R K

To the shareholders of Hailan Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hailan
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 129 to 283, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2018, and of its financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Mazars CPA LIMITED
W2 IR (U ) ot imge s A A4

42nd Floor, Central Plaza,

18 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
T U VA A 1 8 5%

FRER S 40

Tel F & : (852) 2909 5555

Faxf¥ £L : (852) 2810 0032
Email FE % : info@mazars.hk
Website# ik : www.mazars.hk
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

FRENEER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional  EA#EZE T ETH 2 F PRI 2 M R 5 E T
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the ARE4MGEEHRRNBARZAETENSTH &
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These (LEBEBIRERPIEANBESEVERRLEA
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the BRFETERIEN @ BT L ELEIFIEMH
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our EBEEHHER -

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.

REFYRRIGEHECBRYFAIEE

Valuation of properties under development and completed properties held for sale

ERERE MR ENE 1516

Refer to Notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements

The Key Audit Matter
BHRENSEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMWETNETEEZSEE

At 31 December 2018, the Group’'s properties under
development and completed properties held for sale
were stated at RMB2,429 million and RMB486 million
respectively. As disclosed in Note 2.4 to the
consolidated financial statements, the properties
under development and completed properties held for
sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value (“NRV").

2018512 A31H - ERBEERTMERFEHE
EERMESIRNZINAARE2429BBTRARKE
486 B BT - MAER A B MAM T 2.4 EE - RS
MERSEHECEXYERKARAIZEFE (7
SRFEDOHREEZT] -

NRV is determined by reference to the estimated
selling prices of properties sold in the ordinary course
of business less selling expenses and estimated costs
of completion and costs to be incurred in selling the
properties. The cost of residential properties and
carparks of the Group may not be recoverable if their
selling prices have declined, or if their estimated costs
of completion or the estimated costs to be incurred to
make the sale have increased.

AR FEDN2ENEFEKBETEHEMENMG
STEE - RMIHERAX REKAEFTR AR EEMEE
HERIARETE o WEE T L S B R A aT AR
SHEPTEARNGETRAREN Bl EEEEEMER
BB HBAT—E AT E -

Our key audit procedures to assess the NRV of the
Group's properties under development and completed
properties held for sale included the following:

Bst EREERPYERSEHEECEXKMENTA
BRFENENEFRENTERER

o conducting site visits to property development
sites and discussing with management the
progress and development budgets reflected in
the NRV calculations and the latest forecasts for
each property development project;

e HYFEHRBEEETRSER WHEEEEHRRX
AR # IR FEFTENIER EENERKARBE L
RaWEERIARWRINTER

o obtaining and inspecting the NRV calculations
prepared by management and assessing the
qualifications and experience of those individuals
who prepared the calculations;

e HBEkREHEEEREMAIBIFEAER I
AHEEEREAEROATHER LR ;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BHRETERE (A

BRETYRERIFEHECELYFA1EE (F)

Valuation of properties under development and completed properties held for sale (Continued)

AL B RERM T 15K 16 ()

Refer to Notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter (Continued)
BRESE ()

How the matter was addressed in our audit (Continued)

BMHOFNAEEZER ()

The calculation of the NRV of each property
development project at the financial reporting date is
performed by the Group’s management. The
estimation of NRV of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale involves
significant management judgement and estimation in
preparing and updating project feasibility studies and
estimations of the costs to complete each property
development project as well as in assessing the
expected future selling prices for each property and
the estimated future selling costs.
BEEYMEZFRBANME RS BB AT R FENGT
ﬁm EXEEERELET  BRITUELFEHER
EREA SR FENGT IR EEEN R RERN
EETH&W%@xW%%%%EEE%$WE§M
KA LRI AR R EHYENE B R RRFEEKR
FHEELEER A E A

The management assessed the NRV of land under
development by reference to the valuations carried
out by an independent qualified professional valuer
(the “Valuer”).
ERE2EBFIEEBRBEMEM(HER])ETH
HEHERP LR AT &R FE -

assessing the appropriateness of the estimated
selling prices of the properties for sale used by the
management with reference to the latest market
prices achieved in the same projects or by
comparable properties, including an evaluation of
the appropriateness of the comparable properties
used by the management of the Group based on
our knowledge of the Group’s business and the
PRC real estate industry;
SDER-BEANAI BB ERRHFHNREHTE - ]
BEMYE ESEEEBKTBEFEMETENRE
FHMEEEEMERANSEHEDENEAEERS
S8 BENE ESEEREAMEANATELR
MERLTEIE

evaluating management’s budgets, by reconciling
the significant cost elements to signed
construction contracts, benchmarking the
percentage of cost component, and evaluating the
reasonableness of the estimated cost to
completion of the properties under development
and completed properties held for sale, on a
sample basis, by comparing the cost to actual
development cost of similar completed properties
and comparing the adjustments made by the
management to current market data and assessing
if they are updated on a timely basis to reflect any
changes in implementation of management'’s

plans;
RBRERNKATER B RFEES RETRE MU
AHMEEIRERSE  AMERAAERERD BB D KT

Rk L B A IR LUE O E R BFR B R -
AR L 88 I8 B S BRI T S5 B RHE L A0 FI B - BA
AHA B RPYE NS EEE B E R AR
RAEERERFHERERERDERERUR
REEEBIEITRETNEMES
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

FHRETERE (A

BEPYERIFEHECERYFE A 141E (F)

Valuation of properties under development and completed properties held for sale (Continued)

LGB REM T 15K 16 ()

Refer to Notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter (Continued)
BRESE ()

How the matter was addressed in our audit (Continued)

RMHOFMAEEZER ()

We identified the assessment of NRV of the Group's
properties under development and completed
properties held for sale as a key audit matter because
of the inherent risks involved in estimating the costs
to complete each property development project and
the future selling prices for each property
development project, particularly in light of the current
economic circumstances in the People's Republic of
China (the "PRC").

BAE#A BESEERTUDERSEHEESEXD
ENFERFENGRERESEE  RAZMTT
EMFEZERBEANKARSMERREBROHARKRE
BPReER R - FRlIRERPEARLFE( H
B 1) BRI EEAR

re-performing the calculations made by
management in arriving at the year end
assessments of NRV on a sample basis;

HRETE B iR B F R AT B B E N MR A
EITEHE

reviewing the valuation from the Valuer and
discussing with management and the Valuer to
understand the valuation basis and methodology
used, and underlying assumptions;

HAAEMEELREIEEREER®
FEFTE AR EREERTTE - ARABEERE

AT

evaluating the objectivity, independence and
competency of the Valuer; and

AHEMERAEEME  BIERED R

performing sensitivity analyses to determine the
extent of changes in those estimates and
assumptions which, either individually or
collectively, would be required for the properties
under development and completed properties held
for sale to be materially misstated and considering
the likelihood of such a movement in those key
estimates arising.

EITHRES T UWETEREREPMEREFER
BEERRYELRBERARBATNZEME KKK
(TmeER R NEBRE  TEERZETE
HMELREBEHH AN
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BHRETERE (A

Assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets

AT A A B 2R B B Y AT K [

Refer to Note 24(b) to the consolidated financial statements

B 2Rk B B SRR M i 24(b)

The Key Audit Matter
BRENSEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMWETNETREEZSER

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had recognised
deferred tax assets of RMB198 million, mainly in
respect of the accrued expenses and future benefit of
accumulated tax losses considered to be recoverable
within a certain period before the tax losses expire.
201812 A31H » EXECHRRERIEEEA
R¥198BEL  TES LB RANTIABIERH —
R BA R A W [a] B e 5T BA S2 e RET I TE B R RO R SR A AR o

The estimate of future taxable profits requires
management’s judgement and interpretation of tax
laws as well as management’s estimate of future
taxable profits.

AR B R B A B il 51 75 8 3R [ 1 2 B A0 R Y
B KRB IR B E AR R E R A M B fhET o

The estimate of future taxable profits includes the
consideration of timetable of the development of the
vacant land held by the Group, progress of the
construction and sale of properties.
ARERTAMNN BT EEERE EEEFENTE
ETHONER  VERRINHELEERHESR -

Our key audit procedures to assess the recoverability of
deferred tax assets included the following:

BT HEEHIBEE RO ERESEF B
AT RASEIZFF -

o obtaining and inspecting the development plans
and forecast of taxable profits prepared by
management and comparing the estimate of future
taxable profits with the accumulated tax losses;

e HERREHEEERENER;ENERTEN
FEORI + AR SR FE FR B I ) ik 51 R R Gt BT B 18
TR

o assessing the principles of the model used to
forecast taxable profits by comparing the key
assumptions (including unit selling prices, budget
unit costs and administration and other costs) with
the Group's development plans;

. Lﬂhiy@“ﬂ@%%fﬁﬁ BE uﬁ$&

THEBRMEMKA) B SEEERTEE
ttﬁi* ??ﬁﬁﬁﬁEA%EEU%%%%%Emﬁ%UH@ﬂiﬂéﬁ@ﬁﬁﬂu~

° considering the historical accuracy of such
development plans by comparing key data with
internal and external documents (including approval
certificates and milestone documentation) and
challenging management as to whether the
development plans needed to be adjusted for any
delays identified in the Group's property
development projects;

o EBBEBEIREAIMINE M (BIERE X
RIEE B H) TR EREMERTEW
BEERNE  UARRBERASZSHFERR BEH
E ¥ RIER R AAEANEERIEEFHERE
BERHER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

FHRETERE (A

Assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets (Continued)

FHEAEAE B IR B 7Y AT R B 1 (4)

Refer to Note 24(b) to the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

B 2RIk B IR R M it 24(b) (%)

The Key Audit Matter (Continued)
BRESE ()

How the matter was addressed in our audit (Continued)

RMHOFMAEEZER ()

The recoverability of recognised deferred tax assets
could vary significantly if different assumptions are
applied in estimating future taxable profits and the
ability to utilise the accumulated tax losses. Given the
inherent uncertainties in these estimations by
management there is a risk that the deferred tax
assets recognised in the Group’'s consolidated
statement of financial position may be over-estimated
or under-estimated and any adjustment would directly
affect the Group's profit and the effective tax rate for
the period.

fisd T it 5 2R 2R R AR Bt 4 ) e A R R 5T AR TR T 18 A9 A
REATRNRKRRE  BRAELERIEEE A WE T
AREHIRERE L - ERNZEHRERBIELNMGE
EEAETHEEN R EXREFEAMBRAXRPHE
BRELHBEEEGFES HREMARR - M@ AE
HEETZE BESERZBENENRERBE -

We identified the recoverability of deferred tax assets
as a key audit matter because of the inherent risk of
error associated with management's estimate of
future taxable profits.

BAIE BB IR B AR R ER TR T A B R B B 85 3R
[EL B T A IR AE AR TE B E Y P B M B R A AR E S
I8 o

comparing the key estimates and assumptions
adopted in the sales budget plans prepared by the
directors, including those relating to average net
future selling prices, with market available data;
KEERUENHEREAEPERANTEGRERR
F(BIEERRTEFEEEHE) EhHi5 S8R
TR

re-performing calculations made by management
in determining the forecast taxable profits and
performing sensitivity analyses to determine the
extent of changes in those estimates that
management used in the calculation which, either
individually or collectively, would have a significant
adverse impact on the forecast taxable profits;
HREBREMRET A ERTEFEL NG EEN
EITRE - WETHRESNUNETEEENTE
PN ZEGE (TmEERI ) 188 E
AR NERKER AT BN EEHEE

assessing the appropriateness of the application of
tax laws, the appropriateness of tax deductions
and the ability to offset forecast taxable profits
against the accumulated tax losses with the
assistance of our internal tax specialists; and
ERMNABRBERGET - SHEEATENE
I BRBIENGEMRARFHIBBEEEE
RERBUREMABEN + &

assessing whether the related disclosures in the
Group's consolidated financial statements were
consistent with the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.

R BEERENGEMBRRTNEBRESR
EEMEHRITETERINRE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BHRETERE (A

Assessing the ownership risk of land use right

FHE L I T B R

Refer to Note 29(b) to the consolidated financial statements

7B 2Rk B B SRR M i 29(b)

The Key Audit Matter
BRENSEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMWETNETREEZSER

On 17 January 2018, a subsidiary of the Company,
Hainan Nanhai Xiang Long Properties Development
Limited (“Hainan Nanhai Xiang Long”) received a
decision from Haikou People’'s Government in relation
to its confiscating a parcel of land (the “Haikou
Land”) for the reason that the Haikou Land has not
been developed according to the timeline as stipulated
in the land use right contract (the “Haikou Decision”).
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount
of the Haikou Land was amounted to RMB132 million.
201851 178 - ERAIMB AR GEmEEAE
FHEREER AR ([EEmEEARE]) KEIEATA
REBFAEBELAWN— Rt ((BOLH])ARES - R
EHAEQ T ARE L EAESNNRERE(EO
REE]) - RBEHPR BOLHMERAEAARE
132B&ETT °

The latest development of the litigation is detailed in
Note 29(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
The final decision of Higher People’s Court of Hainan
Province is pending.

HF FA R B HT B R N AR A& B RS IR T 5 29(b) FE At - VB
AEMARER W ARBEMRLIRTE ©

Our key audit procedures to assess the ownership risk
of land use right included the following:
BT L E AN AR ERES R
BATERRER

o obtaining and inspecting the documentation relating
to the Haikou Land, including land use right contract,
land use right certificate, correspondences between
local government and Hainan Nanhai Xiang Long,
and comparing this information to that mentioned in
the Haikou Decision;

e HREBREMEDLMABBEN XY (BIELER
e THERARER - BT EEREEENE
Z BB RAE ) K48 B & KRG QR E Z Rt
BRBETTHLR

° discussing the status and potential exposures in
respect of the litigation with management and the
Group's external legal counsels and obtaining their
opinions on the likely outcome of the litigation
based on current facts and circumstances and
available information; and

e HERBEK BEXEERIIDEFREMN®REBNFRL
MR KB ERR - WESEREERBAIINEER
BRARFSERERAAREEECERNER &
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

FHRETERE (A

FHE L E IR T R m e ()

Assessing the ownership risk of land use right (Continued)

B 2RIk B IR R M iE 29(b) (%)

Refer to Note 29(b) to the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter (Continued)
BRESE ()

How the matter was addressed in our audit (Continued)

RMHOFMAEEZER ()

As of the approval date of these consolidated financial
statements, the directors, after seeking legal opinion,
consider that the Group has reasonable grounds to
challenge the Haikou Decision and the administrative
judgment is valid and that therefore, taking account of
all available evidence, it is not more likely than not that
a present obligation to surrender the land without
compensation exists at the end of the reporting
period. No provision has therefore been made in
respect of the Haikou Decision.
HEZSHGEVBmERNERN  EFLSHEEE
RiERE - BESEEAEERYBNATEREL
o MITHRARER - A - KEBEMBREBHERE
PARAIRERERRFERERI L LR BEET -
it - BHERLE R EE/EL B -

We identified the assessment of the ownership risk of
the Haikou Land as a key audit matter because it
involves a significant degree of management
judgement due to uncertainties in relation to the
outcome of the litigation and may be subject to
management bias.

BRI e O T A RRREBR RERES S
B AAFLRERFETHETY  SPRRAEED
BREAE mMERENFERR -

o challenging the assumptions and critical judgement
made by management which impacted the
assessment of the outcome of the litigation by
inspecting the underlying contract and relevant
underlying documentation, comparing with market
available information and assessing whether there
were any indicators of management bias.

o  HBBREHBEeNRMEEHEXY  LEmHAA
MENKAHEEERAFAEEMNRRIR - 5
EIREMER EFDRERTEVRE L ERAE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the 2018 annual report of the Company but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

HtfE R
BERREEFYHEMERAE - HUESBRE
H#EHY BERF2018FFHRANEIESR

BNBREAMBRR LR MANZBEERS -

BPEGEAMBBRRNBERL MR EEME
B BRI T HZEFEMERBEREMT AN

EEEW

éﬁdﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ\ﬁﬁ%i&%fi@%ﬁ CBMEEE
HiE8  FUb@iEYd ZEHMER
R REEVBRRIBAEETBEPRT
RBERFEEREEREUTFESEAHER
PRt Y 1B 5,

ERHBMERTHIIE - IREMRBEAMIE
EREEAHREL - RATEREXEE

wiETE  RFPRAEM®RE -

EEREABHARSMBERMREAAE
MEE

BERRAEEARRBEELGHALGBMHH
EAMBREENREARAGAINREER

BEEEMPENRAMB®RE  XHERRS
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exits.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and

the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicated with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.

BREMB BT REMBRRAEN

B1E (&)

e HUEERAFELESTERNREN
R - RIBFAERWBFRE  #
TRAFEEFEXNBAEFENEAT
REEMN - WEMATREEHYE BEEENE
BRRERNEEERRE - MRHFIR
REEERTHEENE  MAEBEEZH
B & IR B EMAE TR P BERE
FHEBRE BREARNOEESTE
AIRMEERRIFERERR - AW
EmERENEEREUENRE B LA
MERTRE - R - RRFHLBRA

BEEH% BERETHRSELE -

s HESRAMBHBRNEBIRIA &
BHNAR  BREEE URGEAWER
REATERRIBERIZMEA -

e B ERBEAEBEBIEHIBONKE
BERER EENERE  UEY
REMBRRERER - HMAE &
SEEANR - BEEMHNT - BFAS
BB AAERAEME -

BrREMERIN  HALRESZZESBBTE
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe those matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 18 September 2019

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Chan Chi Wai

Practising Certificate number: P05708
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

AR e B M E M E WS

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2018 2017
2018 2017 4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5T ARET R AREFT
Revenue Uk &% 4 1,410,474 2,005,308
Cost of sales THE KA (747,314) (1,114,934)
Gross profit EF 663,160 890,374
Other income H U A 5 5,029 453
Changes in fair value of BEWMENTEE
investment properties 12 (21,407) -
Changes in fair value of BAFEFAEENCRIEE
financial assets at FVPL H RN FEE 6,694 -
Realised gain arising from BAFEGFAEENCREE
financial assets at FVPL, net B ER W FEE 36,694 -
Selling and distribution expenses SHE MY EFA X (55,778) (63,111)
Credit loss allowance on HE W IEEEEIE R
other receivables 17 (13,676) -
Allowance on advance payments ) 7B B S AP B TR AN SR B
to contractors 17 (12,895) -
Administrative expenses THRAX (68,576) (48,480)
Other operating expenses Hhge &M 5 - (140)
Operating profit R R 539,245 789,096
Finance income B SIS A 4,757 8,967
Finance costs BATS AR AR - (17,231)
Finance income (costs), net BIEEUR A (RRAR) /B %R 6 4,757 (8,264)
Profit before taxation BREE AR A 544,002 780,832
Income tax expenses FriSHif X 7 (362,923) (521,320)
Profit for the year FREF 8 181,079 259,512
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= AL |:|\/

wra 18 H 2

TR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2018 2017
20185 2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B aE AR¥T R ARKETF T
Other comprehensive income (loss): E#Z2EU A (E518) :
Items that may be reclassified KNERAREN T IEHE B
subsequently to profit or loss: IHH :
Changes in fair value of available-for-sale AJftHE S RMEE N FEEE)
financial assets, net of tax HIBRTIE - 1,749
Items that will not be reclassified BTEREEEN B
subsequently to profit or loss: mIEH -
Exchange differences on translation of RE B EHE A2 TS
financial statements to HIME 5, =58
presentation currency 8,670 (15,232)
Other comprehensive income (loss) BB EFERHEMBEEEA (FE)
for the year, net of tax 8,670 (13,483)
Total comprehensive income FREEEAELTE
for the year 189,749 246,029
Profit for the year attributable to: AT EEREFRET
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ SN 179,538 251,181
Non-controlling interests JEVERRE 1,541 8,331
181,079 259,512
Total comprehensive income DNTEEEEEEALLE :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ ZEN 188,208 237,698
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR RE A 1,541 8,331
189,749 246,029
Earnings per share attributableto AQAFHEEAELZEREF
owners of the Company (LEBRAREIIR)
(expressed in RMB per share)
— Basic and diluted — EARREE 9 0.60 0.84
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

sre MR

As at 31 December 2018 KR 20184 12 431 H

2018 2017
2018 2017 £
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5T AR®T T ARETIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE MRS 11 42,058 45,587
Investment properties REMZ 12 130,058 48,788
Intangible assets EREE 13 504 660
Trade and other receivables B 5 hE MW FE 17 22,717 13,995
Financial assets at fair value A ERABZDN
through profit or loss TREE 25 1,726 -
Deferred tax assets EEFIAE E 24 198,484 140,935
395,547 249,965
Current assets REBEE
Properties under development BERPYE 15 2,428,600 2,328,981
Completed properties held for sale BIEHEED BN 16 485,562 1,177,299
Contract costs B HIKA 19 14,117 -
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b W IE 17 105,224 162,979
Deposits paid for acquisition of land Yo B £ 3 S AV ET & 14 13,760 -
Current tax assets BIHATH IR & &= 24 27,127 127,516
Available-for-sale financial assets AN ESRERE 18 - 209,830
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFAERED
through profit or loss TREE 25 806,694 -
Restricted cash SRR E 20(a) 83,412 41,235
Cash and cash equivalents He RIS EEY 20(b) 683,197 896,833
4,647,693 4,944,673
Current liabilities REBBE
Trade and other payables B 5 R H AT FRIE 22 1,205,485 1,991,832
Contract liabilities AHBEE 21 345,146 -
Current tax liabilities VAT e BtE 24 820,245 740,102
2,370,876 2,731,934
Net current assets RBEEFE 2,276,817 2,212,739
Total assets less current liabilities @EEERTHARS 2,672,364 2,462,704
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
A IR R

As at 31 December 2018 KR 20184 12 431 H

2018 2017
2018 2017 &
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B &E ARBTRT ARBTT

Non-current liabilities FRBAEE
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBA R 24 522,940 527,183
NET ASSETS EEFE 2,149,424 1,935,521
Capital and reserves ERRHEE
Share capital A% A 26 2,585 2,585
Reserves G 26 1,808,672 1,603,986
Equity attributable to owners AATEE AELER

of the Company 1,811,257 1,606,571
Non-controlling interests FEIERRRE RS 338,167 328,950
TOTAL EQUITY iR 2,149,424 1,935,521

These consolidated financial statements on pages 129 to 283 were  F 1298 EF 283 B M Z E L A B RER
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 201949 A 18 B &R E =< it & & 5 #E 1) 3¢

September 2019 and signed on its behalf by WHLTATRERZ
Zhou Li Fan Wenyi

A# PR 8]

Director Director

EE EE

132 HAILAN HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Y= A e L e B 2

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

Attributable to owners of the Company

FATREAEE
Changes in
fair value of
available-
for-sale
Statutory financial Non-
Share Share Other surplus assets  Accumulated Exchange Total controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Teserve reserves Sub-total interests equity
AfiHE
&R SRAE
& BhEE AltE BHGE LTEZDEE 23R ERGE 4 5t ERER e

RMBOOO  RVBOOO  RVBOOO  RVBO0  RVBO0  RVBO0  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBO00  RWBO000  RMBO00
ARBTL  ARBTL  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

(Note 26(b))  (Note 26(c)fill ~ (Note 26(c)(il) ~ (Note 26(clii) Note 26(c)(iv)
(Pt 26lo))  (Miek2eic)i)  (Misk2eiclin) — (MsE26iclin) (¥ 261(c)iv)
Balance as at 1 January 2017 R017%1 A1 BOES 2,585 236,791 1,391,682 114,728 = (385,388) 8575 1,366,268 1,368,873 319,641 1,688,514
Profit for the year EREF - - - - - 251,181 - 251,181 251,181 8,331 259512
Other comprehensive loss FREHEERE:
for the year:
Changes in fair value of ARHESHEELTERD
available-for-sale financial assets - - - - 1,749 - - 1,749 1,749 - 1,749
Exchange differences on translation M EBIERE A2 E%
of financial statements to MEREE
presentation currency - - - - - - (15,232) (15,232) (15,232) - (15,232)
- - - - 1,749 - (15,232) (13483 (13.483) - (13,483
Total comprehensive income FR2EUALE
for the year - - - - 1,749 251,181 (15,232) 237,698 237,698 8331 246,029
Transactions with owners: REEARTNRS:
Contributions and distributions HERATE
Share-based payment MR BERREE - - - - - - - - - 978 978
Appropriation to statutory reserves  BEZZTEEE - - - 47,667 - (47,667) - - - - -
- - - 47,667 - (47,667) - - - 978 978
Balance as at 31 December 2017 R20175 128318
and 1 January 2018 2018515 1BMEH 2,585 236,791 1,391,582 162,395 1,749 (181,874) 16,657) 1,603,986 1,606,571 328,950 1,935,521
Impact of nitial application of BREREAYRREEY
HKFRS 9 FIRHTE - - - - (1,749) 1,749 - - - - -
Impact of initial application of EREREAMBEREER
HKFRS 15 E1550FE - - - - - 16478 - 16,478 16,478 510 16,988
Adjusted balance at 1 January 2018 R 201815188
fE S 2,585 236,791 1,391,582 162,395 - (163,647) (6,657) 1,620,464 1,623,049 329,460 1,952,509
Profit for the year FRER - - - - - 179,538 - 179,538 179,538 1,541 181,019
Other comprehensive income EREBIENA :
for the year:
Exchange differences on translation BB HEX AZFIEH
of financial statements to MEREE
presentation currency - - - - - - 8,670 8,670 8,670 - 8,670
Total comprehensive income ERZEUALE
for the year - - - - - 179,538 8,670 188,208 188,208 1,541 189,749
Transactions with owners: IR ARTNRS -
Changes in ownership interests BEERERY
Contributions from non-controling SR RERMEE
interests - - - - - - - - - 7,166 7,166
Appropriation to statutory reserve HREETRE - - - 20591 - (20591) - - - - -
- - - 20,591 - (20,591) - - - 1,166 7,166
Balance as at 31 December 2018 742018 12 A 31 Rfbth 2585 236,191 1,391,582 182,986 - (4,700) 2,013 1:808,672 1,811,257 338,167 2,149,424
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Al TRER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2018 2017
20184 2017 4F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B aE AR¥T R AREFT
Cash flows from operating activities R TEELNERESR
Cash generated from operations CEBELRNIRS 31 572,689 1,817,861
Income tax paid BAFEH (249,845) (136,115)
Net cash from operating activities AR B E N2 F R 322,844 1,681,746
Cash flow from investing activities REZEHELENRER
Purchase of property, plant and BEME  HEM&E
equipment (69) (39)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME « BENKRE
plant and equipment FT{8 308 85 74
Purchase of available-for-sale financial BEE [t HELREE
assets - (208,081)
Purchase of financial assets at fair BERAFETAEBREN
value through profit or loss ERMEE (7,856,206) -
Proceeds from sale of financial assets $5& 18N FET AERE
at fair value through profit or loss SREEMSIR 7,316,065 -
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale $§&r[{tHE LRI EE
financial assets FTiS 308 - 100,255
Interest received AN 4,757 8,712
Net cash used in investing activities 18 &EEFTHRE F5E (535,368) (99,079)
Cash flow from financing activities REFZEIELEWRESH
Repayment of bank loans ERBITER 31 - (980,000)
Repayment of loan interests EEBEFFE 31 - (14,207)
Decrease in restricted cash pledged — $R{TEZIEME S R 30 &5
for bank loans - 12,463
Capital contributions from FEIER A &
non-controlling interests 7,166 -
Repayment of loan from a VAR AR B FE K
non-controlling shareholder 31 (1,854) (140,040)
Net cash from (used in) financing & T EEL (BT B3 2 F5E
activities 5,312 (1,121,784)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
l\‘/T\ E/% stz //Ib 2%

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2018 2017
2018 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥TRT ARKTET

Net (decrease) increase in cash and RERESZEEY

cash equivalents (R EnFEE (207,212) 460,883
Cash and cash equivalents at REPNIREE KRS EEBY

beginning of the year 896,833 451,182
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ¥ME & & &) 52 £ (6,424) (15,232)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of REREZRELR
the year, represented by BITEBRER
cash and bank balances HE&EEY 683,197 896,833
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T A SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Hailan Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 31 August 2015 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Company Law
Chapter 22, (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”). The address of registered office of the
Company is PO Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort Street,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, the Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") and Hong Kong are 2/F, No. 1 Building
Hampton by Hilton, No. 169 Yu Lin Road, Tianya District,
Sanya, the Hainan Province, the PRC and Room 2212, 22/F,
The Center, 99 Queen's Road Central, Central, Hong Kong
respectively.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in investment holding,
properties development, sale and rental of developed
properties. The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively
referred to as the “Group”.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which include all HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost
convention, except for investment properties and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL") which
have been measured at fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

l\‘/T\

& B mAM T

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.1.

2.2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted in
the 2017 consolidated financial statements except for the
adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the
Group and effective from the current year as detailed in Note
2.2 to the consolidated financial statements. A summary of
the principal amounting policies adopted by the Group is set
out in Note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/
revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement

of Share-based Payment
Transactions

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers

2.1.

2.2.

R EXE ()

ZEEAVBHRRINUARBTAR
W23 BEBEAEIN MEHRE
HEBEARKETT -

B ERAAR & IS AR MR 2.2 e st K
SEMEBY A AFERERNF
EFTREMBREERIN  ZEFFEEH
B|RER 2017 FER A M IEHRR TR

MEHR —BNEERR - REEK
M EB e BREEBHNEA TR
=HIFE2.4
SEBREH
AEBDEHRERATEAEBBRED
]/ B ET BB R ER
R GFER R B
F 405 (IBFTA)
BETHIREER URGBIHRS
B 25 (IBFTA) DIEREE
BB (BBRUBRE MNEXZETEH
ZEZEe) RE
— R EBE 225
BETHREER SHMTA
£ 95k
BEEFHIREEL FEAHKA

E 1558
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

l\‘/T\

B BHARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.2.

138

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 40: Transfers of Investment
Property

The amendments clarify that, to transfer to or from,
investment properties, there must be a change in use. A
change in use would involve (a) an assessment of whether a
property meets, or has ceased to meet, the definition of
investment property; and (b) supporting evidence that a
change in use has occurred.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2: Classification and
Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions

The amendments provide requirements on the accounting
for: (i) the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on
the measurement of cash-settled share-based payments; (ii)
share-based payment transactions with a net settlement
feature for withholding tax obligations; and (iii) a modification
to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment that
changes the classification of the transaction from cash-
settled to equity-settled.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

HK (IFRIC)-Int 22: Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration

The interpretation clarifies that, in determining the spot
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to
advance consideration, the date of the transaction is the date
on which an entity initially recognised the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration.

The adoption of the interpretation does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MFERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

HKFRS 9: Financial Instruments

The following terms are used in these consolidated financial
statements:

FVPL: fair value through profit or loss.

° FVOCI: fair value through other comprehensive income.

° Designated FVOCI: equity instruments measured at
FVOCI.

o Mandatory FVOCI: debt instruments measured at
FVOCI.

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2018. It introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities, impairment for financial assets and
hedge accounting.

22 STRESE ()
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

l\‘/T\

B BHARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

HKFRS 9: Financial Instruments (Continued)

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 9,
comparative information has not been restated and the
Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively to financial
instruments that existed at 1 January 2018 (i.e. the date of
initial application), except as described below:

(a)

(c)

The following assessments are made on the basis of
facts and circumstances that existed at the date of
initial application:

(i) the determination of the business model within
which a financial asset is held;

(i) the designation of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVPL or, in case of financial assets, at
Designated FVOCI; and

(i) the de-designation of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVPL.

The above resulting classification shall be applied
retrospectively.

If, at the date of initial application, determining whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition would require undue cost or effort, a
loss allowance is recognised at an amount equal to
lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date
until the financial instrument is derecognised unless
that financial instrument has low credit risk at a
reporting date.

For investments in equity instruments that were
measured at cost under HKAS 39, the instruments are
measured at fair value at the date of initial application.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T A R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 S BREE (&)
(Continued)
HKFRS 9: Financial Instruments (Continued) ERAVBREEAEIF eWMTA

(#&)
Differences between the previous balances of reserves and BIEE S EAFE 95 BT 2 HEEE
accumulated losses under HKAS 39 and the current carrying BN 2T EEEENE SRS EL
amounts upon adoption of HKFRS 9 are recognised directly in FORBERTEEEZ RN EZEFTE
components of equity at 1 January 2018 as summarised B’\2018¢1 R1BZEDZEHER  #
below: e
Changes in

fair value of
available-for-
sale financial
assets Accumulated
reserve losses
AHHE
tREE
ATE
BEEE Rt EiE
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT

At 1 January 2018 "2018F1H81H
Reclassification ERoibon ] (1,749) 1,749
Decrease A (1,749) 1,749
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

HKFRS 9: Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) Classification and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has no significant effect on
the classification and measurement of the Group's
financial liabilities.

The following table reconciles the original measurement
categories and carrying amounts under HKAS 39 to the
new measurement categories and carrying amounts
under HKFRS 9 for each class of the Group's financial
assets as at 1 January 2018:

As at 1 January 2018

Measurement category under REEBETERE395
HKAS 39 Mt &5

22 STRESE ()

EEMBHRELAFIN  eWMTH

(%)

(i)

CTREERTHMAEBEZIERTE

ROBEM B REERE IR A
SESRABENDBELEYES
KL

TERHBINBEESS LR E39
FHRAEFEHE MEMER
201841 A1 BRIEFEM KRS
ERFIFAEBSHEREEN
FErE2ERI MREELR

M2018%F1H81H

Measurement category
and carrying amount under

Carrying HKFRS 9
amount REFBIMEREER

under FIEMNEERIKEREE

HKAS 39 Amortised

REFBET cost FVPL
ER|ZE39KEH BRAYE

fREE BHmA FFAER

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFTT ARBTT ARETE

Available-for-sale financial assets Tt HESHEE

Wealth management products (note a) JEB1 & & (Fifsta) 209,830 - 209,830

Loans and receivables (note b) BXNREKE (KEb)

Trade and other receivables 25K EH R 70,497 70,497 -

Restricted cash XBRHRE 41,235 41,235 -

Cash and cash equivalents HeRIELZEY 896,833 896,833 -
1,218,395 1,008,565 209,830
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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& B mAM T

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

HKFRS 9: Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Classification and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities (Continued)

(note a) At the date of initial application, the wealth management
products that were previously classified as available-for-sale
financial assets at fair value is now reclassified to financial
assets at FVPL. It does not meet the criteria to be classified
as financial assets at amortised cost or Mandatory FVOCI in
accordance with HKFRS 9, because its cash flows do not
represent solely payment of principal and interest and it is
not equity investment. The related fair value gain of
RMB1,749,000 as at 1 January 2018 were transferred from
changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets
reserve to accumulated losses on 1 January 2018.

These items continue to be measured at amortised cost
because, at the date of initial application, the Group’s
business model is to hold these investments to collect the
contractual cash flows and the cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding. Impairment based on expected credit loss
model on these financial assets has no significant financial
impacts.

(note b)

Credit losses

HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in HKAS
39 with the “expected credit loss” (“ECL") model. The
ECL model requires an ongoing measurement of credit
risk associated with a financial asset and therefore
recognises ECLs earlier than under the “incurred loss”
accounting model in HKAS 39.

The Group applies the new ECL model to financial
assets measured at amortised cost (including restricted
cash, cash and cash equivalents and trade and other
receivables).

Further details on the accounting policy for credit losses
have been set out in Note 2.4 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

E=AN 2AT =7
RE R MR
For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

HKFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 replaces, among others, HKAS 18 and HKAS 11
which specified the revenue recognition arising from sale of
goods and rendering of services and the accounting for
construction contracts respectively. The standard establishes
a comprehensive framework for revenue recognition and
certain costs from contracts with customers within its scope.
It also introduces a cohesive set of disclosure requirements
that would result in an entity providing users of financial
statements with comprehensive information about the
nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash
flows arising from the entity’s contracts with customers.

The Group has elected to apply the cumulative effect
transition method and recognised the cumulative effect of
initial adoption as an adjustment to the opening balance of
components of equity at 1 January 2018 (i.e. the date of initial
application). Therefore, the comparative information has not
been restated for the effect of HKFRS 15.

In addition, the Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively
only to contracts that were not completed at 1 January 2018
in accordance with the transitional provisions therein.

The effects of transition to HKFRS 15 on the components of
equity at 1 January 2018 are summarised below:

22 STRESE ()

FRMB®RE
LGN

XB|$E15% . BEF S

BEVBRELEZ KRR (EPE
B)BEEENF ISR LB EGE
I 1155 - ZFEAND IR AEEE®
KR IRF A EE MmN ERLEES
HEARRTT % - Z BRI as ER R H
HBEANEPANNETRATH2E
FIHEZR X BRI S| A— R IR E
MRERTE SERERFTERNH KR
RERERREREEFEOMELZ
WakReRENEE o8 KHERK
THEEENZMER

AEBEERERBEBEREREL I
R2018%1 A1 H(BIE X FEMR B HY) &
RENRANEEEEERERIT D B
MESHHAE - At XKBEREAYH
REER B LFMTEEI L ERER -

o - REBEBPERAE BT BRE
HER|E 155 2R 2018F 1 A1 BBEE
BEMESR AT ZEY -

R2018F1ATHBEEZBAMBHRSE
YERI 155 T D MR BB T ¢

At 1 January 2018
R2018%E1H1H

Non-
Accumulated controlling
losses interests Total
RIEE  FERER wEt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT
Capitalisation of sales commissions ~ $4&E{@EEE R/ 21,970 680 22,650
Tax impact (current and deferred) B2 (ANERIEL) (5,492) (170) (5,662)
Net changes L 16,478 510 16,988
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

HKFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers

(Continued)

The following tables show how the amounts for the year
ended 31 December 2018 reported under HKFRS 15 would

be affected if HKFRS 15 were not adopted:

22 STRESE ()

ERMBHREENEISR  FFE
B (&)

TRERMKRBEME ST B RS ZER
FIGSHEE2018F 12 A3 BILFE
RIEREENBERELENF15RERNS
B E

Amounts
reported if Amounts
HKFRS 15 Effect on reported
were not  adoption of under
adopted HKFRS 15 HKFRS 15
fiti R BRAR Rk RERB

BERMKES BERME MEHRSED

ERIZ 155 BEREA F1BHER
NERSE F5RNTE HEE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARBTT ARBTT

Year ended 31 December 2018

Selling and distribution expenses EE N IERY
Income tax expenses IR T iba

At 31 December 2018 20185128318

Contract costs BHIRAR
Current tax liabilities BIERF A E &
Non-controlling interests A E S

Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group recognised
sales commissions paid or payable as a result of obtaining
sales contracts for the Group when incurred. However, under
HKFRS 15, the Group is required to capitalise such
commissions as costs of obtaining contracts when they are
incremental and recoverable, except when the practical
expedient in paragraph 94 of HKFRS 15 is applied. The
capitalised commissions are charged to profit or loss over the
term of the specific existing and anticipated contracts to
which the costs relate and are included in “selling and

distribution expenses”.

BZE2018F12A31BLEE

69,895 (14,117) 55,778
366,452 (3,529) 362,923
- 14,117 14,117
823,774 (3,529) 820,245
338,156 " 338,167

RERME BT 5 RELERNE165RAT - 5
AEEBMSHEEANMEENEMK
ENEEMEMs AEEREELR
FERR - AT RBEBM B REERF
155ﬁ EAEBASIEZMN R AT KREE -

BAEEAMEBRBE SMEAKHK
K HRBEEVBRELENE16IRE
AR A TTHREE ARSI - BEARL
MAERRARBENSERA BT A
WHN BRSO YT ATHERDH
Fsz] e
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 S BEREE (&)
(Continued)
Effect of initial adoption of new/revised HKFRSs BRRAHFET RIBTE BT BR
EEANTE
The tables below summarise the impact as a result of the TEBAMN2018FE1 A1 HRE & XN
initial adoption of all the above new/revised HKFRSs as at 1 T E I S RS SR
January 2018. Ay 2 -
Effect of Effect of
As previously  adoption of  adoption of
reported HKFRS 9 HKFRS 15  As restated

BRE PR E
SRl RIS ERIE155

2REHE R & HEE RKEISHE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
At 1 January 2018 M2018%1H1H ARBTT ARETT AR¥ETRT AR%T:R
Deferred tax assets EETIRE = 140,935 - (5,662) 135,273
Contract costs & AR AN - - 22,650 22,650
Available-for-sale financial AHEESREE
assets 209,830 (209,830) - -
Financial assets at fair value & A F{ET ABZH
through profit or loss TRVEE - 209,830 - 209,830
Contract liabilities aHaE - - 649,193 649,193
Trade and other payables B R EHME B 1,991,832 - (649,193) 1,342,639
Reserves G 1,785,860 (1,749) - 1,784,111
Accumulated losses Z:tEE (181,874) 1,749 16,478 (163,647)
Total equity attributable to NARER AL
owners of the Company ERA%E 1,606,571 - 16,478 1,623,049
Non-controlling interests FEIERERERS 328,950 - 510 329,460
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.3. ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new/
revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current year,
which the Group has not early adopted.

Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle
to HKFRSs
HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments "

Amendments to HKAS 19 Employee benefits @

Amendments to HKAS 28 Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures "

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation "

Amendments to HKASs 1 Definition of Material @

and 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business ©
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts “

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture ©

m Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

@ Effective for acquisitions that occur on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

“ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

B The effective date to be determined

Except as described below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of these new standards and
amendments will have no material impact on the Group's
financial information in the future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.3. ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the
basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases
are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a
model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability
have to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for
short-term leases and leases of low value assets. The right-
of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently
measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability
is initially measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the
lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as
well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others.
Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to
lease liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest
portion which will be presented as financing and operating
cash flows respectively by the Group.

The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential changes
in classification of these assets depending on whether the
Group presents right-of-use assets separately or within the
same line item at which the corresponding underlying assets
would be presented if they were owned.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS
17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either
as an operating lease or a finance lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES
Basis for consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting year as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from
owners of the Company, in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and within
equity in the consolidated statement of financial position. The
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in event of
liquidation, are measured initially either at fair value or at the
present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
This choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis. Other types of non-controlling interests
are initially measured at fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.
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2.4.

150

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis for consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described
below. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the
owners of the Company.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained earnings, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Any investment retained in the former subsidiary and any
amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary are accounted
for as a financial asset, associate, joint venture or others as
appropriate from the date when control is lost.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity, directly or indirectly, controlled by
the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is
presented within these notes, an investment in subsidiary is
stated at cost less impairment losses. The carrying amount of
the investment is reduced to its recoverable amount on an
individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial
assets at FVPL at the end of each reporting period. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. Fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.
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2.4.

152

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as
follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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24.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Vehicles 25%
Electronic devices 33.33%
Machines, furniture, office equipment

and others 20%
Buildings 5%

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal
or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4.

154

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured initially at
cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting
period. The fair value is based on market value, being the
estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged
on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing
seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing
wherein the parties have each acted knowledgeably,
prudently and without compulsion.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the
year of the retirement or disposal.

Completed properties held for sale and properties under
development would be transferred to investment properties
when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by
the following criteria: (a) the properties meet the definition of
investment properties; (b) the Group has prepared a business
plan that reflects the future rental income generated by the
property and this is supported with evidence that there is
demand for rental space; (c) the Group can demonstrate that
it has the resources, including the necessary financing or
capital, to hold and manage the investment property; (d) the
change in use is legally permissible; (e) if the property must
be further developed for the change in use, the development
has commenced and (f) change in use is approved by the
board of directors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MFERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value ("NRV") and comprise land use
rights, aggregate cost of development, materials and
supplies, wages and other direct expenses, an appropriate
proportion of overheads and borrowing cost. NRV represents
the estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion

and costs to be incurred in selling the property.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
unless the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to completed properties held for sale or

investment properties if appropriate.

The land held for future development represents parcels of
land owned by the Group for the purpose of development of
properties for sale. The land is initially stated at lower of cost

and NRV and is not depreciated.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and NRV. Cost is determined by an apportionment of the
total development costs for that development project,
attributable to unsold properties. The NRV is determined by
reference to the estimated selling prices of properties sold in

the ordinary course of business less selling expenses.
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2.4.

156

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets are recognised initially at cost.
After initial recognition, intangible assets with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
Amortisation commences when the intangible assets are
available for use. The following useful lives are applied:
Software 10 years
The amortisation methods and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset, including property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets, is required, the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’'s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset or a cash-generating units exceeds its recoverable
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ARE B ISR MY A
For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHBRBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.

Financial instruments
Financial assets
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the
Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from the
financial asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial
asset and either (a) it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain control
of the financial asset.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHBEREE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement — applicable from 1
January 2018

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a
significant financing component) are initially recognised at
their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried
at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets. Such trade receivables are
initially measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i)
measured at amortised cost; (ii) Mandatory FVOCI; (iii)
Designated FVOCI; or (iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group's business model for managing the
financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics. Financial assets are not reclassified
subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group
changes its business model for managing them, in which
case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first
day of the first annual reporting period following the change
in the business model.

Derivatives embedded in a hybrid contract in which a host is
an asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not separated from
the host. Instead, the entire hybrid contract is assessed for
classification.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

24 TESHTHEYE (B)

POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement — applicable from 1
January 2018 (Continued)

SR I A (&)
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()
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(1)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest rate method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising
from impairment, derecognition or through the
amortisation process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost include
trade and other receivables, restricted cash and cash
and cash equivalents.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement — applicable from 1
January 2018 (Continued)

2)

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, including
financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL, financial
assets resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement in a business combination to which HKFRS
3 applies and financial assets that are otherwise
required to be measured at FVPL. They are carried at
fair value, with any resultant gain and loss recognised in
profit or loss, which does not include any dividend or
interest earned on the financial assets. Dividend or
interest income is presented separately from fair value
gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(iif)

acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the
near term;

part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that
are managed together and for which there is evidence
of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on
initial recognition; or

a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or
not a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at
FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases.

The Group’s financial assets measured at FVPL include equity
securities and structured deposits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement — applicable before 1
January 2018

Financial assets are initially recognised at their fair value plus,
in the case of financial assets not carried at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial assets.

The Group classified its financial assets into one of the
following categories before 1 January 2018:

(1)

Other investments in debt and equity securities

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially
stated at fair value, which is their transaction price
unless it is determined that the fair value at initial
recognition differs from the transaction price and that
fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active
market for an identical asset or liability or based on a
valuation technique that uses only data from observable
identical asset or liability or based on a valuation
technigue that uses only data from observable markets.
Cost includes attributable transaction costs, except
where indicated otherwise below. These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending
on their classification:
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement — applicable before 1
January 2018 (Continued)

(1)

Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

Investments in securities which are not held for trading
or are not dated debt or the Group does not have the
positive ability and intention to hold to maturity are
classified as available-for-sale securities. At the end of
each reporting period the fair value is remeasured, with
any resultant gain or loss being recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the fair value reserve. As an exception to this,
investments in equity securities that do not have a
quoted price in an active market for an identical
instrument and whose fair value cannot otherwise be
reliably measured are recognised in the statement of
financial position at cost less impairment losses.

Dividend income from equity securities and interest
income from debt securities calculated using the
effective interest method are recognised in profit or
loss. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
changes in the amortised cost of debt securities are
also recognised in profit or loss.

When the investments are derecognised or impaired,
the cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is
reclassified to profit or loss. Investments are
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investments or they
expire.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MFERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement — applicable before 1
January 2018 (Continued)

(2)  Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at
fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts, except where the
receivables are interest-free loans made to related
parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect
of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the
receivables are stated at cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts.

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the

liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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ARE ISR AR MY R
For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHBEREE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value
plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of
the financial liabilities.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other
payables. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method, unless the effect of
discounting would be insignificant, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder of the contract for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair
value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.

Applicable from 1 January 2018

Subsequently, the financial guarantee is measured at the
higher of (i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with HKFRS 15 and (i) the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with the ECL model
under HKFRS 9, unless the financial guarantee is measured
at FVPL or arises from a transfer of a financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHBREE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts (Continued)
Applicable before 1 January 2018

Before the adoption of HKFRS 9, the financial guarantee is
subsequently measured at the higher of (i) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with HKAS 18, and (ii)
the amount of the provision determined in accordance with
HKAS 37, unless the financial guarantee is measured at FVPL
or arises from a transfer of a financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9

Applicable from 1 January 2018

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECL on financial
assets that are measured at amortised cost issued to which
the impairment requirements apply in accordance with
HKFRS 9. Except for the specific treatments as detailed
below, at each reporting date, the Group measures a loss
allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to the
lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit
risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e.
the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life

of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity

expects to receive.

For a financial guarantee contract, the entity is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument that is
guaranteed. Accordingly, cash shortfalls are the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amounts that the entity expects to receive
from the holder, the debtor or any other party. If the asset is
fully guaranteed, the estimation of cash shortfalls for a
financial guarantee contract would be consistent with the
estimations of cash shortfalls for the asset subject to the

guarantee.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on
a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after

the reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T A R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

24 TESHTHEYE (B)

SR T A (&)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

REEEMBERERNFIREMEE
K E 15 B {E ()

E2018% 151 H#EH (&)

Measurement of ECL (Continued) T s EE R = (E)

HFREE R RIZ

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial EpmE
TAERUAT-ERZE

s &
EPES

instruments are grouped based on the following one or more GEE=Ew
shared credit risk characteristics: L= G

()  past due information () BEEHEER

(i) nature of instrument (iy THAMEHE

(i) nature of collateral (i) EIRLMEE

(iv)  industry of debtors (iv) BIEARTERITE

(v)  geographical location of debtors (v) BEAFERMENSE

(vi) external credit risk ratings (vi) SMNEBIEER LR

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to BRBEENSREQEETEFITS

R EETAEBMFERARNEER
BREEEEY BRBEBELNEHN
BT ERARERDKEE - XEE
HESBRTANKR@E  HRHZRAF
Bt AR EURERIN ﬁﬁ?@ﬂﬁi%’é‘
wHNEMmEE kST RN A FE
M () Rt e

reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and
loss since initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss
allowance are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying
amount of the financial instrument, except in the case of
Mandatory FVOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value
reserve (recycling).
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i)  there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account in

the assessment:

° the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or

interest on the due dates;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if

available);

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor; and

° actual or expected changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have or may have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet

its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition when

contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered
to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of
assessing the financial instrument for impairment. For
financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on

the contract.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
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2.4.

170

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)
Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i)  the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations.

As detailed in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements, amounts due from related parties and non-
controlling shareholder are determined to have low credit
risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables without a significant financing
components or otherwise for which the Group applies the
practical expedient not to account for the significant financing
components, the Group applies a simplified approach in
calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data
about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower.

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

(f)  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual cash
flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.
The Group expects no significant recovery from the amount
written off. However, financial assets that are written off
could still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into
account legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery
is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Applicable before 1 January 2018

Investments in debt and equity securities and other current
and non-current receivables that are stated at cost or
amortised cost or are classified as available-for-sale securities
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine
whether there is objective evidence of impairment. Objective
evidence of impairment includes observable data that comes
to the attention of the Group about one or more of the
following loss events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse

effect on the debtor; and

— a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an
investment in an equity instrument below its cost.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Applicable before 1 January 2018 (Continued)

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

For trade and other current receivables and other
financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset's original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition of these
assets), where the effect of discounting is material. This
assessment is made collectively where these financial
assets share similar risk characteristics, such as similar
past due status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for financial
assets which are assessed for impairment collectively
are based on historical loss experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be linked
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss
shall not result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Applicable before 1 January 2018 (Continued)

—  For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative loss that
has been recognised in the fair value reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss. The amount of the
cumulative loss that is recognised in profit or loss is the
difference between the acquisition cost (net of any
principal repayment and amortisation) and current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that asset previously
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in respect
of available-for-sale equity securities are not reversed
through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in the
fair value of such assets is recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale debt
securities are reversed if the subsequent increase in fair
value can be objectively related to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised. Reversals of
impairment losses in such circumstances are
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding
assets directly, except for impairment losses recognised in
respect of trade debtors and bills receivable included within
trade and other receivables, whose recovery is considered
doubtful but not remote. In this case, the impairment losses
for doubtful debts are recorded using an allowance account.
When the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the
amount considered irrecoverable is written off against trade
debtors and bills receivable directly and any amounts held in
the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged to the
allowance account are reversed against the allowance
account. Other changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, net of bank overdrafts.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation. Expenditures for which
a provision has been recognised are charged against the
related provision in the year in which the expenditures are
incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to
be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

24 TESFTHEYE (B)

RERREEEY

AR ERERME REFEYA
RBEESRACNBERE REEZIRA
BRMEHERBIERE - BRR
7B »

Bie

WHRBEEHFEHRBEEHOATLHE
E)RBERAEFERERM L AMERNE
7% BIMER B R BLARR EMETA
MEFTH CHERIBBIAXEXN
EEFERBREBNE BREBEESH
SHRBA WL - ARRE K
IR

WMTRMFEERN AIERZBBDR
RIERFREENEH 2 REH R &
THRRE - ARERAMESE 2T
BRIRER I - FEABRERKA »

TR BERE 2 BN e - FORBER
SHtEReE AAHATERER
KRBME - BRIFEE N ERIR 2 AT gE 1
AR BIERIG - BB AR A
AEHRREGTERBEFERS 2
ARELEENMKELSIRARE  RIF
B 2 AT BEEARIE B VE R

BEZRERAT /2018F®H 175



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

l\‘/T\

B BHARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4.

176

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T e R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHBEREE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition
Applicable from 1 January 2018

Rental income under operating leases is recognised when the
properties are let out and on the straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Dividend income from financial assets is recognised when
the Group’s rights to receive dividend is established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost or Mandatory FVOCI that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the assets while it is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) in case of credit-impaired financial assets.

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods provided by the Group is sales of
properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T A R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHBREE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods
promised in a contract with a customer and identifies as a
performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

(a) agood (or a bundle of goods) that is distinct; or

(b)  a series of distinct goods that are substantially the same
and that have the same pattern of transfer to the
customer.

A good that is promised to a customer is distinct if both of
the following criteria are met:

(a)  the customer can benefit from the good either on its
own or together with other resources that are readily
available to the customer (i.e. the good is capable of
being distinct); and

(b) the Group's promise to transfer the good to the
customer is separately identifiable from other promises
in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good is
distinct within the context of the contract).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ARE ISR AR MY R
For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHBEREE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good (i.e.
an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as)
the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation an d recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as
the Group performs;

(b)  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
(for example, work in progress) that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c)  the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the
Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the promised asset. In
determining when the transfer of control occurs, the Group
considers the concept of control and such indicators as legal
title, physical possession, right to payment, significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer
acceptance.

Sale of properties is recognised at a point in time at which
the customer obtains the control of the promised asset,
which generally coincides with the time when the goods are
delivered to customers and the title is passed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ARE B ISR MY A
For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHBRBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Transaction price: significant financing components

When the contract contains a significant financing component
(i.e. the customer or the Group is provided with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer), in determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised consideration for the effects of the time
value of money. The effect of the significant financing
component is recognised as an interest income or interest
expense separately from revenue from contracts with
customers in profit or loss.

The Group determines the interest rate that is commensurate
with the rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and its customer at contract
inception by reference to, where appropriate, the interest rate
implicit in the contract (i.e. the interest rate that discounts the
cash selling price of the goods or services to the amount paid
in advance or arrears), the prevailing market interest rates,
the Group’'s borrowing rates and other relevant
creditworthiness information of the customer of the Group.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for the
effect of the significant financing component if the period of
financing is one year or less.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T e R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHBEREE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Applicable before 1 January 2018

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in profit or loss as follows:

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised in profit or
loss when the significant risks and rewards of ownership
have been transferred to the buyers. The Group considers
that the significant risks and rewards of ownership are
transferred when the properties are completed and delivered
to the buyers pursuant to the sale agreement. Revenue from
sales of properties excludes business tax or other sales
related taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
Deposits and instalments received on properties sold prior to
the date of revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as receipts in
advance.

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease term, except where
an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset,
excluding any amounts presented as a receivable.
Conversely, if a customer pays consideration, or the Group
has a right to an amount of consideration that is
unconditional, before the Group transfers a good or service to
the customer, the contract is presented as a contract liability
when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever
is earlier). A receivable is the Group's right to consideration
that is unconditional or only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
Contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts
are not presented on a net basis.

For the sale of properties, it is common for the Group to
receive from the customer the whole or some of the
contractual payments before the services are completed or
when the goods are delivered (i.e. the timing of revenue
recognition for such transactions). The Group recognises a
contract liability until it is recognised as revenue. During that
period, any significant financing components, if applicable,
will be included in the contract liability and will be expensed
as accrued unless the interest expense is eligible for
capitalisation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4.

184

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Contract costs

Contract costs are either incremental costs of obtaining or
costs (other than those that are accounted for as inventories,
property, plant and equipment, or intangible assets) to fulfil
contracts with customers. Capitalised contract costs are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses.

The costs to obtain contracts are capitalised if they are
incremental and recoverable. The capitalised costs are
amortised over the term of the specific existing and
anticipated contracts to which the costs relate. The Group
applies the practical expedient in HKFRS 15 and recognises
the incremental costs as an expense when incurred if the
amortisation period of the asset that the Group otherwise
would have recognised is within the same annual reporting
period.

The costs to fulfil contracts are capitalised if the costs relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract, generate or enhance resources that will
be used to provide goods or services in the future, and are
expected to be recovered. Other costs of fulfilling a contract,
which are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.
The costs are amortised on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services under the specific existing and anticipated contracts
to which the costs relate.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss to the
extent that the carrying amount of the asset exceeds (a) the
remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects to
receive in exchange for the goods or services to which the
asset relates; less (b) the costs that relate directly to providing
those goods or services and that have not been recognised
as expenses. A reversal of impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss when the impairment conditions no longer exist
or have improved provided the increased carrying amount of
the asset shall not exceed the amount that would have been
determined if no impairment loss had been recognised
previously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contributes to the success of the Group's
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (" equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
using a binomial lattice model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in a capital reserve within equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to profit or loss for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and
end of that period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24, TESHEBERE (F)
POLICIES (Continued)
Other employee benefits HiEERF
Defined contribution plans AEMKEE

The Group joins in a defined contribution retirement benefit
scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (the "MPF Scheme”) for all of its employees in
Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
the PRC are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Lease

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

As lessor

Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current assets,
and rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited
to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T A R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHBREE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Lease (Continued)
As lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of
the Group at the lower of the fair value of the leased assets
and the present value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
statement of financial position as finance lease obligation.
Finance charges, which represent the difference between the
total leasing commitments and the fair value of the assets
acquired, are charged to profit or loss over the term of the
relevant lease so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
charge on the remaining balance of the obligations for each
accounting period.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4.

188

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency transaction

The Company's functional currency is Hong Kong Dollars
("HKD") and majority of its subsidiaries have RMB as their
functional currency. The Company’s consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB because management
considers that a substantial majority of the group companies
are in the PRC and the Group primarily generates and
expends cash in RMB. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of
a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line
with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value
of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair
value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency transaction (Continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of
other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated
into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group's chief operating decision maker i.e. the Group's
most senior executive management for the purpose of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of,
the Group's various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group when:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group.

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

() the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is
a part, provides key management personnel

services to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

24.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and
include:

(@)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.
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l\‘/T\

3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

3.1. Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

(i)

(ii)

Fair value of investment properties

The investment properties of the Group are
measured at fair value, which were valued based
on the appraised market value by an independent
professional valuer or directors. The fair value of
investment properties was arrived at by
considering the capitalised income to be derived
from the existing tenancies and the reversionary
potential of the properties or, where appropriate,
by reference to market evidence of transaction
prices for similar properties in the surrounding
areas.

The carrying amount of investment properties as
at 31 December 2018 was RMB130,058,000
(2017: RMB48,788,000). Further details, including
the key assumptions used for fair value
measurement, are stated in Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

NRYV of properties under development and
completed properties held for sale

Properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and NRV. Based on the Group's recent
experience and the nature of the subject property,
the Group makes estimates of the selling price,
the costs of completion in case for properties
under development, and the costs to be incurred
in selling the properties.
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l\‘/T\

3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

3.1. Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(ii)

NRV of properties under development and
completed properties held for sale (Continued)

Total budgeted costs for properties under
development comprise costs for land use rights,
aggregate cost of development, materials and
supplies, wages and other direct expenses, an
appropriate proportion of overheads and
borrowing cost. In estimating the total budgeted
costs, management makes reference to
information such as (i) current offers from
contractors and suppliers; (i) recent offers agreed
with contractors and suppliers; and (iii)
professional estimation on construction and
material costs.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a
decrease in net sales value, provision for
completed properties held for sale and properties
under development may be resulted. Such
provision requires the use of judgment and
estimates. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, the carrying value and
provision for properties in the periods in which
such estimate is made will be adjusted
accordingly.

Given the volatility of the PRC property market
and the distinctive nature of individual properties,
the actual outcomes in terms of costs and
revenue may be higher or lower than estimated at
the end of the reporting period. Any increase or
decrease in the provision would affect profit or
loss in future years.
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l\‘/T\

3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

3.1. Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iii)

PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT")

LAT in the PRC is levied at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of
land value, being the proceeds from the sales of
the properties less deductible expenditures
including land cost, borrowing cost, other property
development expenditures.

When calculating the LAT, the Group needs to
estimate the deductible expenditures and makes
judgement on the relevant tax rate on an individual
property basis under the relevant applicable tax
laws and regulations. Given the uncertainties of
the calculative basis of LAT to be interpreted by
the local tax bureau, the actual outcomes may be
higher or lower than that estimated at the end of
the reporting period. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the balances at
the end of each reporting period, such differences
will impact the LAT expense and LAT provision in
the period in which the differences are realised.
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3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

3.1. Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for certain
temporary differences and unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits
together with future tax planning strategies. The
carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to
recognised tax losses at 31 December 2018 was
RMB39,544,000 (2017: RMB48,134,000). The
amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31
December 2018 was RMB35,307,000 (2017:
RMB36,824,000). Further details are contained in
Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss
allowance for trade and other receivables by using
various inputs and assumptions including risk of a
default and expected loss rate. The estimation
involves high degree of uncertainty which is based
on the Group’s historical information, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking
estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying amount of trade receivables and other
receivables. Details of the key assumption and
inputs used in estimating ECL are set out in Note
27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

3.1. Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(vi)

Allocation of construction cost on properties
under development

When developing properties, the Group typically
divides the development projects into phases.
Costs directly related to the development of a
phase are recorded as the cost of such phase.
Costs that are common to several phases are
allocated to each phase based on the saleable
floor area of each phase as a percentage of the
total saleable floor area of the entire project.

3.2. Critical Accounting Judgements

(i)

Classification of operating lease — Group as
lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property
leases for properties in its investment property
portfolio. The Group has determined, based on an
evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, that it retains all the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties which are leased out as operating
leases.
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l\‘/T\

3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

3.2. Critical Accounting Judgements (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Classification between investment properties
and properties held for sale

The Group develops properties held for sale and
properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation. Judgement is made by management
on determining whether a property is designated
as an investment property or a property held for
sale. The Group considers its intention for holding
the properties at the early development stage of
the related properties. During the course of
construction, the related properties under
construction are accounted for as properties under
development included in current assets if the
properties are intended for sale after completion,
whereas, the properties are accounted for as
investment properties under construction included
in non-current assets if the properties are intended
to be held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation. Upon completion of the properties,
the properties held for sale are transferred to
completed properties held for sale and are stated
at the lower of cost and NRV, while the properties
held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation
are transferred to completed investment
properties and are subject to revaluation at the
end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities have not been provided for
the withholding tax that would be payable on the
undistributed earnings of certain entities of the
Group in the PRC as those earnings are not
expected to be distributable in the foreseeable
future. Details of deferred tax liabilities are
disclosed in Note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

3.2. Critical Accounting Judgements (Continued)

(iv)

Land use right — Haikou Phoenix Aqua City
Phase ll

The Group is currently in a legal proceedings in
relation to the confiscation of the state-owned
construction land use right of a parcel of land
owned by a subsidiary of the Company, Hainan
Nanhai Xiang Long Properties Development
Limited (“Hainan Nanhai Xiang Long") located
to the north of Bin Hai Xi Lu, Haikou, with a total
site area of approximately 88,209.07 square
meters without compensation for the reason that
the land parcel has not been developed and
constructed on schedule.

At the end of the reporting period, no impairment
has been made in respect to the investment cost
on the abovementioned land use right. Details of
this litigation are disclosed in Note 29(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)

Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are development,
sales and lease of properties in the PRC.

Revenue mainly represented income from sales and
rental of properties, net of business tax and other sales
related taxes, and was after deduction of any trade
discounts.
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4,

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, WHERHIBER (HF)
(Continued)
(a) Revenue (Continued) (a) Uz (4E)

The amount of each significant category of revenue is

as follows:

EXEWEEHNE

BN -

2018 2017
20184 2017 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFIT
Sales of properties: VISIHE -
— Development projects — ERIBEE (TEREEMN—H)
(excluding Danzhou Phase |) 1,322,881 1,805,604
— Danzhou Phase | — {EJ—HA 59,782 158,346
Rental income from investment REYHEBEERA
properties:
— Development projects — ZREIFE (TEEEMN—E)
(excluding Danzhou Phase 1) 20,111 4,959
— Danzhou Phase | — &I —H8 1,505 -
Gain (loss) on revaluation upon transfer & &Y 2EERE 7 B4R
of investment properties: (E18) -
— Development projects — BRIEE (TEEEMN—H)
(excluding Danzhou Phase 1) 6,040 36,399
— Danzhou Phase | — &N —HA (12) -
Consultancy income &R 167 -
1,410,474 2,005,308
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

4,

Revenue (Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Wz ko EBER (&)

(a) Wz (4R)

(i) WEDF
2018 2017
2018 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TRT AREBTT

Other sources of revenue:

Rental income from investment
properties

Gain on revaluation upon transfer
of investment properties

Under the scope of HKFRS 15,
Revenue from contracts with
customers:

Timing of revenue recognition

— At a point in time

— Over-time

HAf e R -

KREMEBEWA

REMEERR 2 EhKaE

REBU B HEERFE 1555
BEANEP A

Wi 2 T 5 B B P
— RE—E

— R—BREHERA

21,616 4,959
6,028 36,399
1,382,663 1,963,950
167 -

1,410,474 2,005,308

The amount of revenue recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2018 that was included in
the contract liabilities at the beginning of the year

is RMB645,094,000.
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b)

Segment reporting
Business segments

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial
reporting system, the Group has chosen business
segment information as the reporting format for the
purposes of these consolidated financial statements of
the Group.

No geographical segment information is separately
presented as the Group’'s business segments are
mainly managed and operated in the Hainan Province of
the PRC. The major market of the Group’s business
segments is the Hainan Province of the PRC.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on the line of reporting, and has
two reportable operating segments as follows:

I Development projects (excluded Danzhou
Phase | but including Danzhou Phase Il)

All the Group’s development projects refer to the
development and sales of residential property
units conducted in Hainan Province.

Il Danzhou Phase |

Danzhou Phase | project (“Danzhou Phase 1”)
refers to the development and sales of residential
property units under Phase | developed by
Danzhou Shuang Lian Property Development
Company Limited (“Danzhou Shuang Lian”) in
Hainan Province (Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements).

The executive directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, monitor the operating results
of its business units separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment.

Income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not
allocated to operating segments.
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B BHARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b)

Segment reporting (Continued)
Segment results, assets and liabilities

Segment assets and liabilities include all assets and
liabilities of the Group, which are managed directly by
the segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those
segments or which otherwise arise from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to
those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is
“adjusted EBIT" i.e. "adjusted earnings before interest
and taxes” “interest” is regarded as including
investment income. To arrive at adjusted EBIT the
Group's earning are further adjusted for items not
specifically attributed to individual segments.

, where

202 HAILANHOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018

4. WHEKRZBEFR (F)

(b)

7 ER R & ()
DEEE BERAE

DHEBENBBEREAEE RN B
EREENEEERABE -

s B TS B 5 AT S
EERLED WA L2 AL RS
N 5% B A 2 A B
WAL XS REATHESD
-

ARRESBEN 2 FTER EH
FEEBIT] - B[ RETHE RFBLIAA
KRBERA] - HRFEISRE
FRIEEWA EL§%§M¥ EBIT :
NEB 2 BRI RIS E BT
Rl EB 2B B VBT HE— *FW@“



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

l\‘/T\

& B mAM T

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

4,

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments

4,

(b)

7 B & ()

WK o EHER (&)

DREE  BEREE G

HZE2018F K 20171283181k

for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 is set FEEABANEBRETRSE D ILER
out below. HHT -
Development Projects Danzhou Phase | Total
BRER N —H wit
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
20185 20174 2018 20176 2018 20174
For the year ended 31 December RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
BZE12ANALEE ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
Revenue from external customers PMERE B Uizs 1,349,199 1,846,962 61275 158346 1,410,474 2,005,308
Inter-segment revenue P itle - - - - - -
Reportable segment revenue ATRED B 1,349,199 1,846,962 61275 158346 1,410,474 2,005,308
Reportable segment gross profit BT $R&E D BEF 652,607 869,350 10,553 21,024 663,160 890,374
Reportable segment profit BTREDEEF
(adjusted EBIT) (4T HEEEBIT) 482,188 778,423 8,640 10360 490,828 788,783
As at 31 December W12A31H
Reportable segment assets BAFREIHEE 4,653,886 4,951,772 389,354 242,866 5,043,240  5194,638
Including: B
Cash and cash equivalents RelReSED 682,750 895,015 447 1818 683197 896,833
Properties under development BT % 2,428,600 2,328,981 - - 2,428,600 2,328,981
Completed properties held for sale H{EEE D&M E 388,326 979,559 97,236 197,740 485562 1,177,299
Reportable segment liabilities BFHE 2 PEE 2,769,539 3,067,462 124,277 191,655 2,893,816 3,259,117
Including: 2=
Trade and other payables BHREMENTIE 1,138,530 1,821,907 66,955 169,925 1,205,485 1,991,832
Contract liabilities AWEE 345,146 - - - 345,146 -
Other segment information HEitrpHER
Depreciation and amortisation ~ #7E K 3,616 3,698 119 251 3,735 3,949
Income tax expenses FrERAY 372,265 511,877 (9,342) 9443 362923 521,320
Allowance on advance payments  [A] 37 3 [ #)
to contractors TN REE 12,895 - - - 12,895 -
Credit loss allowance on other  H{hENZIBEE
receivables EiRRE 4,459 - 9,217 - 13,676 -
Changes in fair value of RENMENNTER
investment properties 21,407 - - - 21,407 -
Changes in fair value of BAFEAEZNER
financial assets at FVPL BENRTERY (6,694) - - - (6,694) -
Realised gain arising from N Trﬁﬂr)ﬁéﬁﬁ'] iﬁﬂ
financial assets at FVPL, net BENDEBRIE (36,694) - - - (36,694) -
Additions to property, plantand  REWE « BE L& ﬁ
equipment 63 39 6 - 69 39
Transfer to investment properties EZE R AW % 98,585 42,188 4,092 - 102677 42,188
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T e R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WHEERDIER (E)
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) PR (48)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) PEEE BEEREG(E)
Information about major customers FEEFHER
There was no sale to a single customer which HZE2018F K% 2017% 12 A31HIE
accounted for 10% or more of the Group's revenue for FE BERERERRZE10% 3%
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. A FRE - ERMEE -
Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss BATHRE D SBEREER
2018 2017
2018 F 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARETET

\\\

Reportable segment profit BT s 3m F
(adjusted EBIT) (& A EBIT) 490,828 788,783
Elimination of inter-segment profits B4 o SRR R - -

Reportable segment profits derived EXEAEBINIEFEHN

from the Group's external customers 7B ¥4 5 205 A 490,828 788,783
Other income Hiplg A 5,029 453
Changes in fair value of financial BRATEFABRNEREE

assets at FVPL AT EES) 6,694 -
Realised gain arising from financial BRATEFABENeREE

assets at FVPL, net EENDERNEFEH 36,694 -
Other operating expenses Efgafs - (140)
Finance income BTG 4,757 8,967
Finance costs EURGID RN - (17,231)
Consolidated profit before taxation YT | 544,002 780,832
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

l\‘/T\

B IR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

5.

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER OPERATING

EXPENSES

HW AR St &R

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TRT ARBTET

OTHER INCOME Halk A
Exchange gain bE 5z 2,865 -
Forfeiture of customers’ deposits received S8 E IWEIH B FiZS 1,500 403
Forfeiture of sale agents’ deposits received 2B UIKER S E RIS 590 -
Others HAit 74 50
5,029 453
OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES Hih Q&R
Tax late payment charges MIB®RNS - 2
Others Hib - 138
- 140
FINANCE INCOME (COSTS), NET B A (&) F5E
2018 2017
20184 2017 £
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT AREBTT

Finance income B A
Bank interest income HRITHEWA 4,757 8,967
Finance costs B8 R AR
Interest expenses on loans ERRERFEREZ
and borrowings - (20,354)
Less: Capitalised interest expenses B BAEF B - 3,123
- (17,231)
Finance income (costs), net B (BRAR) F 88 4,757 (8,264)
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e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

FrEsimx
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT AREBTET

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT") PRI EMEE ([ EREHR)) 165,371 231,811

LAT T HBIZE R 265,006 350,179

Deferred income tax EEFTEE (67,454) (60,670)
362,923 521,320

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Company
Law of Cayman Islands and, accordingly, is exempted from
payment of Cayman Islands income tax. The Group
companies in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI") were
incorporated under the International Business Companies Act
of the British Virgin Islands and, accordingly, exempted from

BVI income tax.

Hong Kong profits tax

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 as the Group's entities
had no assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong

Kong for the years.

CiIT

CIT has been provided on the estimated assessable profits of

subsidiaries operating in the PRC at 25% (2017: 25%).

LAT

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales
of properties less deductible expenditures including cost of
land use rights and all property development expenditures.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A I ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

7.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 7.

The income tax on the Group’s profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
enacted tax rate of the tax jurisdiction of the group entities as
follows:

Fr8%iR < ()

7N % BB BT 15 15 A1 g A ) BT 15 35 2268
SEERRERIERERNEXRTE
FIEmEBERFIIWT

2018 2017

2018 2017 F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T R AREETIT

Profit before taxation R B R e A 544,002 780,832
Calculated at CIT tax rate of 25% BEMSHEIE25%

(2017: 25%) (2017 4F : 25%) 3T EHFIIA 136,000 196,337
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A MBAST R ETE 96 1,312
Tax effect of income not subject to tax HBAZRHWANTRISEE (1,205) -
Tax effect of non-deductible land RIS L bk 2 S EE Y

cost adjustments B2 28,690 58,372
Tax effect of prior years' timing difference B FE REREFEER

not recognised MBTE - (75)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERATREEBOFRIGTE 588 573
Tax effect on LAT THOIRER OB E (66,252) (85,378)
LAT T IRET 265,006 350,179
Income tax expenses PSR 362,923 521,320
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B EERER M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

l\‘/T\
8. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 8. Fwimfl

Profit for the year is arrived at after charging (crediting): FERHEFN S (GtA) T3 &1E -

208

2018 2017
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFT
Total staff costs (including directors’ WETRA(BIEESHM) -

emoluments):

— Salaries, wages and other benefits —¥Fe LENEMEF 7,985 12,695

— Share-based payments expenses — AR AEREE A R F X - 978

— Contribution to defined contribution — RERFERKRETEIER

retirement plan 528 296
8,513 13,969
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BB NRIEITE

equipment 3,579 3,794
Amortisation of intangible assets mREERE G ATTBHS)

(included in administrative expenses) 156 155
Auditors’ remuneration % EREH N & 4,748 2,000
Cost of properties sold HEMEK A 747,314 1,114,934
Credit loss allowance on other receivables — EL b [ U I8 #9125 B B 18 548 13,676 -
Allowance on advance payments to MR ACE RS2 AST O TS SR

contractors 12,895 -
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME « BENMREHKZ

equipment (74) (49)
Wirite-off of property, plant and W - BEMERE

equipment 8 -
Operating lease payments in respect BT REFHEEHENR

of land and building 213 11
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l\‘/T\

B BHARME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

9.

EARNINGS PER SHARE 9. BREF
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the FIRERBF TR AN N ) A A FEL
profit attributable to owners of the Company and the A RN BT T AR A Y &Gt
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during =i
the year.
2018 2017
20184 2017 4F
Profit attributable to owners of the RATHEE AR RM(ARE)
Company (RMB) 179,538,000 251,181,000
Weighted average number of ordinary BT LB NE T IIE
shares in issue 300,000,000 300,000,000
Basic earnings per share (RMB) HREARF (ARE) 0.60 0.84
There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the REE2018F M 2017F 12 A31HILF
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 and, therefore, the B TEETEELERK  NERES
diluted earnings per share were the same as the basic AR BGREARZFER o

earnings per share.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

10. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE 10. EEREERRSHALTEHM
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM<
The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid and RERAEED N HENARTE
payable to the directors of the Company by the Group ENeBemIOT

during the year are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2018

BZ2018F12A31ALEE

Salaries, Retirement

allowances benefit

and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Fees in kinds bonuses  contributions Total

e RER RIKER
ik BEWHE kg HE 15 st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT ARBTR ARBTRT ARBTT

Executive Directors HITEE

Zhou Li 5k - 998 207 Al 1,276
Fan Wenyi B - 353 145 55 553
Chen Xiang R - 372 163 56 591
Chan Si Yu (note a) Bz (fista) - 92 - 3 95
Liu Bing (note b) 2K (Fif7EDb) - 773 - 5 778

Non-Executive Directors HHTEE
Yao Yu (note ¢) kT (Kistc) - 165 83 42 290
Wang Pei (note g) FE(MEg) - 56 - 9 65

Independent Non-Executive ~ B HH7TEE

Directors
Li Yong 35 145 - - - 145
EJunYu PEF 192 - - - 192
Chen Shi Min (note h) FRit-& (FEEh) 184 - - - 184
Zhao Guo Qing (note d) R (Fiztd) - - - - -
Total @t 521 2,809 598 241 4,169
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T A R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

10. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE 10. EERFAEBSHFALEHME)
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) ESENS (E)

Year ended 31 December 2017
BE017FE12ANALFE

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits Discretionary scheme
Fees in kinds bonuses contributions Total
e EMR RIEF
EESika EWFE= s FE N mst
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

U ARETR ARETL ARBFL ARETL

Executive Directors HITEE

Zhou Li R - 300 400 - 700
Yeung Man (note e) BE(ffiEe) - 228 272 - 500
Huang An Nan (note f) vl ER) - 250 - - 250
Fan Wenyi SEXH - 250 244 - 494
Chen Xiang BRtE - 225 225 - 450
Non-Executive Director FHTEE

Wang Pei (note g) T (fiztg) - 333 109 - 442

Independent Non-Executive ~ BV E#i7EE

Directors
Li Yong FE 44 - - - 44
E Jun Yu BT 200 - - - 200
Chen Shi Min (note h) BRI E(BrEER) 200 - - - 200
Li Zhong (note i B (L) 150 - - - 150
Total it 594 1,586 1,250 - 3,430
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E=AN 2AT =7
RE R MR
For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

10. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:
(a) Appointed on 1 November 2018.

(b) Appointed on 4 June 2018 and resigned on 14 September 2018.

(c) Appointed on 15 March 2018.

(d) Appointed on 31 December 2018.

(e) Disqualified on 18 December 2017 and appointed as a project
development consultant on 15 March 2019.

(f) Resigned on 29 March 2017.

(9) Resigned on 15 March 2018.

(h) Resigned on 31 December 2018.

(i) Resigned on 29 September 2017.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

There were no arrangements under which a director

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year (2017: Nil).
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B BHARME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

10. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE

10. E=

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals

(b)

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year included 3 (2017: 3)
directors whose emoluments are reflected in note (a)
above. The emoluments for the remaining 2 (2017: 2)

individuals are as follows:

REERSHATHMH (FE)

hEERSHEAL

FAREBEREESFHALFIE
(20175 : 3R)BRESF  EflaR
X (a) B o 82 T2 (2017
F2R)ERNATHBEOT

2018 2017
2018 2017 £
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFT
Salaries and other emoluments %ﬁ%&ﬁm@*@ 1,827 1,630
Retirement benefit scheme BRIKEFEH SR
contributions 133 -
1,960 1,630
The emoluments fell within the following bands: MEeEEWT -
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 £
Number of Number of
employees employees
EE A" EE AZK
HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z T2 1,000,000 7T
(equivalent to RMBNIl to (HHERAREZ L
RMB895,000) AR 895,000 7T) 1 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 T = 1,500,000 % 7T
(equivalent to RMB895,001 to (FHER AR 895,001 L=
RMB1,342,500) AFR#1,342,5007T) 1 -
2 2

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017,
none of the above individuals has received any
emoluments from the Group as an inducement to join
or leave the Group or compensation for loss of office;
none of the above individuals has waived or has agreed

to waive any emoluments.

HE2018F K% 2017F 1283181t
FE o E LR ER A TWEARE
BT AME  ERIMANBERAS
B r S2EN S E AR (E - (@
B T I A AUEE ok (R L AR A (AT B
éc: °
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11. Y% - BERXE
Machines,
furniture, office
Electronic equipment
Vehicles devices and others Buildings Total
W HE-
Bk
RE ETRHE KAt BF @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARRTR

Reconciliation of carrying amount SR E 2 ¥k
Year ended 31 December 2017  HZ 201751231 BLEE

As at 1 January 2017 201746 1A1H 815 337 1,454 46,761 49,367
Additions RE - 18 21 - 39
Disposals e (25) - - - (25)
Depreciation g (278) (47) (727) (2,742) (3,794)
As at 31 December 2017 R2017E128318 512 308 748 44,019 45,587

Reconciliation of carrying amount SR E 2 ¥k
Year ended 31 December 2018 EZ 2018512831 BLLEE

As at 1 January 2018 M201851 A1H 512 308 748 44,019 45,587

Additions RE - 69 - - 69

Disposals e (1) - - - (11)
Depreciation ik (116) (21) (700) (2,742) (3,579)
Written off ke 8) - - - (8)
As at 31 December 2018 R2018F 126318 3n 356 48 4,217 42,058

At 31 December 2018 R2018E 128318

Cost KA 2,983 2,361 4,020 57,729 67,093

Accumulated depreciation ZitE (2,606) (2,005) (3,972) (16,452) (25,035)
Net carrying amount REFE 3n 356 48 .21 42,058

At 31 December 2017 R2017%12 5318

Cost KA 3,621 2,292 4,020 57,729 67,662

Accumulated depreciation ZitihE (3,109) (1,984) (3272) (13,710) (22,075)
Net carrying amount REEE 512 308 748 44,019 45,587

The buildings are situated on lands in the PRC with lease BFRMREER A2 FHNPE L -

terms of 62 years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 12. REYZHE
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
Fair value AFE AR®T R ARETT
Carrying amount at 1 January A1 A1THREREE 48,788 172,600
Transferred from properties under BEREPMENISEHES
development and completed EER Y E R
properties held for sale 102,677 42,188
Changes in fair value of investment RIER R E M E
properties recognised in profit or loss NEEZE (21,407) -
Transferred to properties held for sale EE SR E Y E - (166,000)
At 31 December M12HA31H 130,058 48,788

The investment properties represent the car parks held by
the Group for rental purpose.

During the year, the Group entered into car park lease
agreements with customers. As a result of the actual change
of use, the Group transferred certain properties under
development and completed properties held for sale into
investment properties with a total fair value of
RMB102,677,000 (2017: RMB42,188,000). The total carrying
amount of these car parks at the date of transfer was
RMB96,649,000 (2017: RMB5,789,000). A gain on revaluation
upon transfer of RMB6,028,000 (2017: RMB36,399,000) and
the related deferred tax thereon of RMB1,507,000 (2017:
RMB9,100,000) has been recognised in profit or loss during
the year ended 31 December 2018.

REVMER/AKERBFHERZZF
Bz o

FR-AEBHEEFFIEEMEER
o ANERBARNRE  AEEEQATF
BEA L ARY102,677,0007T (2017 £ -
AR 42,188,000 7)) i & TIF1EHE Y
XEBRSZREYE ZSEEMNER
HHMERmEAE A AR 96,649,0007T
(20174 : AR#5,789,0007T) - NELE
2018F 12 A31HIEHFE - EEIEEG
I z5 AR #6,028,0007T (20174 : AR
#% 36,399,000 7T) R ABBELEHIIE A R
1,507,000 7T (2017 4F = A R¥9,100,000
JL) N B RERR ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 12. REY (&)

Fair value measurement of investment properties

The following table shows the Group’s investment properties
measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of
financial position on a recurring basis, categorised into three
levels of a fair value hierarchy. The levels are based on the
observability of significant inputs to the measurements, as
follows:

° Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities.

o Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly.

° Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

REMENDFEE

FREJAKERG & U BHRE EiE
BRI AT AR B HRENE (DT
EERBEA=MR) - TRIH AR
EEH AL BT BRIEREEER -

s F 4 NHREERABENEET
B RE CREFHE)

e I BESRENATEER(E
BEAHEZR) BAZB(E-—RRNES
HVERIERRIN)

s F=H:BAEXABENEZIBRGE
BB ARE -

As at 31 December 2018
R2018512A31H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F-R k] EE @it
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥TR ARETR ARETR AR¥TR
Investment properties REME - - 130,058 130,058
As at 31 December 2017
R2017F12 318
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—3 E-H E=H @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTL AREFTL AREFT AREBFTL
Investment properties REME - - 48,788 48,788
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B BHARME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

12.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of investment properties
(Continued)

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during
the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

As at 31 December 2018, the investment properties were
valued by Cushman & Wakefield Limited, independent
professional valuer, and directors using income capitalisation
approach.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair
value measurements

The fair value of the Group's investment properties is
determined by using income capitalisation approach with
reference to current market rents and capitalisation rates
using market data.

Significant inputs used to determine fair value

12. REWE (&)

RENEN X FEE (R)

HE2018F12A31BILFE - £—
N — 4 7 M mEg s (2017 4 ¢ 48) -

M2018%F 12 A31H - BEWE MBI
BEGEMBERTERATNRESES
B ABAREGE -

BEZRAFEFEMANMGERN
ST PN ¢
AEBREMENRFETDZLERAT

SHEMEBTBBBENERMERIEK
RAWAEROEMETE °

BEQATENEXRBAZEH

2018 2017

2018 2017 4F

Capitalisation rate B =R 2.5% 3.0%
Average monthly rental per each SEFEMFH AR

car park space RMB552 RMB517

AR¥552T AR®BL177T

Capitalisation and discount rates are estimated by the valuer
based on the risk profile of the properties being valued. The
higher the rates and lower of average monthly rental, the
lower the fair value.

The investment properties are situated on lands in the PRC
with lease terms between 60 to 70 years.

BN RN AAEMREEDE
MERASMEHGEE - WL EXAEE
FHAHEAK - A2 FERE -

REMEMLNEERB60E70FHH
bz
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

13. BLEE

Software
B
RMB'000
AREETIT
Reconciliation of carrying amount BRME{E 2 ¥ BR
Year ended 31 December 2017 BZ2017F 128318 LEE
As at 1 January 2017 R2017F1A1H 815
Amortisation charge BiHEH (155)
As at 31 December 2017 72017612 H31H 660
Reconciliation of carrying amount BREEHER
Year ended 31 December 2018 HZ2018F12A31MBLLEE
As at 1 January 2018 MK2018F1 H1H 660
Amortisation charge BB R (156)
As at 31 December 2018 A2018%F12H31H 504
At 31 December 2018 MA2018%F12831H
Cost [B#:N 1,526
Accumulated amortisation RETE (1,022)
Net carrying amount BRTEHE 504
At 31 December 2017 201712 H31H
Cost DN 1,526
Accumulated amortisation BT (866)
Net carrying amount REFE 660
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14.

15.

16.

DEPOSITS FOR ACQUISITION OF LAND 14. WEELTHMETE

The amount represented the deposits paid for acquisitions of e ATMNECRENRETR([E
several pieces of land located in the United States of America B E—SFTEREBEHEHEVENH
(the "USA") with consideration in aggregate of United States ST NS BREBA27TEESE
Dollars (“US$") 27 million (equivalent to RMB186 million) for T(ER]))BERARK186EET) ©
further development as properties held for sales. The amount ZerEmEEn12EAYKE -

is expected to be recovered after 12 months.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 15. BRPYE
2018 2017
2018 2017 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETET
Expected to be recovered: TEHAS U E
— Within 1 year — —FR 140,134 -
— More than 1 year — ZR—F 2,288,466 2,328,981
2,428,600 2,328,981
The properties under development, including land held for BEAME(BREFIERKEREN L)
future development, were located in the PRC and are stated YR ED - IR AR N a] S5 (E 5 BR o

at lower of cost and NRV.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 16. BENEDERY X
All completed properties held for sale are located in the PRC AR EBED KR ESIMNR PR
on leasehold land with lease term of 40 years or more. The FETH  HERABL0FEHKIA L o 2 E
directors of the Group estimate that the NRV of unsold BITMEEERZ  NEFBESFRIEHK
properties based on estimation of future selling price less REBHGEIRESEERBERA - 5T
costs to be incurred in relation to the sale, with reference to RELEYEN TSI FEE o

the prevailing market data.

2018

2018

RMB’000

ARBT R

Completed properties b398 7ES 485,562
Less: Expected to be sold after 12 months B TEER 2@ AR HE (71,279)
Expected to be sold within 12 months FHMR12EAREE 414,283
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 17. ESZREMERRIE
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TRT AREBTET

Trade receivables — third parties (note i) & 5 EUWKIE — £ =7 (i)

— Non-current — 3B 22,717 13,995
— Current — RE 3,726 5,540
26,443 19,535
Less: Loss allowance (note 17(a)) B SRR (MITE17() (19) (19)
26,424 19,516
Other receivables — third parties HihEU I — FE =7 19,747 17,134
Less: Loss allowance (note 17(b)) R SRR (M 17(0) (13,676) -
6,071 17,134
Amounts due from related parties (note ii) J&Ug BaEs 75 208 (s ii) 194 -
Amount due from a non-controlling JFE Ui S 422 P RS BR =k T (B & i)
shareholder (note iii) 1,413 21,258
Advance payments to contractors (note iv) [Al# B X HEYFE R X (BT st iv) 4,746 27,877
Community facilities deposits R EEE 9,242 7,764
Interest receivables on financial assets at H A EE AR S REE,
FVPL/available-for-sale financial assets AT E S aE ERIF B 6,914 4,825
Expenditures incurred for construction ERAEEREMELENRY
of community facilities (note v) (BF5EV) 30,004 30,004
Prepaid utilities expenses BNARER 3,479 7,798
Prepaid other taxes AT E M IR 39,454 40,798
95,446 140,324
Total HEt 127,941 176,974
Classified as: SHEA
Non-current assets IERBEE 22,717 13,995
Current assets mEVEE 105,224 162,979
127,941 176,974
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Trade receivables comprise receivables due from customers in relation
to sales of properties and rental income. Proceeds from the sale of
properties are made in lump-sum payments or paid by instalments in
accordance with the terms of the corresponding sale and purchase
agreements. Receivables to be recovered more than one year are
reclassified to long-term receivables. The remaining balance of trade
receivables are expected to be recovered within one year. The Group
does not hold any collaterals over these balances. In respect of the sale
of properties, no credit terms are granted to customers. The details on
the Group's credit policy are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Amounts due from related parties are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. The details are summarised in Note 30(d)(i) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Amount due from a non-controlling shareholder is unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand. The amount is relating to Danzhou
Phase I, whose operation is under the direction of the non-controlling
shareholder, Nanjing San Long Cement Company Limited (“Nanjing
San Long"). The details of Danzhou Phase | are set out in Note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Advance payments to contractors are made in accordance with the
payment terms as agreed in the construction contracts signed with
building contractors. They are to be transferred to properties under
development with regard to stage of completion for relevant
construction. During the year, an allowance on advance payment to a
contractor of RMB12,895,000 (2017: Nil) has been recognised because
the contractor is under the process of liquidation and is unlikely to have
financial capacity to repay the advance payment.

It represents the construction cost of community facilities which is
deductible for the community facility funds charged by the local
government or will be refunded to the Group when the construction of
the property project is completed.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the carrying amounts of
trade and other receivables approximates their fair values.

17. ESREMEKE

GG

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

R 20184 ] 2017412 A31H
HA R

X1 (&)

B REFIRBERHE M ERUEF e
H%A&%E:EH&U\ o iﬁ%%%ﬂ’]ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ@%ﬂ
1 48 B8 B B 10wk O R BRUA — IR 3R
ke T AR © B — EH&ZIEIE’]FEHSZ IR
BN BERRBREFOR - B S REGRR
BT ARTERHR —FRWKE - REBEIL B
RERBFAEMERR D EHEM
5 oHMEREFPREEES  AKBEEER
RHFHIERMN AR S M MR MIEE27 ©

FENTBERSE 73 R AR IR - R R RARE K
BHEIE o FHBINER S B 3R 3R MY 5 30() () 1T

st o

FEWIEERRRERBAERR - R ERER
TRIFEIE o xS THEMEN — B GRIEIEIE R
RERER=FEKEEREARAR(ER=
“ED HIFE R IE ) HARE - BN —EIRRFIBE
RERA B IRERMIFESS

MABEIMNNBEMRYIREEEEADE
FENTREEOBENMTIEREL - Ant
HALIBRNZIEEHBEERERYE - F
N AERBEINOBENRBEEARYE
12,895,0007T (2017 & : ) B HER - K

BREENSEER  BEAGMHEHEE
B ROEETRK o

EHRSERLERRENERER  EWER
B A9 RS2 A A (R FIR & M BURF YR B9 4L
EREEEIERTAKHE -

NANRREEREE N HERE
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l\‘/T\

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 17. EZ K HtEWFIE (&)
(a) Loss allowance on trade receivables (a) EZERWFEEERE
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing NIREEIKR - B ENRIBEAZERN
analysis of gross trade receivables based on the invoice HIERER 2 %2 A MR T8
date that trade receivables were recognised, is as =
follows:
2018 2017
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFT
Within 1 year 1F AR 23,719 18,989
Over 1 year but less than 2 years 1FAEEDLR24F 2,178 4
Over 2 years but less than 3 years 2F A FBLRIE 4 169
Over 3 years 3FLA L 542 373
26,443 19,635
The ageing analysis of gross trade receivables as at 31 M2018F NK2017%12A31H
December 2018 and 2017 which were past due but not BB B R BENE FEW R IE R
impaired was as follows: FEHERE M ¢
2018 2017
2018 F 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARETTT
Within 1 year 1F AR 3,168 4,994
Over 1 year but less than 2 years 1A EELR2F 12 4
Over 2 years but less than 3 years 2F A EEDRIF 4 169
Over 3 years 3EM 542 373
3,726 5,540
Neither past due nor impaired AR EA TN SR E 22,717 13,995
26,443 19,5635
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(a)

Loss allowance on trade receivables
(Continued)

The management considers the ECL of trade
receivables to be insignificant so that no significant loss
allowance was recognised during the year, except a
loss allowance of RMB19,000 (2017: RMB19,000) was
made on the balance due from a customer which the
management considered as credit impaired. The Group
does not hold any collateral over trade receivables as at
31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

The movement in the loss allowance for trade
receivables during the year is summarised below. The

17. ESREMEKE

(a)

X1 (&)

B BWREERREE (E)

ERERAEFEWFIBNTERE
EEBIWTEXN - B F A EE
REANEERE HHEERERL
BEREFENER —BEFL
B A R 19,000 7T 1) &5 18 B 15
(20174 : AER¥E19,0007T)BRSM ©
R2018F 12 A31H @ AEEIE
REZHEWKBEREEAERR
(20174 : ) o

FREZREFANEREEE
RTXBE - LS BRREEE

comparative amounts represent the loss allowance for S ER|FE IR ER AR E B
impairment losses recognised under HKAS 39. R ETE A -
The movement in the ECL allowance of trade B S REWNFIENTEREEEEEE
receivables is as follows: FE)T
2018 2017
2018 2017 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARKETFT
At 1 January and 31 December ®R1A1THX12B31H 19 19
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 17. B 5 &k H it FEUWFIE (&)

(b) Loss allowance on other receivables (b) EEWFIEEERE
The movement in the ECL allowance on other HithE W R Em e RS B IE BE
receivables is as follows: FENT
2018 2017
2018 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT AREBTT

At 1 January ®W1A1H - -
Loss allowance recognised during FRADEREIBRE
the year 13,676 -
At 31 December MW12A31H 13,676 -
The management considers the ECL of other EEER/EMEBRFIBNTERE
receivables to be insignificant so that loss allowance EEBTTEXN - B F AR EE
was recognised during the year, except a loss allowance RENGERE  HRERERZ
of RMB13,676,000 (2017: Nil) was made on the [BEREEE /BT e
balances due from counterparties which the A R 13,676,000 7T &) &5 18 &
management considered as credit impaired. The Group (20174 : 8RN 2018412
does not hold any collateral over other receivables as at A31H » RNEB I &gt H b JE U
31 December 2018 (2017: Nil). IR FE A A (2017 F ¢
) o
18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 18. A ESRMEE
Available-for-sale financial assets represented wealth AHHEeREERNRITEENEN
management products purchased from banks. These Edme HNRA M EREMT22F7H
investments were reclassified as financial assets at FVPL = NIRNE B G EERFEIRE -
upon adoption of HKFRS 9 as disclosed in Note 2.2 to the ZEREER \*Ezih’\iﬁ.ﬁr)\iﬁfm
consolidated financial statements. The investment in wealth MNemeEE - REFEMHEREESR
management products were matured and fully redeemed in 20184 4 A EI BN R EEE -
April 2018.

224 HAILANHOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A I ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

19.

20.

CONTRACT COSTS 19. EH A
As at 31 December 2018, capitalised contract costs M2018F 12 A31 H @ & & KRB HIK
represents the incremental sales commissions paid to AIERAN BB ANISSHEHERS
intermediaries whose selling activities resulted in customers HIEERHSE P AEERNHE HE
entering into sale and purchase agreements for the Group's MERENWEITIIES G - 510
properties which are still under construction at the end of the P HEM RS ERE - A ARIE
reporting date. Contract costs are recognised as selling and HREREDHEAY - FRERMEHEKL
distribution expenses in profit or loss when revenue from the BEEBEESED B AARE57,412,000
related property sales is recognised. The amount of TR AREZ I RELE2017F12 A
amortisation and impairment loss recognised during the year IMMBEFE HEEHA2 ARE
is RMB57,412,000 and RMBNil respectively. During the year 42,151,000 7T B R 1B 2 80 88 & K 9 855
ended 31 December 2017, the sales commission of R
RMB42,151,000 has been recognised in selling and
distribution expenses in profit or loss.
RESTRICTED CASH/CASH AND CASH 20. SRHBEL HERBRLEEY
EQUIVALENTS
(a) Restricted Cash (a) ZRHEES
2018 2017
20184 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFT
Pledged for: BTPIZ B -
Properties under development BERPYE 45,750 -
Financial guarantee provided FEREMNBIEER 37,662 41,235
83,412 41,235

In accordance with relevant policies issued by the PRC
local State-owned Land and Resource Bureau applicable
to all property developers, the Group is required to
place certain of the proceeds received from the pre-sale
of properties as guarantee deposits into a bank for the
construction of the properties. The restriction will be
released when the construction is completed.

In addition, the Group is required to place certain
amounts of deposits in the banks to secure the
provision of financing guarantee services to its
customers in accordance with the financing guarantee
agreements signed with the banks. The balances are
refundable when the obligations of the financing
guarantee agreements are released.

RIBEHEE B LR BB E
RRAEMEEREAMERAEE
AEBARE TYRBE WA
BREFRRRITIERERMEN
REE ° ERTTHEFENERIRRH

AN - REBBERIRITFERSE TF
HER  URIBRHEIRITREENRE
ERtpERETEPFPREREERER
7?1 BEERBENECHEREY
REBBRIE -
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20. RESTRICTED CASH/CASH AND CASH 20. ZRHRE HRERREEZEY

EQUIVALENTS (Continued)
(a) Restricted Cash (Continued)
Included in the balances was RMB66,132,000 (2017:

RMB24,663,000) bear interest at floating daily bank
deposit rates.

(b) Cash and cash equivalents

(&)

(a) ZRHFEL (E)
FABBRBNESBE A ARE
66,132,000 7T (20174 : A R &
24,663,000 ) * HIRITIF R =
FHRFHE -

(b) RERBEEEY

2018 2017
2018 4 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TRT AREBTET

Cash at bank and in hand RITERERFERE S
Cash on hand FERS 1 14
Cash at bank RTINS 683,186 896,819
683,197 896,833

The bank balances denominated in RMB placed with
banks in the PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible
currency. Under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement and Sales
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign
currencies through banks that are authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business. All cash at bank earns
interest at floating daily bank deposit rates.

226 HAILANHOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018

AAREHERRITABRFRN A
BERRTTH - ARBYIFRIERR
MG o REBEHBHIMEE R K
51780 #6552 88 65 0 S A5 SN B PR 46k
7] AEEA BB ERLEINE
EHHIRITIEARE LR BINE -
PRARITIR SRS B RITERN X
FEETR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre BRI
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21. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 21.

aRNaE
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARBTET

Contract liabilities arising from contracts B P &HELNAHNAE
with customers

345,146 -

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, amounts previously included
as “Receipt in advance” of RMB649,193,000 under “Trade
and other payables” as disclosed in Note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements were reclassified to
contract liabilities as at 1 January 2018.

The movements (excluding those arising from increases and
decreases both occurred within the same year) of contract
liabilities from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
during the year are as follows:

RIRME B B REERIE155% - 3
MG E M EHRERM T 22FEERTE S
MEA B FIE ] TR A [ TE YRR
B & %8 A R #649,193,000 7T 72 2018 4F
1THTEHRNETYEEAHNEE -

FARAEEMBREEAF 165HAN
AHNENEEES (TEERFARE
RSB IR D PTEEE ) AT -

2018

2018 &

RMB’000

ARBT R

At the beginning of the reporting period R HAAT) 649,193
Recognised as revenue wR AN (645,094)
Recognised as other income upon forfeiture PR U IE FER A E UL A (1,500)
Receipt of advance TR K 342,547
At end of the reporting period R EHIR 345,146

At 31 December 2018, the contract liabilities that are
expected to be settled after more than 12 months are
RMB81,003,000.

#20185F 12 A31H - FBHZ N 12 @1
EEMEHBEYN A ARYS1,003,000
7T|:0
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21. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

The amount of transaction price allocated to the performance
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) at 31
December 2018 (including the balance of contract liabilities as
disclosed above) is as follows:

BNaE(E)

R 20184 12 A31 B A ER (kB E
MEPEERBETNRIELE (R
BEXHENANEEGESR) WIOT

2018
20184
RMB’000
ARETR

Expected timing of revenue recognition: W 75 PR B T B A (2] -

Within 1 year 195K
More than 1 year 1FEUE

279,750
97,213

376,963
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. ESRHEMENRKE

2018 2017
20184 2017 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARET T
Trade payables (note i) B S e RIR (D)
— Third parties —%5=h 339,730 374,306
— Related parties — B 241,581 254,944
581,311 629,250
Amounts due to related parties FEA R 5 FhIE 13,131 -
Amount due to a non-controlling FEA IR AR B SR FR B

shareholder 11,181 23,112
Receipt in advance for rental income TEU R E WA (BT Eii)

(note i) 58,878 55,382
Receipts in advance TEM K - 649,193
Accrued audit fees JERTERE R 5,009 1,250
Accrued payroll [t Er & 2,002 4,208
Other payables and accruals H b FE T FIE KR R B 25,511 16,962
Temporary receipts from customers T = F A (BT iv)

(note iv) 76,710 93,645
Tender deposits receipts from contractors W EUE B IR IEiRE 4,313 4,956
Other tax payables H{th B I8 12,941 21,871
Guarantee deposits (note iii) REZR D (L) 414,498 492,003

624,174 1,362,582
1,205,485 1,991,832

BEERERAT /2018F®H 229



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T e R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 22. EFRHEMEMNFIR(E)

(i) Trade payables (i) BEZEMSRE
Trade payables mainly represent amounts due to B O EMNFIEE EREMNERBEK
contractors. Payment to contractors is by instalments I8 o MIABEELEONTUIRIEEE
according to progress and agreed milestones. The R EBRESBAY N - KEE—
Group normally retains 5% as retention payment. MRIREB 5% EARE® -
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing REREHIR - B HEMNREREE
analysis of trade payables based on the date the trade "R HHERRSITOT ¢

payables were recognised, is as follows:

2018 2017
2018 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TRT AREBTT

Within 3 months 3EAR 220,852 222,070
Over 3 months but less than 6 months  3{& A LA F{BDR61E A 4,436 25,475
Over 6 months but less than 12 months 61 A LA_F{EDR121E A 98,925 281,275
Over 12 months 128 A E 257,098 100,430
581,311 629,250
(ii) Receipt in advance for rental income (i) FEWHEEWA
Receipt in advance for rental income represented the TEREERABWEREFPHEFESE
lump sum payment received from the tenants for lease SR —RERNR - RESEREE
of car parks. The amounts are recognised to profit or HAZHEHERAREBEZER - B
loss as rental income over the lease terms. At 31 2018412 A31H » FEHER BB
December 2018, the receipt in advance for rental income ERBSANBEREERAS
that are expected to be utilised after more than 12 ¥ A A R 55,861,000 (2017
months are RMB55,861,000 (2017: RMB46,573,000). & AR¥46,573,0007T) °
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22.

23.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
(iii) Guarantee deposits

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
granted exclusive right to sales agencies for promoting
certain completed properties for a period of time, and
received the amount of RMB414,498,000 as guarantee
deposits (2017: RMB492,003,000). The guarantee
deposits are interest-free and will be returned to the
sales agencies when the sale targets have been met as
stipulated in the agencies’ agreements or when the
agencies’ agreements ended. The amount is expected
to be settled within 12 months.

(iv) Temporary receipts from customers

The amount represents the temporary receipts from the

customers for processing a certificate of property

ownership of the completed properties. The balances

are interest-free and will be paid to the government

authorities when the certificates are prepared.

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

On 5 January 2016, share options of purchasing 17.5% of the
equity interest of Sanya Hui Xin Trading Co., Ltd. (“Sanya
Hui Xin"), one of the subsidiaries of the Group, was granted
for nil consideration to directors and employees of the Group
under the Group's Pre-IPO Share Incentive Scheme. The
options give the holders the right to acquire respective
portion of the 17.5% equity interest of Sanya Hui Xin at nil
consideration after three years and when certain performance
targets set for the holders of the options are achieved. Sanya
Hui Xin held 17.14% of the equity interest of Sanya Feng
Huang Shui Yun Property Development Co., Ltd. (“Sanya
Fenghuang Shuiyun”) Limited. The options have no
expiration date. Fair value of the options and assumptions are
as follows:

22.

23.

B RAEMENE
(iii) REEE

X1 (&)

HZE2018F 12 A31THIEFE &
EEAEEREBE FTEX — MR
HHEETEEANMENEGER
I 2 U ELA R #5 414,498,000 7T 1B
BRERSQNTIE: AR
4%omomnﬁ REZR S BTET
C WARR I R E TR B AR E
%%%E%%iﬁﬁ%%mﬁ%ﬁ
BTHERRE - EHESHEBHMN12
& B Rasft -
(iv) TREFFIE
S EIERD SR MERIEME
FrEBRENEREFRIE - 66
HE BT E  WERZERES
21 A8 RIRATERFI A »

UREEERNDBERNRS

R2016F 1 A0 ' REBEAEBHNEH X
AABENREIEE AEEES
FMEEBEEERTREASEBAEF —M
WMBAR ZnBHNESERAR([=E
B MW17.5% RERERRE - BBIE
MY EHFEARRN R=FBEEBE
REFBAREZAETERABZEUE
RBUEE =2 =HTHI17 5% MR EE D ©
—hETEBAE R EKBERE I ER
ERAR(ZEBEKXE]N17.14% 8
%%o%%%iﬂFﬁE%Oﬁ%%m
AFERBEZRNOT
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23. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The fair value of services received in return for the options
granted is based on the fair value of the options at grant date,
measured using the binomial option pricing model, with

following inputs:

Underlying equity value

Expected dividends

Risk-free interest rate 2.70%

The underlying equity value was determined by discount cash
flow method in which the financial forecast in respect of
Sanya Hui Xin was provided by the management of the
Company. The expected volatility was determined with
reference to historical volatilities of comparable companies of
Sanya Hui Xin, as extracted from Bloomberg Terminal.
Expected dividends of the underlying share was determined
by the Company. The risk free interest rate was determined
with reference to the yield rate of the generic China
government bonds with duration similar to the vesting period

of the options, as extracted from Bloomberg Terminal

Share options were granted under a service condition. This
condition has not been taken into account in the grant date
fair value measurement of the services received. There were
no market conditions associated with the share option grants.
There were no new share options granted during the years

ended 31 December 2017 and 2018.

At the end of the reporting period, the accumulated amount
of share-based payment expense recognised was amounted

to RMB7,815,000 (2017: RMB7,815,000).

The Company did not have any share option scheme for the
purchase of ordinary shares in the Company as of 31

December 2018 (2017: Nil).
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RMB22,000,000
Exercise price RMBO
Expected volatility 38.28%

23 UREGERODBERNRS

(#&)
AERBEREMNESRE 2 ATEDR

RO AHBREZ A FEEA ZBEXH
REBRI LA TEABUES :

ERAEREE AER# 22,000,000 7T

1B AREOTT
TEHR IR 38.28%
TEARAR B 0%

[ e A1) - 2.70%

HEEREENERTRESREELE
o OERZEENNYRENHEAAR
ﬁi@?i‘rﬁ% - MHINIETY 2 E =
BRI AR R B RIBEE - AR
BB Z & - AR W FEHIE i
RRBEE - BEARAKT2E—RKRH
B R A (8 2 (AR B2 RO 3 8 B3 AR )
MESXRET - EREERE 2K -

BENR I AR IR —TERAS G T o 2K
T8 R WA A BT W AR FS R R HH B BB
ANEEFEP - THEEHEBERERTH
B T I5 6 - Bl E= 2017 F K% 20184F
12A31BIEFER - BEER L EERRE -

RIREHR - SHERUARD BERHR
THEMEFTeEAARK7,815,0007T
(20174 : AR¥7,815,0007T) °

HZE2018F 12 A31H » AR B M fE
B i IR A T () B8 AR 5T &0 (2017 4F
7)o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

/T\

B BHARME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

24.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a)

Current tax assets (liabilities)

. REMFBIRRREFEB

(a)

BB EEE (BE)
2018 2017
2018 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBTR ARBTT

Prepaid CIT TAN R EMEH 11,818 107,217
Prepaid LAT TE L IS E R 15,309 20,299
Current tax assets recognised in RERA BT R RIERH

the consolidated statement of BNHATRIE & &=

financial position 27,127 127,516
Current CIT payable FEA BN ER{R SEFTIS AN (240,553) (339,652)
Current LAT payable JE <F BN ER + H 3 (A 74 (579,692) (400,450)
Current tax liabilities recognised in RE B BTN RFERK

the consolidated statement of BEAfIE & (&

financial position (820,245) (740,102)

Provision for LAT has been made pursuant to applicable
tax laws in the PRC. The Group considers the timing of
settlement is dependent on the practice of local tax
bureaus. As a result of the uncertainty of timing of
payment of LAT, the provisions have been recorded as
current liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

TR E RS TR IR R BE R R
REEL - AEBR AL ERH
BURAH S RIS R ERRIER - B
RIS ER AN SRS T EE
M R2018F K&2017412 A 31
A THIZEHRBE#ECELSAER
BAafE-
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24. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 24. GZEMBRAKRVABEH (F)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised (b) ERRELEHEEE(BE)
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT AREBTET

Deferred tax assets recognised on PR BN RIER

the consolidated statement of RIEERIAE E

financial position 198,484 140,935
Deferred tax liabilities recognised on  FARA BT ISR LR FER

the consolidated statement of RUEERIEAE

financial position (522,940) (527,183)

(324,456) (386,248)
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24.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

. REUBRRROAEH (&)

(b) Deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised (b) ERAEZEREEE(ARE)
(Continued) (%)
The components of deferred tax assets (liabilities) FRRERE P ISAR R R R IRIT
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial MIBEEE (BE)AEKID LESHN
position and the movements during the year are as T
follows:
Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities
BEHEEE EEHELR
Revaluation
Temporary Revaluation of financial
differences Other arising from Revaluation  assets at fair Net
arising from  temporary Unused business LAT of investment value through  deferred tax
LAT provision differences tax losses  combination provision property  profit or loss liabilities
Hti RAYE
BEHRE B FHABEN
MEEH Hh *BA  AHTHEE 1 RE SREE EEHE
BREE RRER BIEER WER  BEREE NEER HEfR SEFH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AREFT AREFT ARETr ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
(Note ) (Note ii) (Note iv) (Note iii
(i) (Bissin) (Ftsxiv) (B3ii)
At 1 January 2017 R2017E1818 27,167 18,565 4093 (264066)  (267,989) 2678) - (B8
Credited (charged) to profit A (K E) B
or loss 68,945 (10,088) 6,041 3,886 986 (9,100) - 60,670
At 31 December 2017 2017812 4318 96,112 8,467 48,134 (260,180) (267,003) (11,778) - (386,248)
Impact on adoption of RE RIS RE 2R
HKFRS 15 E1HENYE - (5,662) - - - - - (5,662)
Credited (charged) to profit St A (31K B) &
or loss 48,100 11,923 (8,590) 9,607 4,245 3,841 (1,672) 67,454
At 31 December 2018 20185128318 144,212 14,728 39,544 (250,573) (262,758) (7,937) (1,672) (324,456)
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24.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b)

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised
(Continued)

Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

“Temporary differences arising from LAT provision” represents
deferred tax assets recognised on the timing differences for the
amount of LAT provision made for property projects.

In recognising and measuring of deferred tax assets in respect
of the Group's subsidiaries which suffered losses in current or
preceding period, management considered the projected future
taxable income of these subsidiaries. Accordingly, the Group has
recognised deferred tax assets of RMB48,134,000 and
RMB39,5644,000 as at 31 December 2017 and 2018 respectively
as the Group estimates that these subsidiaries have properties
development projects which are probable to generate sufficient
future taxable profits to support their utilisation.

“LAT provision” in the deferred tax liability represents the
amounts of LAT recognised as an identifiable liability from the
acquisition of Sanya Feng Huang Xin Cheng Industrial Co., Ltd.
(“Sanya Fenghuang Xincheng"”) in 2008.

The amount represents the deferred tax liability arising
revaluation of assets upon acquisition of Sanya Fenghuang
Xincheng in 2008, after considered the effect of item (iii) above
which are tax deductible for CIT purpose.
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24.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(c)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note
2.4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
unused tax losses of RMB35,307,000 and
RMB36,824,000 as at 31 December 2018 and 2017
respectively. The directors consider it is not probable
that future taxable profits against which the losses can
be utilised will be available from these subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Hong
Kong and the PRC, the unrecognised tax losses at the
end of the reporting period would expire in the following
years:

mEMBIRR KRBTGS (&)

(c) RERELRELE

BIEG A MERM FE24FTEH N
SETHE N 2018F K 2017F 12

A318 > AEBEHAR RSB
THE B 5 Bl A K% 35,307,000 7T &

AR 36,824,000 TR IFE LT IE
BE -EZRR BTAIUREAR
HPERBOE N AR ZE B R A

A EBHAEIR o

REBEEE T BENBERERME
B RIS IR ARERRIEEE

R TSI FE fEm

2018 2017

2018 F 2017 F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%ET R AREETIT

Tax losses without expiration 5z BA R O B 7S B 1B 159 23
Tax losses expiring in: R FEEmORISER

2018 20184 - 478

2019 20194 865 865

2020 2020 4F 2,164 2,164

2021 2021 4 995 1,499

2022 2022 F 28,901 31,795

2023 20234 2,223 -

35,307 36,824

The tax losses for the Hong Kong subsidiaries do not
expire under current Hong Kong tax legislation.

BABKE L RMRBABRRIERT

BARMRBAPIL AR E W
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24.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(d)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

According to the PRC CIT Law and its related
regulations, the Group is subject to a withholding tax at
10%, unless reduced by tax treaties or arrangements,
for dividends distributed by a PRC enterprise to its
immediate holding company outside the PRC for
earnings generated beginning on 1 January 2008.
Undistributed earnings generated prior to 1 January
2008 are exempt from such withholding tax. According
to the China-HK Tax Arrangement and its relevant
regulations, a qualified Hong Kong tax resident which is
the "beneficial owner” and holds 25% or more of a
PRC enterprise is entitled to a reduced withholding rate
of 5%.

Deferred tax liabilities of RMB49,540,000 (2017:
RMB31,009,200) were not recognised in respect of the
10% PRC dividend withholding tax that would be
payable on the distribution of retained profits of
RMB495,400,000 as at 31 December 2018 (2017:
RMB310,092,000) in respect of the Group’s subsidiaries
in the PRC as the Company controls the dividend policy
of these subsidiaries and it was determined that it was
probable that these profits would not be distributed in
the foreseeable future.
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25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 25.

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include the

BAVEFARSNEREE

BRAPEFABRENEHEERTEUT

following: &I -
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET ARKET T
Unlisted securities: ELMES
Equity securities — outside Hong Kong ~ RRZARZE 5 — & B EHD 1,726 -
Structured deposits — outside ERBEFR — AR
Hong Kong (note a) (fizxa) 806,694 -
808,420 -
Classified as: KA
Non-current assets ERENEE 1,726 -
Current assets mENEE 806,694 -
808,420 -

Details of the fair value of the Group’s investments in unlisted
securities are set out in Note 27(f) to the consolidated
financial statements.

Note a:  The Group has principal-protected floating income structured
deposits issued by banks in the PRC. As the directors of the
Company evaluate the performance of the structured deposits on a
fair value basis, the structured deposits are classified financial
assets at FVPL on initial recognition because their cash flows do not
represent solely payments of principal and interest. The fair value of
the structured deposits was determined by reference to recent
market transaction.

AEERFLMEFREN A FEFE
R A MR 27()

ffifa: AKEFFPEMRITEITORTTR
EHBEFR - ARARREERLTE
HEFHGEBETRORE - EBE
FRRERERE S BARATETA
BRamemEE - Iﬁﬁfml#@ﬁ
A RABHNK - BHEFANA
E2ZEHTIZRHETE
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26. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 26. I&#& - RERKRE

(a) Dividends (a) RE
The board of directors does not recommend the EESUVTEZRREHE2018F
distribution of a final dividend for the year ended 12 A31 HIEFE 2 REAR (2017
31December 2018 (2017: Nil). F )
(b) Share capital (b) B
2018 2017
2018 2017 %
Number Number

of shares RMB’000 of shares RMB'000
BROBE AR®TR Bmee ARBTT

Issued and fully paid: BRITEEHEL
At 1 January and 31 R1TA1ER
December 12 A31H 300,000,000 2,585 300,000,000 2,585
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (c) REEBHMMHEERAR

(i) Share Premium i) RORE
Share premium represents the difference BiiaBRRAEEHTROE
between the total amount of the par value of BHESEER 2016 F8 R FH
shares issued and the amount of the net proceeds HEMBRBFEZENE
received from the public offering in 2016. Under B o *ETFF%EJXE?%A_T%
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the RRFW KRG & ERAHS
share premium account of the Company is KT ARBBE VE?%@
distributable to the shareholders of the Company HEORRSBEE - AQ
provided that immediately following the date on BEERENEEENAF %f%
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, BIEREEIEZER -

the Company would be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.
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l\‘/T\

26. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(c)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Other reserve

Other reserve was created as a result of the
transactions with the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder in his capacity as equity holder under a
reorganisation to rationalise the Group structure in
preparation for the initial listing of the Company’s
shares on the Stock Exchange in 2016.

Statutory surplus reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group (excluding foreign
investment enterprises) are required to transfer
10% of their profit after taxation, as determined
under the PRC Accounting Regulations, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance
reaches 50% of their registered capital.

The transfer to this reserve must be made before
distribution of a dividend to shareholders.

Statutory reserve fund can be used to cover
previous years' losses, if any, and may be
converted into share capital by the issue of new
shares to shareholders in proportion to their
existing shareholdings or by increasing the par
value of the shares currently held by them,
provided that the balance after such issue is not
less than 25% of the registered capital.

26. B - RERRE (E)

(c)

EENEERAR (&)

(ii)

(iii)

Hpf# s

AEHBARBRMD 2016 F
EBMXEX LT RIESE
B AR AR R (A H i
T—rﬁ)\%’h)kﬁ?ﬁ% LA

I 75 5% B 22 1% - FHLH
bt
EE BB

REFERQEE AEEH
T EIF A B (SN A (b5
B 51 ) 78 15 H B B 1R i ) Y
10% (P EEEREE)
BAEERBRFERE BEEZX
EEABBEEZHETMERN
50% o

HZRENEACAERRR
RIS Z ATHETT

R A& S R AR A AR
FENEBE(MEA)  LAFE
BIZIRIE A R AL PR
HLE AT HT AR S0 N IR B
B EEECR/RA
M Bl BT R SRR TER
M E AR 25% ©
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26. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of the Company. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in Note 2.4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to fund its property development
projects, provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
securities afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

There was no externally imposed capital requirements
on the Group’s subsidiaries in 2018 and 2017.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency and other
price risks arises in the normal course of the Group's
business. The Group’s exposure to these risks and the
financial risk management policies and practices used by the
Group to manage these risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets on the
consolidated statement of financial position represents
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk on these
financial assets.

Trade receivables

The Group closely monitors the collection payments
from customers in accordance with payment schedule
agreed with customers and follow up action is taken to
recover overdue debts, if any. The Group's trade
receivables relate to a certain number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk.

The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating
ECL for trade receivables and recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date.
In estimating the ECL, the Group has taken into account
the historical actual credit loss experience over the past
three years and available press information, adjusted for
forward-looking factors that are specific to the debtors
and general economic conditions of the industry in
which the counterparties operate, in estimating the
probability of default of these financial assets, as well
as the loss upon default in each case. The directors of
the Company considers the ECL of these financial assets
to be insignificant after taking into account the credit
quality and repayment history of the counterparties.

27.

MHEREERAFE

=
l:l/\

‘m@éé ﬂ ‘EM&%@E

RER IR AEE -—REEBEPE
Ee ARBEMESNZERAREAEE
EEZERRMER M ERREER

KRERY AT o
(a) FERB

RAMBHARERASREENRE
BERAAKERAZSEREENR
SiEERR

85 BWRIR

AEBERBEETPIHE N HRERE
REERWIEF N - HAET
A MER - S REURETTEIA
Y BIFZE IR - N5 B H) B 5 UK
ﬁﬁ%?Tﬂﬁ”mgﬁﬁ%'ﬁ
BEBEARETEER

REE BB CAT EE 5 RIK
R BHEEERR  URENSH
SRRz = HERERERERE
BEE - METRBEEEER - K
KEEFABE=ZF2ELERE
EEEEREATBRTIER L5
BEHARERMBEEREREFIE
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the
consolidated financial statements, represents the
Group's exposure to credit risk. The management
considers the ECL of trade receivable to be insignificant
so that no significant loss allowance was recognised
during the year.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents

Substantially all of the Group's pledged bank deposits
and bank balances and cash were deposited in
creditworthy global banks and licensed financial
institutions in the PRC, which management considers
they are without significant credit risks.

Financial guarantee contracts issued

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to financial guarantees provided by
the Group is arising from the amount of contingent
liabilities in relation to financial guarantees issued by the
Group as disclosed in Note 29(a) to the consolidated
financial statements. The management considers the
credit risk exposure to financial guarantees provided to
property purchasers is limited because the facilities are
secured by the properties and the market prices of the
properties are higher than the guaranteed amounts.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables — third parties

The management determines that certain other
receivables from third parties are credit-impaired after
taken into account the age of these balances and the
past settlement history of these parties. An impairment
loss in aggregate of RMB13,676,000 (2017: Nil) was
made in respect of these balances as a result of the
ECL assessment conducted by the management of the
Company. The movements of accumulated impairment
losses on these balances are detailed in Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company considers that the remaining other
receivable from third parties as at 31 December 2018
have low credit risk based on these parties’ strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and low risk of default. In estimating the
ECL and whether these balances are credit-impaired,
the Company has taken into account the historical
actual credit loss experience over the past 3 years and
the financial position of respective parties by reference
to, among others, their management accounts, adjusted
for forward-looking factors, in estimating the probability
of default, as well as the loss upon default. The
management of the Company considers the ECL of
these balances to be insignificant so no loss allowance
was recognised in this respect.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Amounts due from related parties and a non-
controlling shareholder

The Group considers that the amounts due from related
parties and non-controlling shareholder have low credit
risk based on the borrowers’ strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and
low risk of default. Impairment on amounts due from
related parties and a non-controlling shareholder is
measured on 12-month ECL and reflects the short
maturities of the exposures.

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether there
is a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and whether the financial asset is credit-
impaired, the Group has taken into account the historical
actual credit loss experience over the past 3 years and
the financial position of the counterparties by reference
to, among others, their management or audited
accounts and available press information, adjusted for
forward-looking factors that are specific to the debtors
and general economic conditions of the industry in
which the counterparties operate, in estimating the
probability of default of these financial assets, as well
as the loss upon default in each case. The management
of the Group considers the ECL of these financial assets
to be insignificant after taking into account the financial
position and credit quality of the counterparties.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE (Continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s management reviews the liquidity position
of the Group on an ongoing basis, including review of
the expected cash inflows and outflows, sale/pre-sale
results of respective property projects and the progress
of the planned property development projects in order
to monitor the Group's liquidity requirements in the
short and longer terms.

Details of maturity analysis for financial liabilities are
summarised as follows:

As at 31 December 2018

PR EE R A FE (K)

(b) REBEZRMR

AEEEEERHERMNAEENR
PESHAN - BREHERESR
ARRE  HEMEEENH
&/ HEBREREFEHERRE
BREE  UERASEEHNIE
/H\Hm/mébéfwﬁﬁ °

TRIBENIH RSB
T

M20185F12H31H

Carrying  Contractual Within
amount cash flow 1 year
REE ERBEER —F LR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR¥TRT AR®TR

Amounts due to related parties & <t @54 75 318 265,893 265,893 265,893
Trade and other payables B 5N EMEN IR

(excluded receipts in (TBIETEMRGR)

advance) 867,773 867,773 867,773
As at 31 December 2018 #A 2018412 31 B 1,133,666 1,133,666 1,133,666

As at 31 December 2017

M2017F12A31H

Carrying Contractual Within
amount cash flow 1 year
AREE BH|REN —F RN
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTIT AR¥TT AR®BTRT

Amounts due to related parties & 1< B 5 518
Trade and other payables B 5N E MR FRIE
(excluded receipts in (T BFEBU)

advance)

278,056 278,056 278,056

987,330 987,330 987,330

As at 31 December 2017 M2017F12 A31H

1,265,386 1,265,386 1,265,386
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group provided
guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted by
certain banks in connection with the mortgage loans
entered into by purchasers of the Group’s properties of
RMB375,468,000 (2017: RMB420,697,000) which is
repayable on demand (Note 29(a) to the consolidated
financial statements).

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rates risk arises primarily from
restricted cash, and cash and cash equivalents.

The Group does not anticipate significant impact to
restricted cash, and cash and cash equivalents because
the interest rates of bank deposits are not expected to
change significantly.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
transactions which give rise to payables that are
denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other
than the functional currency of the operations to which
the transactions relate. Almost all the Group’s operating
activities are carried out in the PRC with most of the
transactions denominated in RMB. Exposures to
currency exchange rates arise from certain of the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
receivables and trade and other payables which are
denominated in HKD. The Group does not use
derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign
currency risk. The Group reviews its foreign currency
exposures regularly and consider no significant
exposure on its foreign exchange risk.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE (Continued)

(d)

Currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group's exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the entity
to which they relate. For presentation purposes, the
amounts of the exposure are shown in RMB, translated
using the spot rate at the year end date. Differences
resulting from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations into the Group's presentation
currency are excluded.

PR EE R A FE (K)

(d)

B ERE (5

TRAFMLAEERRERRAR
FAAHAEERIGEER 2T
BEHEMDEREELABESERN
ERERE - KEREH  BRESER
AARBIIR  AERFREER
R BNEARE I E o (KB SN E R H) BF
BHRRBEKA B 2GS
HEBRTEREEA

2018 2017
2018 2017
RMB RMB
AR AR
Expressed in RMB’000 SHEVAARE TR
Trade and other payables B 5 M EMERFRIE (63,784) (56,739)
Sensitivity analysis BRESHT

The foreign currency sensitivity analysis is calculated
based on the major net foreign currency exposure of
the Group as at the balance sheet dates, assuming 5%
shift of RMB against HKD.

Results from a 5% strengthening of the RMB against
HKD would increase the Group's profit after tax and
decrease in accumulated losses as at 31 December
2018 RMB by approximately RMB2,392,000 (2017:
RMB2,127,000). A 5% weakening of the RMB against
HKD as at the same dates would have had the equal
but opposite effect.

BREBEAREEBILESNE% - I
BRESMIIBEBEALEENEZER
E"JIE&F#}H AA/?EEE_I—;%;: °

N2018E 12 A31H AR
HBTIHEL%  AEBNKBE

i B 8 & B2 ETES R R A A
R #2,392,000T (2017 : AR
#52,127,0007T ) » RAHE H & -
AR BITEMELY - Al E
EREHERTE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of
the reporting period, including inter-company payables
and receivables within the Group which are
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currencies of the lender or the borrower. The analysis
excludes differences that would result from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations into the Group's presentation currency. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2017.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to price risks arising from
investments held under financial asset at FVPL
amounted to RMB808,420,000 (2017: Available-for-
sales financial assets of RMB209,830,000). The Group
does not actively trade these investments. The
management manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risks and
different return profiles. No sensitivity analysis is
prepared for the price risk as the directors of the
Company considered that the Group is not subject to
significant amount of risk for both years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE (Continued)

(f)

Fair value measurement

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group's financial instruments measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in
HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into
which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and
significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technigue as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the Group can access at the measurement date.

— Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to
meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available.

— Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

PR EE R A FE (K)

(f)

AREIE

TREJREFEVHREERSE
13/ AFERE - REHARTH
AEAREERENENAFED R
—EARFERBR - REGERMA
FERBAEBREANEEREER
o HRFEFEFERATHRE

— B-RMEE:AE-—REA

B EMAFE - BIAAR
BENAGEMASE NG
EARAEERMSPEREAR
KRBT E ©

— FERMEE: AB-_REBA

EtENATE BHEAER
R ABRENESE A&
ANMEER - RAEBEAT
AEREAE TAIBED
WAERLEMSIEAE
SENBAE -

— FZRMHE: ERERTH

BRBAEBFENATE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 27. MIBRABERERAFEE)

VALUE (Continued)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)

RMB'000
ARETT

() 2FEFEGE)

Level 2 Level 3 Total
E=® E=8 HmE
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARKEFTT AR%KFTT

As at 31 December 2018 /420185 12H31H
Financial assets at FVPL 2 A FETAEBREN

EREE
Unlisted equity securities  JF IR E S 1,726 - 1,726
Structured deposits EBIET R 806,694 - 806,694
As at 31 December 2017 2017412 A 131 H
Available-for-sale e
Wealth management AT E M
product 209,830 - 209,830

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value
measurements and no transfers into and out of Level 3
fair value measurements.

Description of the valuation techniques and inputs
used in Level 2 fair value measurement

Unlisted equity securities

The fair value of the unlisted equity securities is evaluated by
the directors with reference to latest financial statements of
the investee.

Structured deposits

The fair value of the structured deposits is evaluated by the
directors which determined by reference to recent market
transactions.

Wealth management products

The unlisted wealth management products’ represented
investment in funds and the fair value is reported by the
financial institutions and external fund manager. The fair value
is calculated based on the quoted prices of bonds, equity and
foreign currency instruments in which the wealth
management products invested in.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

28. COMMITMENTS 28. A&iE
(a) Capital expenditure commitments (a) EARBZAIE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2018 REMBHmEANR2018F 12 A 31
not provided for in consolidated financial statements HE AR MHEAEENT -

were as follows:

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 5
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARBTET

Contracted but not provided for EETRE R B 828,885 51,492
(b) Commitments under operating leases (b) REHEEHRE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total RBEHRR - AEETAHREZ K
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable EHENRRFEHERMNREL
operating leases, which are payable as follows: BT -

2018 2017

2018 5F 2017 F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARBTET

Within one year —F R 152 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/GUARANTEES

29. HAREE CREER

ISSUED
(a) Guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities (a) ZRIBAEER
The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage AEBAETRITHAEEMEER
facilities granted by certain banks in connection with the KAV NRBERRENIRIB/RE
mortgage loans entered into by purchasers of the IBEER - IRBERED W%
Group's properties. Pursuant to the terms of the BEXERIZEER  WAEBREE
guarantees, if there is default of the mortgage EEERERIZBER  ERHERXR
payments by these purchasers, the Group is BREERIBITHEMAIEF B K E
responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage loans o REEMERIE R HIEBRIR
together with any accrued interest and penalty owned BERZBR  ZRTKEEED
by the defaulted purchasers to the banks. The Group's EIRBURIT AT ARPTEFERH
guarantee period commences from the dates of grant FERESEHEBER B (URRE
of the relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the EHBAE)IE -
earlier of the bank receiving the required evidence of
mortgage over the relevant property in favour of the
bank and the full settlement of mortgage loans by the
buyer.
The maximum amount of guarantees given to banks for RIMEER  REEBGRE FAEEH
mortgage facilities granted to the purchasers of the MEERNIZIEME M TETH
Group's properties at the end of the reporting period EaERESENT
was as follows:
2018 2017
20184 2017 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETT
Guarantees given to banks for METFAREBEMEERN
mortgage facilities granted to LB E RIRITIRM
purchasers of the Group's properties EPER 189,840 252,130
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/GUARANTEES
ISSUED (Continued)

(a)

Guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities
(Continued)

The directors consider that it is not probable that the
Group will sustain a loss under these guarantees as
during the periods under guarantees, the Group can
take over the ownerships of the related properties and
sell the properties to recover any amounts paid by the
Group to the banks. The directors also consider that the
fair market value of the underlying properties is able to
cover the outstanding mortgage loans guaranteed by
the Group in the event the purchasers default payments
to the banks. In addition, the Group has not
encountered any incidents of default in payment of
mortgage by the purchasers since 2017, the directors
consider that the likelihood of default of payments by
the purchasers is minimal and therefore the financial
guarantee measured at fair value is immaterial.

The Group has not recognised any deferred income in
respect of these guarantees as its fair value is
considered to be minimal by the directors.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

l\‘/T\

29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/GUARANTEES
ISSUED (Continued)

(b)

Land use right

(i)

Haikou Phoenix Aqua City Phase Il

On 17 January 2018, a subsidiary of the Company,
Hainan Nanhai Xiang Long received a decision
from Haikou People’s Government in relation to
its confiscating of the state-owned construction
land use right of a parcel of land owned by Hainan
Nanhai Xiang Long located to the north of Bin Hai
Xi Lu in Haikou, with a total site area of
approximately 88,209.07 square meters (the land
certificate number being Hai Kou Shi Guo Yong
(2008) No. 001431) (Haikou Phoenix Aqua City
Phase Il (the “Phase II")) (the “Haikou Decision”)
for the reason that the land parcel has not been
developed and constructed on schedule.

According to a notice issued by the Haikou
Planning Bureau on 2 July 2013, the planned site
area of Phase Il was decreased from 88,209.07
square meters to 61,761.00 square meters, and
the plot ratio was increased from 0.5 to 0.78, for
which compensation was to be made to the
Group for the land being expropriated, and the
nature of land use right was changed to
“tourism”. The directors of the Company are of
the view that the changes in governmental
planning and coastline protection policies as well
as the delay in updating the change of land use
right certificate have objectively resulted in the
impediment on the development of the Phase Il,
the consequence being that the land parcel was
unable to be developed and constructed on
schedule.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/GUARANTEES
ISSUED (Continued)

(b)

Land use right (Continued)

(i)

Haikou Phoenix Aqua City Phase Il (Continued)

On 15 June 2018, the Group has formally
instituted an application of administrative
proceeding on the Haikou Decision to the
Intermediate People’s Court of Haikou City (“Haikou
Court”). On 28 December 2018, Haikou Court issued
its administrative judgment (the “Haikou
Administrative Judgment”) on the administrative
proceeding in relation to Phase II. Haikou Court ruled
that the Group succeeded in its administrative
proceeding against Haikou People’s Government
and dismissed the Haikou Decision in relation to
the recovery of the land use right of Haikou
project without compensation by the Haikou
People’s Government for the reasons that Haikou
Decision was made without sufficient evidence
and was not applied with the applicable laws. On
13 February 2019, Hainan Nanhai Xiang Long
received an appeal notice (the “Appeal Notice")
from Higher People’'s Court of Hainan Province
that the Haikou People’s Government has made
an application to appeal against the Haikou
Administrative Judgment. On 4 March 2019,
Hainan Nanhai Xiang Long filed a defence in
respect of the Appeal Notice to the Haikou Court.

The directors of the Company consider that the
Group, after consulted the Group's external
counsels, has reasonable grounds to justify that
the Haikou Administrative Judgment is still valid
and has a view of that it is not more likely than not
that a present obligation to surrender the land
without compensation exists at the end of the
reporting period. No impairment has been made in
respect of the investment cost on the land use
right of Phase Il. The directors of the Company
expect that the final decision form Higher People’s
Court of Hainan Province on this legitimation will
be issued in the second half of 2019. Should the
appeal from Haikou People’s Government be
succeeded, the Group may suffer a loss from the
confiscation amounting to approximately
RMB132.4 million being the carrying value of the
land use right of Phase Il recognised within the
properties under development.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

l\‘/T\

29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/GUARANTEES
ISSUED (Continued)

(b)

Land use right (Continued)

(ii)

Danzhou Phoenix Aqua City

A subsidiary of the Company, Danzhou Shuang
Lian, received state-owned construction land use
right decisions (the “Danzhou Decisions”) issued
by the Danzhou People’'s Government in May
2018, which state that on 30 December 2017, 13
February 2018 and 2 March 2018, total five land
parcels in relation to a property development
project of Danzhou Shuang Lian, namely Danzhou
Phoenix Aqua City ("Danzhou Phoenix Aqua
City") located on the section of Binhai Avenue,
Southern Area, Baimajing Town (the land
certificate number being Dan Guo Yong (2010)
Nos. 710, 711, 712, 713 and 714), with a total site
area of approximately 385,395.83 square meters
(the "Lands”) were confiscated without
compensation for the reason that the Lands was
unable to be developed and constructed on
schedule.

The directors are of the view that the changes in
governmental planning and the delay in processing
relevant procedures have objectively resulted in
the impediment to the development of the
Danzhou Phoenix Aqua City, which cause the
Group unable to further proceed with the
development of Danzhou Phoenix Aqua City on
schedule.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

l\‘/T\

29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/GUARANTEES
ISSUED (Continued)

(b)

Land use right (Continued)

(ii)

Danzhou Phoenix Aqua City (Continued)

On 20 July 2018, the Group has formally instituted
an application of administrative proceeding on the
Danzhou Decisions to the Second Intermediate
People’'s Court of Hainan Province (the “Danzhou
Administrative Proceedings”). On 14 December
2018, Hainan Court issued its administrative
judgments on the Danzhou Administrative
Proceedings in relation to the Lands (the
“Danzhou Administrative Judgments”). Hainan
Court ruled that the Group succeeded in its
Danzhou Administrative Proceedings against
Danzhou People’'s Government and dismissed the
Danzhou Decisions in relation to the three land
parcels with a total site area of approximately
272,046.53 square metres for the reasons (among
others) that the Danzhou Decisions were made
without sufficient evidence and not fully
consistent with the actual circumstances.
However, Hailan Court ruled that the Danzhou
People’s Government succeeded in the Danzhou
Administrative Proceedings regarding the
remaining two land parcels with site area of
approximately 113,349.30 square metres.

29. FREE CREERE)

(b)

+ it {65 P #E ()

(ii)

M BE K ()

AREBEMR2018%F7 A20H
FEREASE - RREARKR
BEMNIAEEZENIRLITR
B Fh BB R5 (] & N 1T B R
A1) > 2018412 8148 -
G m AR B S i 2 (2N
ITERGFRAAED EfTE A R
([EMITEHAR] - BREZE
BRE T - AEBIEEEIMT
ARBTRE 2 EMNITHEF
AR BEEF - WA R
#% T T8 49 272,046.53 F J7 3K
2RI ENETESE
REA(EHRE)ENRE
EZIER T EFT ZEIEAR
BERBRALT T2 A
o BEAREE  EMT
ARBFAEBEBREEL
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

l\‘/T\

29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/GUARANTEES
ISSUED (Continued)

(b)

Land use right (Continued)

(ii)

Danzhou Phoenix Aqua City (Continued)

On 25 December 2018, the Group lodged an
appeal at the Hainan Court against the Danzhou
Administrative Judgments in relation to two of the
aforesaid five land parcels with a total site area of
approximately 113,349.30 square metres. Also,
the Group received summons dated 15 February
2019 from the Higher People’s Court of Hainan
Province that the Danzhou People’s Government
lodged appeals against the Danzhou
Administrative Judgments in relation to the three
land parcels with a total site area of approximately
272,046.53 square metres. On 22 April 2019, the
Higher People’s Court of Hainan Province issued
its administrative judgments on the Danzhou
Decisions and ruled that the appeals lodged by
the Group against the Danzhou Administrative
Judgments were succeeded and the appeals
lodged by Danzhou People’'s Government against
the Danzhou Administrative Judgments were not
succeeded, and revoke the Danzhou Decisions
issued by Danzhou People's Government in
relation to the confiscation of the Lands. The
administrative judgments issued by the Higher
People’s Court of Hainan Province were final.

The Group is undergoing a study on re-
development of the project of Danzhou Phoenix
Aqua City and negotiating with the local
government for obtaining necessary licenses/
certificates for the project of Danzhou Phoenix
Aqua City.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

30. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the related party information disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group, the Group entered into the following significant
related party transactions during the year ended 31 December
2018.

(a) Name and relationship with related parties/
connected parties

During the year ended 31 December 2018, transactions
with the following parties were considered as related

party transactions:

Name of party

30. EXABLIREREERS

BRASEGS Y HHRE LMD WEN

BT A RN REEE E=2018F 12

AR IEFERISIATERBB RS °

(a) BAEESS BAES BWRERHB
5/ BERHBRR

HE2018F 12 A31HILFE - &

AT &R S AR SR 2

5

Relationship with the Group

S B8 HEASBENEF
Yeung Man Ultimate Controlling Shareholder
H 8 B AP R

Nanjing Huizhi Construction Installation
Engineering Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Huizhi")
EREEREELRIRERAR(EREE])

Nanjing Zhonghui Construction Engineering
Co., Ltd. (“"Nanjing Zhonghui Construction”)
ARPEEETIRARAR ((FRPEEE])

Zhonghui (Nanjing) Property Development
Co., Ltd. (“Zhong Hui Nanjing")
hE(ER)FHERERRAR ([HEBR])

Nanjing Diken Engineering Design Consultancy
Co., Ltd. (“Naniing Diken")
FAREBRTIRERFHAARAR ((FARAE])

Nanjing Hengjida Engineering Design Consultancy
Company Limited (“Nanjing Hengjida")
ARELEIRERIHAGRAR (BRELE])

Lianyungang Hui Neng Foundation Construction
Engineering Co., Ltd. (“Lianyungang Hui Neng")
EEEHREANERTIREAR AR ([EEBER])

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
BASTERR AR RIS B B

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
AR IR RIS B e

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
RETERRAR R B H 82

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
AR IR R ) B e

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
AR IR R S B e

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
BRAIEIR AR AT HI ) B S
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

30. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a)

Name and relationship with related parties/
connected parties (Continued)

Name of party
S B

30. EXBEBMIREREERS (&)

(a) BAMETS "BAES £ KERME
5/ BERNRR(E)

Relationship with the Group
HEAKBE R

Nanjing Maoheng Engineering Design Consultancy
Company Limited (“Nanjing Maoheng")
FARXEIRRFBAEGRAR ([FARERE])

Hainan Zhonghuan Property Development
Company Limited (“Hainan Zhonghuan”)

BRETRFEHWERZEAERAR(DEESE])

Nanjing Boken Corporate Planning Consultation
Company Limited (“Nanjing Boken")
AREECERREBZRNARAR((ARES )

Nanjing Huiyao Decoration Construction
Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Huiyao")
EREREENAR ([ FERER])

Leshan Huizhi Technology Development
Co., Ltd. ("Leshan Huizhi")
L FERRBERAR AR ([#LEE])

Chung Wai (Jiangsu) Decoration Park Project
Company Limited (“Chung Wai (Jiangsu)”)
RE(LE) SRR TRERERAA([FECIE) )

Nanjing Tianhui ATongda Corporate Planning
Consultation Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Tianhui”)
ARAERECERIFABRLAF (ARRE])

Nanjing San Long
FR=3E

Di Geng (Hong Kong) Investment Development
Company Limited ("Di Geng")

(BB REEEAERAG ([HH])

Zhou Li

)

I
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Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
RETERRAR R IR E 82

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
RETERRAR R I H 82

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
BRI R HIM E 82

Associate of a group controlled by the Ultimate
Controlling Shareholder
FR S AR PR AR AR SRR i ) SR B A Bt 2 2 7

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
BRI E S

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
REERARRIEHI B 58

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
AR IR RIS B

Non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary

BB R B A FEAE AR A R

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
REPERAR R S E 58

Executive director and Chief executive office
of the Group
REBNITEERITHRERH
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

30. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

30. EXBEBMLIREREERS (&)

(Continued)

(b) Key management personnel remuneration (b) FEZIEAESHE
Remuneration for key management personnel of the REEBTEEBAEHH(BFEM
Group, including amounts paid to the Company's RAVBREMFI0ORENERA
directors and certain of the highest paid employees as RIEENETHRSFMNEE XM
disclosed in Note 10 to the consolidated financial SR W ¢
statements, is as follows:

2018 2017
20184 2017 €
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETIT
Wages, salaries and other benefits ITE - HehHEMET 3,928 3,430
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & (K78 Fil5H &)t 2k 241 -
4,169 3,430
The above remuneration to key management personnel LR TEEEBEABNINESH
is included in “staff costs” as disclosed in Note 8 to the RERB Y BHMERNFSEECIE
consolidated financial statements. TRAS] o
(c) Transactions with related parties/connected (c) EERAEES BAEFNRS
parties
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 £
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFIT
Construction and consultancy T2 K BB R AR A% (B aE (i)
services (Note (i) 53,296 285,207
Interest expense FERAX - 1,904
Decoration consultancy services E SRR RS
(Note (ii)) (BF&E (i) (167) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

30. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(c) Transactions with related parties/connected
parties (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Construction and consultancy services

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Group received construction services from the
following related party:

30. EXBEBMIREREERS (&)

(c)

(i)

HEBS BEINRS (&)

TRERERR%

H E2018FE12A310 |[F 5
EASEB T @A E
BIRRS :

2018 2017

2018 2017 &

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TT ARETIT

Nanjing Huizhi B 53,296 285,207

The above transactions between the Group and
its related parties mainly comprised construction
services in relation to earthmoving, scenery
design and engineering on the Group's properties
under development from construction companies,
which are controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder.

Decoration consultancy services

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Group received decoration consultancy services

(ii)

VA | 7 2 18 B HC R B O O 32
FITEBREZERNARAE
BERTYMRREHELTT
B RERFARIERBEN
I&HW“ ZFRERA I
AR AR R PR ] ©

FKIEREE R

H E2018F12A318 IF4F
B OREEEENTEES

from the following related party: KIS B AR TS ¢
2018 2017
20184 2017 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREETIT
Di Geng HoFH 167 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

30.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(d) Balances with related parties/connected
parties/non-controlling shareholder

(i)

Amounts due from related parties/non-
controlling shareholder

30.

EXBEBRAIRZRBERS (&)

(d)

SRS BERFERR
R

(i)

FEW BT FFERBRRK
|

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARBTET

Non-trade related: FESHEHE
Nanjing San Long ER=Ff 1,413 21,258
Nanjing Huizhi AR EE 20 -
Di Geng Ho 4 174 -
1,607 21,258

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

IR REET 28R
EEEEEN -
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30. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30 EAABEIRERBAERS (&)
AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(d) Balances with related parties/connected (d) EEREEES BEER FERK
parties/non-controlling shareholder REVAEEER (1)

(Continued)

(ii) Amounts due to related parties/non- (i) EABEBA FEERBRRDR
controlling shareholder bi|
2018 2017
2018 2017 £
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTET

Trade related: H 518
Nanjing Huizhi AREE 157,459 232,011
Lianyungang Hui Neng BEBERE 21,221 21,236
Chung Wai (Jiangsu) FEOIE) 1,426 1,426
Leshan Huizhi 2|28 50 50
Nanjing Zhonghui Construction B R R 54,167 -
Nanjing Hengjida mRELLE 516 -
Nanjing Diken A R 2R 4,351 -
Nanjing Huiyao R R 2,391 221
241,581 254,944
Non-trade related: HE 5 -
Other payables due to: FERAT S EAM
FERTFRIA
Nanjing San Long MR=8 11,181 23,112
Chung Wai (Hong Kong) HFE(HB)BEXBRAF
Property Company Limited 2 -
Zhong Jia (Hong Kong) P (EBERERBRAT
Investment Limited 166 -
FE(FE)EEBRAF FE(FEDEERRAF 5 -
Zhou Li JEIFi 12,958 -
24,312 23,112
The amounts due from related parties (non-trade) FEU BB T (EBE 5 ) 5KIB A
are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed EIRE - RERERTEE
terms of repayment. Hy o
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31. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION HtESREER
(a) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (a) BRBIANEFESEEKELEMN
generated from operations ReHR
2018 2017
2018 2017 4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR%T ARKETT
Operating activities RESEE
Profit before taxation BR B AT 544,002 780,832
Adjustments for: R
Gain on sales of property, HEYE - BE & EERE
plant and equipment (74) (49)
Depreciation and amortisation PrE LY 3,735 3,949
Allowance on advance payment to (A FGE R S TR R IE B
contractors 12,895 -
Allowance for impairment loss HEMEWIREEEERE
made on other receivables 13,676
Finance costs B TSR R - 17,231
Interest income FEUA (4,757) (8,967)
Equity-settled share-based LA 2R £ E.C#IEJ//(HX
transactions REMEAZ - 978
Forfeiture of deposits BUWIRE (2,090) -
Realised gain on financial assets at BAFEFABZZEMEE
fair value through profit or loss, net EA BB RWEFRE (36,694) -
Write-off of property, plant and MsEYZE - BB MRS
equipment 8 -
Change in fair value of investment REMENTEE
properties 21,407 -
Change in fair value of financial assets & AF{EF ABRZ £ RIEE
at fair value through profit or loss NEEEY (6,694) -
Gain on revaluation upon transfer of B3I E Y214 B
investment properties (6,028) (36,399)
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31. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 31. HREREER (F)
(Continued)
(a) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (a) BRBIANEFNESEEKELEN
generated from operations (Continued) RE ¥R ()
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARKBTET

Operating profit before changes in & 3E & & 8 8 Al = K&%F

working capital 539,386 757,575
Changes in working capital BB EE)
Increase in deposits for acquisition of Y8 + b 2 5T N
land (13,760) -
(Increase) Decrease in properties R (1B N) /A
under development (117,975) 168,339
Decrease in completed properties FIEHEE B WERD
held for sale 613,444 630,301
Decrease in contract cost BRI 8,633 -
Decrease (Increase) in trade and other & 5 & E th FE Y 3K I8
receivables A () 22,536 (2,340)
(Decrease) Increase in trade and other 8 5 M H fth B 3018
payables Gt 18 (79,369) 303,049
Decrease in receipt in advance/ B BB ERD
contract liabilities (357,929) -
Increase in restricted cash IR IR 21 0 (42,177) (39,063)
Cash generated from operations BEELANERS 572,689 1,817,861
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31. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 3. HREREEHN (&)

disclosed in Note 30(d)(ii) to the consolidated financial

statements.

(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing (b) FMETEIEEEER
activities
Loan from
a non-
Bank loans  controlling
and other shareholder
borrowings (Note) Total
RITERR BHFERERR
Htfgm B (M) et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBTT AREEFT
At 1 January 2017 R2017E181A8 973,853 141,894 1,115,747
Changes from financing cash flows: BEBREHEE :
Repayment of bank and BERTRIFFITER
non-bank loans (980,000) - (980,000)
Repayment of loan interests BREERFE (14,207) - (14,207)
Repayment of loan from EBRIETERREER
a non-controlling shareholder - (140,040) (140,040)
Total changes from financing RMERSREHEH
cash flows (994,207) (140,040) (1,134,247)
Other changes: Hfth# g
Interest expenses (Note 6) FERZ (FFE6) 20,354 - 20,354
Total other charges HinEg st 20,354 - 20,354
At 31 December 2017 and R2017612A31B R
1 January 2018 2018F1A1H - 1,854 1,854
Changes from financing cash flows: FERE&REH
Repayment of loan from ERIEZRRRER
a non-controlling shareholder - (1,854) (1,854)
At 31 December 2018 7R2018E12A31H - - -
Note: The amounts are included in amount due to Nanjing San Long as BisE : B R AR & B R 2 MY 5 30(d) (i) BT 4%

B 2o ARNER=REZHA -
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 32. KA BB BERRE
COMPANY
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 £
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B ARET T ARETIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NGOk 1,519,742 1,519,742
Financial assets at fair value BAVFEFABGNEREE
through profit or loss 1,726 -
1,521,468 1,519,742
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 Nk EmEWRFIE 8,156 418
Available-for-sale financial assets ~ At HE SR EE - 209,830
Cash and cash equivalents B MESEEY 221,605 18,893
229,761 229,141
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R HAb R FIR 17,702 12,094
Net current assets RBEEFE 212,059 217,047
NET ASSETS EEFE 1,733,527 1,736,789
Capital and reserves EXR#EE
Share capital A% A 2,585 2,585
Reserves B 32(a) 1,760,007 1,751,624
Accumulated losses 25tE18 32(a) (29,065) (17,420)
TOTAL EQUITY HiER 1,733,527 1,736,789

This statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18

September 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

AR RE N 2019F9 A 18 HEE
e ERBEETE  YHAUTEER

REE

Zhou Li Fan Wenyi
i 38 3%
Director Director
EF EF
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

32. RATWMBARRE (K)

COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Movements in components of equity (a) ERERTDNEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REF G A R ZARED 2 H7)
balances of each component of the Group's BHA R AR EERE N E s
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated “EJJ?E RABIFEFREARE
statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes WEERE D EFFIFIOT
in the Company’'s individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:
Reserves
e
Changes in
fair value of
available-for-
sale financial
Share Other assets Exchange Total Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve reserves losses Total
A E
. SREE
REGEE Hivfts ATEZDHE HNERE e R ER @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTT ARKTR AR%T: ARETT  ARETR ARETR
Balance 1 January 2017 R2017F1 A1 B2 &R 236,791 1,416,700 - 111,617 1,765,108 (15,165) 1,749,943
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - (2,255) (2,255)
Other comprehensive loss FRNEMZEER:
for the year:
Changes in fair value of ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%‘gﬂ?@

available-for-sale financial assets - - 1,749 - 1,749 - 1,749
Exchange differences on translation # ﬁﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁizﬁ | &%

of financial statements to NELZE

presentation currency - - - (15,233) (15,233) - (15,233)

- - 1,749 (15,233) (13,484) - (13,484)
Total comprehensive loss FRNREBELE

for the year - - 1,749 (15,233) (13,484) (2,255) (15,739)
Balance at 31 December 2017 R2017E12A318 %

and 1 January 2018 20185F 1 A1 BRE# 236,791 1,416,700 1,749 96,384 1,751,624 (17,420) 1,734,204
Impact on initial application of NREREBHERE

HKFRS 9 ERFOFMTE - - (1,749) - (1,749) 1,749 -
Adjusted balance at R2018E1B1B/

1 January 2018 TR 236,791 1,416,700 - 96,384 1,749,875 (15,671) 1,734,204
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - (13,394) (13,394)
Other comprehensive income FREBZERANES

for the year:

Exchange differences on translation }Wéﬁﬁ%iﬁﬁﬁiﬂ

of financial statements to ERENERESR

presentation currency - - - 10,132 10,132 - 10,132
Total comprehensive loss FREEHRLE

for the year - - - 10,132 10,132 (13,39%) (3,262)
Balance at 31 December 2018 R2018%12A31H

Hkes 236,791 1,416,700 - 106,516 1,760,007 (29,065) 1,730,942
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

33. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 33. RITBARMNER
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2018 R2018F & 2017F 12 A31 HZ £ 2K
and 2017 are as follows: BARFEBNT :
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of
registration and issued and Percentage of
Name of company business paid up capital attributable equity interest  Principal activities
AR/ BRIRAR
AAER R RAGEE EEEEED L TEEH
2018 2017

20185 20174

Zhong Jia (Hong Kong) Investment Construction  Hong Kong (“HK") HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited BB((EE]) 10,0007 REER

PRIER)RARRARAT

Peak Well Investment Development Limited BVI US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
BERERRARLA EERIES 50,000% 7 RERR
Time Being Group Limited HK HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding and
FEEEERAR 0 10,0007 provision of decoration
consultancy services
T T“HX&} {/\ZY“SZEEF‘?
T
Lianyungang Tai Sheng City The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Development Co., Ltd. i AR% RERR
BEARBAMERBRA 10,000,0007
Lianyungang Long Ji Properties Co., Ltd. The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEARAERERAR e AR RERR
10,000,000
Nanjing Jia Pei Investment Management The PRC US$500,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Consulting Co., Ltd. i 500,000 T RERR

BREIREERHARRAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

33. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name of company

LAER

33. RKTERAHER (F)

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of

registration and issued and Percentage of

business paid up capital attributable equity interest  Principal activities
MR/ BRIRAR

RS RAGE BRI IEEH

2018 2017
20185 20175

Sanya Fenghuang Xin Cheng
=R EHH

Sanya Fenghuang Shuiyun
= DREKE

Hainan Nanhai Xiang Long

sEmEIR

Sanya Hui Xin
BV

Nanjing Bai Rui Ze Property Co., Ltd.
HREREEEERAG

Zhong Ze (Hong Kong) Investment Limited

PE(BEIREARAA

Sanya Zhong Ze Kai Industrial Co., Ltd.
PRI ERARAA

The PRC RMB400,000,000 100% 100%  Property development

i AEE NEERE
400,000,000

The PRC RMB280,000,000 100% 100%  Property development

i AEE NERRE
280,000,000t

The PRC RMB300,000,000 100% 100%  Property development

i AEE NERRE
300,000,000t

The PRC RMB57,142,857 82.5% 82.5%  Investment holding

G N RERR

57,142,857 7T

The PRC RMB210,000,000 100% 100%  Property development

i AEE NERRE
210,000,000

HK HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding

Bl 10,0007 RERK

The PRC US$4,800,000 100% 100%  Investment holding

HE 4,800,0003%7T RERR
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

l\‘/T\

33. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of

registration and issued and
Name of company business

AL/ BRARAR
RRER RS RARE

paid up capital attributable equity interest

R B QR ER (&)

Percentage of
Principal activities

Danzhou Shuang Lian The PRC RMB412,500,000
Mg i ARE
412,500,000 7
Sincere Graceful Holdings Limited BVI US$100
AEAERERDT EBRNES 1007
Grand Health (Hong Kong) Investment Co Ltd HK HK$100
XEEMBEREARAA i 10087
Hylan Investment Inc. The USA -
*H
Crossland Development Inc. The USA US$3,950,000
3 3,950,000t
Whitney Drive Development, LLC The USA -
*H
Affix Innovation Capital, LLC The USA -
*H
* These entities are PRC limited liability companies. The English

translation of the company names is for reference only. The official
names of the companies are in Chinese.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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EERERAL TEED

2018 2017

2018% 2017%

60% 60%  Property development
NEERE

100% - Investment holding
REZR

100% - Investment holding
RERR

100% - Investment holding
REZK

73% - Investment holding
REBR

73% - Property development
NELRE

100% - Dormant
EREK

* HEERRTEEREMEARF - AAIMKEX
ELEH2E  RREARERTX -

BEERR LRMIARFMEART
E%%EV%Fi%ﬁ$$I§E@

ENEADBINNBAR - EERAE
REEMHBARMNFETERERER
A=
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

33.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The following table lists out the information relating to
Danzhou Shuang Lian and Sanya Hui Xin, the subsidiaries of
the Group which have a material non-controlling interests
(“NCI”). The summarised financial information presented
below represents the amounts before any inter-company
elimination.

33. RKfERAHER (F)

TRIVREBASE A ERNIFFERE
a ([ FREEIR AR ) 2 MY B A A N B i

k=
ERL 2RI R AR EHA 2 R

TEFHER - T2 ZHBHE
T o

(i) Danzhou Shuang Lian (i) {EMNEE

2018 2017

2018 2017 £

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥TR AREFT

NCI percentage IR ERA DL 40% 40%
Current assets mENEE 620,772 731,009
Non-current assets EREEE 14,107 8,853
Current liabilities mEAaE (96,103) (190,273)
Non-current liabilities IEREaE (57,322) (58,884)
Net assets BEFE 481,454 490,705
Carrying amount of NCI JEIERRE S M AR (A 267,405 273,491
Revenue g 61,275 158,346

Loss and total comprehensive loss FRERBEEEEEARE

for the year (9,251) (4,754)
Loss attributable to NCI JEITRE RS B B 1E (6,086) (2,503)
Cash flows from operating activities — &&EEEEMIE SR 341 139,110
Cash flows from investing activities KREERHEEMNRER 85 (22)
Cash flows from financing activities RMEFHEENRESR (1,854) (140,040)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

33.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(i)

Danzhou Shuang Lian (Continued)

In year 2013 and 2014, the Group entered into a series
of investment agreements with Nanjing San Long and
Danzhou Shuang Lian, where the Group eventually
acquired 60% of the equity interests of Danzhou
Shuang Lian from Nanjing San Long in January 2014
(the "Acquisition”). The Danzhou Shuang Lian project is
divided into Danzhou Phase | and Danzhou Phase II. At
the time of the Acquisition, Danzhou Phase | with an
area of approximately 89 mu was partially under
development and was in the process of pre-sale, while
Danzhou Phase Il with an area of approximately 569 mu
was a piece of undeveloped land. Pursuant to the
relevant investment agreements, Nanjing San Long as
the non-controlling shareholder continued to manage,
develop and undertake fully the risk and reward of
phase | until its completion and disposal; and separate
ledgers and bank accounts were set up for phases | and
[I. Danzhou Phase | is an autonomous and operationally
distinct business division that would remain under the
direction of Nanjing San Long after the Acquisition.

The assets and liabilities as well as revenue, cost of
sales and other items in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income related
to Danzhou Phase | have been included as part of the
assets and liabilities as well as profit or loss and other
comprehensive income items of Danzhou Shuang Lian
as they are not legally separable from other assets and
liabilities as well as profit or loss and other
comprehensive income items related to Danzhou Phase
II. Notwithstanding the fact that the nominal NCI
percentage of Danzhou Shuang Lian is 40%, the
economic interest of the non-controlling shareholder
was calculated at 100% interest of the Danzhou Phase |
and 40% interest of the Danzhou Phase |I.

The net profit or loss, net assets or liabilities arising
from Danzhou Phase | are wholly attributable to, and
accordingly are deducted through the inclusion of such
amounts in, the NCI in the Group's consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income and the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.
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33. RKfERAER (F)

(i)

M &2 B (&)

MR2013 K 2014 F [ - AEE R
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R 20144 1 B/ R = se BB E N
EERE60% B AR HE ([ ULEE 1) - 1IN
EHER D AEMN B REMN=
Ho AUEE 2 mTEL A89EL
FIME M —EAE R 30y IETE FA B i
1TI8E - &4 A 569 BA H 1E N
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WE W EERREE R =R
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U2 S R R = REFRIE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

33. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 33. AMIEBATRIER (E)
(ii) Sanya Hui Xin (i) =mEH
2018 2017
2018 F 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARBTET

NClI percentage FERERA DL 17.5% 17.5%
Current assets MEEE 485,552 1,127,668
Non-current assets ERHEE 43,421 26,971
Current liabilities mENBRE (257,782) (931,311)
Non-current liabilities FErEaE (1,154) -
Net assets HmEE 270,037 223,328
Carrying amount of NCI R R REE 63,581 55,459
Revenue W25 204,529 311,090
Profit and total comprehensive FREF L mR s A%

income for the year 29,720 56,502
Profit attributable to NCI FEVE AR 25 B (8 A 7,612 10,834
Cash flows from operating activities KETHESNIRSR (526,720) 1,117,060
Cash flows from investing activities WEERBEENRER 9,975 1,194
Cash flows from financing activities BEEBEEMNRET - (616,429)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2= 20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

34. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group has the
following events after 31 December 2018.

(i)

Renewal of construction cooperation
framework agreement

The framework construction services agreement dated
8 April 2016 (“Construction Cooperation Framework
Agreement”) entered into among the Company, Sanya
Fenghuang Xincheng, Sanya Fenghuang Shuiyun,
Hainan Nanhai Xiang Long, Danzhou Shuang Lian and
Nanjing Huizhi (collectively the “Relevant Parties”) as
disclosed in the Prospectus has been expired on 31
December 2018.

On 25 January 2019, the Relevant Parties have agreed
to continue with the arrangement under the
Construction Cooperation Framework Agreement after
the expiry of its term upon similar terms and/or covering
similar scope of services as in the Construction
Cooperation Framework Agreement by entering into of
the new construction cooperation framework
agreement entered into among the Relevant Parties
(“2019 Renewal Framework Agreement”), of which it
extends the Construction Cooperation Framework
Agreement for three financial years commencing from
1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021. The details of
the 2019 Renewal Framework Agreement are detailed
in the Company’s announcements dated 25 January
2019, 20 February 2019 and 13 March 2019,
respectively and the circular of the Company dated 26
March 2019. The 2019 Renewal Framework Agreement
was approved in the extraordinary general meeting on
29 April 2019.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

34. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

(ii)

Formation of subsidiaries

(a)

On 24 April 2019, Nanjing Hailan Estate Co., Ltd.
("Nanjing Hailan"), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company incorporated in the
PRC in 2019 entered into a cooperation
agreement A (the “Cooperation Agreement A")
with Guangzhou Ruifeng Property Development
Co., Ltd. (“Guangzhou Ruifeng"), pursuant to
which the both parties agreed to establish a joint
venture company (the “Company A") in the PRC
to principally engage in real estate development in
the PRC.

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement A,
Nanjing Hailan will advance up to RMB500 million
to the Company A in 2019 in the form of
shareholders’ loan with an annual interest rate of
12%, subject to capital needs of the Company A.
The Company A shall principally engage in real
estate investment, development and management
in the PRC. Pursuant to the terms of the
Cooperation Agreement A, the registered capital
of the Company A is RMB50 million. Nanjing
Hailan shall contribute RMB27,500,000,
representing 55% of the registered capital of the
Company A, whereas Guangzhou Ruifeng shall
contribute RMB22,500,000, representing 45% of
the registered capital of the Company A.

34. MEMKREEE)

(i)

P SL Y A B

(a)

MN2019F4F248 - BB
EEXERAR(ERERE
Bl (ARrlzgsEE
AT R2019 7 B
BT ) BB ) B 5 it 7 B
BRAR(EMNFEE]ETT
AERZATEEREAL -
Ei o EFRERFRE/KL
AERR(ATAD £

NP B =EHERE -

RIEGIEHZEA  BREER
PR 2019F AR E R X M
NEABNHEZ AREB00H
B FAEE12% (RTA
AIAMEARFKME) © A A
ATERFENEFHER
T FHERERERE - REAE
WEAZIER - RRAZ M
B AR A ANREB0,000,0007T °
FREBEBENEARE
27,500,0007C * & 2~ BIAE
fMEARRIBE% » M &M EsE
15 HE AR #22,500,0007T °
HRARIAFMERR 45% ©
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34. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

(ii)

Formation of subsidiaries (Continued)

(b)

On 24 April 2019, Nanjing Hailan also entered into
another cooperation agreement B (the
“"Cooperation Agreement B") with Zhou Xiaojun
(“Mr. Zhou"), pursuant to which both parties
agreed to establish a joint venture company (the
“Company B") in the PRC to principally engage in
real estate development in the PRC.

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement B,
Nanjing Hailan will advance up to RMB500 million
to the Company B in 2019 in the form of
shareholders’ loan with an annual interest rate of
12%, subject to the capital needs of the Company
B. The Company B shall principally engage in real
estate investment, development and management
in the PRC. Pursuant to the terms of the
Cooperation Agreement B, the registered capital
of the Company B is RMB50 million. Nanjing
Hailan shall contribute RMB32,500,000,
representing 65% of the registered capital of the
Company B, whereas Mr. Zhou shall contribute
RMB17,500,000, representing 35% of the
registered capital of the Company B.

The arrangements of the Cooperation Agreement
A and Cooperation Agreement B are detailed in
the Company’'s announcement dated 24 April
2019.
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34. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

34. MEMKREEE)

(i) WERPEE IT 2Lt ER

(iii) Acquisition of land use rights in Zhanjiang, the

PRC

On 28 June 2019, Guangzhou Hailan Property
Development Limited (“Guangzhou Hailan") an
indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
incorporated in the PRC in 2019, entered into a
confirmation letter (the "“Confirmation Letter”) with
the Zhanjiang Public Resources Trading Centre to
confirm that Guangzhou Hailan has successfully won
the bid for the auction for the land use rights of the
Land which is located at the southwest of Binhe New
District Section, Yingbin Avenue, Suicheng Town, Suixi
County, Zhanjiang City, Guangdong Province, the PRC
at a consideration of RMB357,390,000.

As a result of successfully winning the bid for the
auction, the State-owned Construction Land Use Rights
Assignment Contract is entered into by Guangzhou
Hailan and the Suixi County Natural Resources Bureau
on 9 July 2019.

E

MR2019F6 A28 EMBERE
WEMBEERAR(TEMNESE]
(RRRIZEEIE2EHNB AR

R 2019 FFEh Bl AL ) B8 T
MAEERR SR LIV ERE
([FERE])  LERBEMNESECK
MERE ERSZ I (R
FERAR T REZEEHEDE X
EEAFEREEAEA /I HE
B REA AR357,390,000

JC °

AAREIRE ERIHPIE - ENEGE
R2019F7 AOBEEREHZIRE
TRBRT M BB ZR A E AR

/\DQ
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34. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

34. MEHMKREEE)

(iv) Provision of shareholder loan to a joint venture

company

On 15 July 2019, Nanjing Hailan entered into the
shareholder loan agreement (the “Shareholder Loan
Agreement”) with the Shenzhen Aolan Estate Co., Ltd.
(“"Shenzhen Aolan"”), a company established in the
PRC with limited liability, which is owned as to 51% by
Aoyuan Group (Meizhou) Company Limited (“Aoyuan
Meizhou"), a company established in the PRC with
limited liability and 49% by Nanjing Hailan. Aoyuan
Meizhou is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Aoyuan Group Limited, a company incorporated under
the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited liability, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 3883).

Shenzhen Aolan is solely engaged in the holding of 50%
equity interest in Meizhou Aochuang Estate Co., Ltd., a
company established in the PRC with limited liability
which is solely engaged in development of a land parcel
at Meijiang District, Meizhou City, Guangdong Province.

Pursuant to the Shareholder Loan Agreement Nanjing
Hailan, as lender, agreed to provide a shareholder loan
of up to RMB150.0 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$169.9 million) at an interest rate of 12% per annum
to Shenzhen Aolan. The first drawdown in the principal
amount of approximately RMB66.1 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$74.9 million) was made on 15 July
2019, and the amounts drawn and outstanding under
the Shareholder Loan Agreement do not have a fixed
term of repayment.

The details of the Shareholder Loan Agreement are
detailed in the Company’s announcement dated 16 July
2019.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=20184 12 31 HiF F/Z

34. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 34, REHEZEE(HE)

(Continued)

(v) Pledge of assets (v) BEEHR
On 5 June 2019, Sanya Fenghuang Xincheng pledged MW2019F 6 A58 » =—taE Bl #H
its certain properties under development to Hainan BEETEREREERFZEIE
branch of Bank of Communications Co., Limited as to TERHDAERATEEDTT  UIER
guarantee a secured term loan facility (the “Facility”) of EEBTHERAE((RE ) AR
RMB300,000,000. Hainan Nanhai Xiang Long is the #300,000,0007T © ;87 /5 8
guarantor of the Facility. BRVEHERA
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BT =

Results -4 For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A3MABLEE
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
20144 20154 2016 4F 2017 4 20185
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT AR®TT AR®TR
Revenue Uz 790,369 1,556,962 1,400,827 2,005,308 1,410,474
Profit before taxation BB AT 275,684 342,141 231,410 780,832 544,002
Income tax expenses FTsTif (164,937) (157,988) (183,366) (521,320) (362,923)
Profit for the year FRmF
(from continuing operations) (R EFERL L) 110,747 184,153 48,044 259,512 181,079
Post-tax profit of BRIHEEEBRTZ
discontinued operations ikl 924 1,210 - - -
Profit for the year FRREF 111,671 185,363 48,044 259,512 181,079
Attributable to: TN
Owners of the Company EARHEBA 128,182 191,812 65,012 251,181 179,538
Non-controlling interests JEFEAR RS (16,511) (6,449) (16,968) 8,331 1,541
Profit for the year FRER 111,671 185,363 48,044 259,512 181,079
Assets and Liabilities BEREE As at 31 December
R12831H
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
2014 % 20154 2016 F 2017 & 2018
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETFT AR%¥TR
Total assets BEE 7,244,683 5,666,855 5,264,842  5194,638 5,043,240
Total liabilities FEy=Ui 5,542,970 4,281,173 3,576,328 3,259,117 2,893,816
Net assets BEFE 1,701,713 1,385,682 1,688,514 1935521 2,149,424
Equity attributable to the ERARHEBA
owners of the Company [ElEHE S 1,400,608 1,091,026  1,368873 1,606,571 1,811,257
Non-controlling interests Izt 301,105 294,656 319,641 328,950 338,167
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